Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1324 Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine

Mieczyslaw Pokorski Editor

Medical Research and Innovation



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine

Volume 1324

Series Editor

Mieczyslaw Pokorski Opole Medical School Opole, Poland More information about this subseries at http://www.springer.com/series/16003

Mieczyslaw Pokorski Editor

Medical Research and Innovation



Editor Mieczyslaw Pokorski Opole Medical School Opole, Poland

The Jan Dlugosz University Częstochowa, Poland

ISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISSN 2523-3769ISSN 2523-3777(electronic)Clinical and Experimental BiomedicineISBN 978-3-030-70205-2ISBN 978-3-030-70205-2ISBN 978-3-030-70206-9(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70206-9

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Overload of Medical Documentation: A Disincentive for Healthcare Professionals Jacek Lorkowski, Izabella Maciejowska-Wilcock, and Mieczyslaw Pokorski	1
Epidemiologic Benefits of Pneumococcal VaccineIntroduction into Preventive Vaccination Programs1Wojciech Malchrzak and Agnieszka Mastalerz-Migas	1
Serum Vitamin D and Immunogenicity of InfluenzaVaccination in the Elderly2Agata Sławin, Lidia B. Brydak, Zbigniew Doniec, MariaBujnowska-Fedak, and Agnieszka Mastalerz-Migas	21
Influenza A (H1N1) and Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)Coinfection in a Newborn Child: A Case Report 2Beata Pawlus, Julianna Żukowska, and Aneta Nitsch-Osuch	29
Thoracic Manifestation of Granulomatosis with Polyangiitis:A Case Report3Bartosz Tomczyk, Zuzanna Janeczko, Adrianna Kruczkowska,3Beata Maciążek-Chyra, Wojciech Tański, and Mariusz Chabowski	35
The Natural Course of Impaired Fasting Glucose4Agnieszka Święcicka-Klama, Katarzyna Połtyn-Zaradna,4Andrzej Szuba, and Katarzyna Zatońska4	¥1
Oleosins: A Short Allergy Review	51
Shortage of Physicians: A Critical Review	57
Fluid Therapy in Patients Undergoing Abdominal Surgery: A Bumpy Road Towards Individualized Management 6 Szymon Czajka, Konstanty Marczenko, Martyna Włodarczyk, Anna J. Szczepańska, Marek Olakowski, Sławomir Mrowiec, and Łukasz J. Krzych	53

Manual Pressure Release and Low-Grade Electrical Peripheral	
Receptor Stimulation in Nonspecific Low Back Pain:	
A Randomized Controlled Trial	73
Giovanni Barassi, Mieczyslaw Pokorski, Celeste Di Matteo,	
Marco Supplizi, Loris Prosperi, Vito Guglielmi, Alì Younes,	
Franco Della Rovere, and Angelo Di Iorio	
Human Inhalation Study with Zinc Oxide: Analysis of Zinc Levels and Biomarkers in Exhaled Breath Condensate	83
Cognitive Function After Lung Transplantation	91

Michael Neurath, Celina Heinze, Vasiliki Bessa, Clemens Aigner, Markus Kamler, Christian Taube, Kurt Rasche, Wolfram Windisch, and Martha Jokisch Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2021) 12: 1–10 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_587 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 10 October 2020



Overload of Medical Documentation: A Disincentive for Healthcare Professionals

Jacek Lorkowski, Izabella Maciejowska-Wilcock, and Mieczyslaw Pokorski

Abstract

This review addresses the theories concerning the development and functioning of medical bureaucracy creating an excess of the patient records. An ever-growing number of medical files comply with the typical development of the bureaucratic management of an entrepreneurial organization, an essential feature of which is the life cycle of documentation. When the life cycle ends, an update is created with a multiplication of forms and items to be filled out, resembling that of what happens with the outdated computer program. Yet medical records should have a logical and wellfunctioning structure using the language of computer science in the form of a cascade or evolutionary model. Further, we believe that mass computerization, in contradistinction to the primary predestination purpose, increases the number of time-consuming medical records, with the evidence that it enhances the occupational burnout among physicians.

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of Interior, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: jacek.lorkowski@gmail.com

I. Maciejowska-Wilcock Jagiellonian University, Cracow, Poland

M. Pokorski

Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Opole, Opole, Poland

Clear and concise medical documentation is necessary to handle economic and legal issues in medicine. However, the creation of medical records sits at the crux between a healthconscious provision of the best evidencedriven treatment and the continuum of care and a potential health detriment caused by taking away the time and care devoted to the patient by healthcare professionals. We submit that the hitherto pattern of creating medical records requires a turnabout to attain the intended reasons and user-friendliness for practical ends.

Keywords

Administrative issues · Bureaucracy · Burnout syndrome · Documentation life cycle · Mass computerization · Medical records

1 Background

Almost everything has been said and written about overgrowth and the ever-growing administration in the modern world. Bureaucracy (French *bureau*, office, and Greek *kratos*, power) is a term used since the eighteenth century to describe the sociopolitical and economic reality then prevailing in Europe. The emergence of this concept, in the mid-eighteenth century before the Great French Revolution, was one of the signals

J. Lorkowski (🖂)

of impending attempts to change the sociopolitical system, characterized, inter alia, by excessive but inefficient administration (Rothbard 2010). To contend with ubiquitous bureaucracy, Vincent de Gournay (2020) has made a famous line, particularly in the economic field, saying "Let it go, let it pass". This expressive and simple call has become the basis of liberalism. Unfortunately, the State, with its highly bureaucratic formal structures, was an obstacle to the economic freedom at the time.

2 Multifaceted Views on Bureaucracy

Bureaucracy may be defined as the centralized organizational system in which the office mirrors the power (Kłosowska 1998). A more complex, multidimensional understanding of bureaucracy covers all those who deal with administration in a broad sense. Considering not emotional or ecstatic definition, we understand bureaucracy as the people who administer, manage, and organize the work of institutions. The term may, however, be pejorative when it is understood as alienated "power detached from the masses, imposing socially harmful decisions on them" (Kopaliński 1978), which, for instance, was the case during the Great French Revolution. Such a definition is close to the concept of eminent Austrian economist Ludwig von Mises. He believed that the terms "bureaucrat", "bureaucratic", and "bureaucracy" are invectives that have a derogatory connotation (von Mises 2005). That is in strong contrast to the idealistic approach to bureaucracy expressed by Max Weber, who admired the organization system of a fully hierarchical structure. In this model, low-level offices are assigned tasks appropriate to their competences and are then accountable to high-level bureaucrats (Giddens 2004). Max Weber believed that the impersonal relations between officials, in which they exchange information unemotionally through the transmission of documents, are exemplary. Further, a key role in the organization's functioning is played by documentation of its activities. This belief failed to consider the slightest suspicion of a possibility of pathologic relations between including their officials, dehumanization (Kłosowska 1998). Putting the problem bluntly, is it not a description of a specific sociopoliticaleconomic "perpetuum mobile" Max Weber's conviction that the essence of bureaucracy lies in its enforcing the maximum rationalized behavior means that he failed to consider that bureaucracy often creates an impassable barrier to all innovations and every non-standard way of thinking. That may lead to the paradoxical reversal of bureaucracy's role when administration attaches too much importance to its existence and functioning at the expense of the original subordinate role concerning the social expectations (du Gay 2009). Max Weber and his apologists have failed to consider that the very term administration derives from the Latin word administrare which translates as being helpful, servicing, or reaching deeper into the root source, than the term minister which means to serve, implicitly to serve individuals, society, and the State (Szmulik et al. 2007).

Successive generations of sociologists have started to assess bureaucracy much more critically. Robert K. Merton believed that the rigid compliance of bureaucrats with the rules leads to an absurd, unjustified ritual given to his work, or bringing out insignificant details, which brings about negative routine and pathologic emotions toward others. The bureaucrat becomes gradually alienated from his surroundings, feeling like an official, i.e., the man of an institution. The mixing of goals and means creates a specific, bureaucratic vicious circle of thoughts, decisions, and tasks implemented (Merton 2002).

3 Twentieth-Century Perception of Bureaucracy: Parkinson and Peter's Theories

An interest in the issue of bureaucracy has increased in the twentieth century. Cyril N. Parkinson has noticed a steady increase in the number of officials regardless of the actual usefulness of the work they perform. That translates into a social feeling of an excess of officials in the hierarchical structures of many organizations, i.e., excessive administration. The subject of Laurence J. Peter's interest, on the other side, has been the issue of various white-collar competences and all possible career paths of a bureaucrat, i.e., a kind of "transition from competence to incompetence". He observed that hierarchical officials steadily rise to the level of incompetence, circulating from one post to another as they get promoted, and skills attained while at one post are rarely useful at a successive post, making them incompetent. That way, the terms Parkinson's law and Peter's principle have been coined (Peter and Hull 1994; Parkinson 1957).

Unfortunately, however, according to modern knowledge, neither market economy nor democracy cannot exist without bureaucracy. L. von Mises in the publication Bureaucracy has attempted to consider the sine ira et studio (without aversion or sympathy) what is hidden under this concept. He pragmatically assumed that the only thing that counts in business is success. Consequently, "the profit motive that guides entrepreneurs to serve consumers according to their best abilities is also the first principle of the internal organization of each commercial or industrial team". The profit also has a direct influence on employees' wages. The employees are free to make independent decisions in the unrestrained capitalist system. Therefore, according to the contract with the employer, they own him a certain amount of work of a specific quality, but nothing more. In turn, the employer expects nothing more than the level of employees' efficiency that deserves the money paid (Badun 2005; von Mises 2005). A rhetorical question arises of what "specific quality" does mean?

The rational approach outlined above cannot be implemented in all areas of capitalist reality. An entrepreneur or state expects something different from a producer of material goods than from a doctor or nurse "selling their work" in universally understood health services functioning in the free market economy. Additionally, the issue arises of combining Mises' theories with the universal *primum non nocere* concerning medical professionals. If the state has responsibility for the universally understood social protection, which includes healthcare, then it should give up the profit-oriented approach and choose bureaucratic management whenever necessary to fulfill the obligations. These two types of management were distinguished by L. von Mises long before the emergence of a concept of social responsibility of the State (von Mises 2005). Bureaucratic management determines its compliance with the law and budget. The pool of money used in healthcare is set in the state budget, which, in a democratic state, is adopted by parliament or the representatives of a nation (Şimandan 2009). The size of funds depends on the size of a growth domestic product, but also the political will of the parliamentary majority.

4 Bureaucracy and Healthcare

Managers of the healthcare budget must strictly comply with it, in return giving the entire society the most expected health services of the highest standard. This idealistic aspiration remains rather a utopian dream. The implementation of the task is supervised by the bureaucratic health protection system created by the state. At the very bottom of the bureaucratic ladder created for settling expenses are medical staff, i.e., the people who practice the profession of social trust, who are forced to adapt to the barriers resulting from the bureaucratic management. Bureaucracy and healthcare are the terms that form a linguistic antithesis. In practice, it is paramount to balance the contradictions that are inherent in these concepts so that the bureaucratic procedures expected of medical staff would not dominate their work and would not deprive it of the primary role, which is the efficient and effective care over the sick. For the healthcare system to properly function, bureaucracy cannot become the quintessence of negative associations, as von Mises has stated "you cannot measure a doctor according to the time it takes to examine one case" (Peacock 2007). The adopted structure and principles of bureaucratic management cannot become an invariable rigid system, which is referred to as Bureaucratization bureaucratism. is always ossified because it is all about the adherence to

established rules and practices and ossification ultimately turns into petrification and death (von Mises 2005).

5 Threats Resulting from Excessive Bureaucratic Procedures

Public healthcare, whose functioning cannot be all profit-oriented, is financed from the state budget. Bureaucratic expectations, which to an extent are necessary, should strengthen its functioning rather than paralyze it through an excessive amount of documentation, to reduce the impact of stressors on the medical staff. When medical staff is overstressed, the possibility of professional miscalculation increases but also triggers emotions that are not indifferent to the patient and his assessment of the therapy process. A theory of instant cognition of Gladwell, called "thinning into slices", states we all have an unconscious ability to see patterns in a variety of situations and behaviors (Gladwell 2005). This ability is based on personal experience and observations that are self-registered by the brain in a noticeably short time. When we converse with somebody, we can instantly assess the person. From a psychological standpoint, it is like a flash in the brain. Particularly, the ending element of the matter analyzed is of special importance. This theory came from the elaboration that was based on filmed conversations and interactions of couples who were trying to avoid a threatening breakdown of a relationship. Verbal and nonverbal conversations mainly affected emotional memory. A mathematical computer-driven analysis of video recordings split into several second bins (thin slices) showed that the biggest threat to the relationship was a disdain exhibited by one or both sides and an attempt to push the partner to a lower level (Eichenbaum 2017; Voss et al. 2017; Carrère and Gottman 1999). Contrary to what it could appear, the theory is universal and may be directly transposed to the issue of bureaucracy, including bureaucratization of healthcare system functioning. The state, i.e., bureaucratic administrator, expects the optimal use of the allocated budget and the implementation of all procedures required, with the appropriate number of documentations. The society, i.e., patients, is interested in treatment and its effects. The disproportion in the public health service that is growing between the time needed for the administrative purpose and that needed for the patient care is increasingly unfavorable and traumatogenic for the patient in contact with the system and the physician, leading to stress and tension (Brongel and Lorkowski 2007). A dissatisfied patient/client expresses his indignation and/or asserts his rights in the court. It turns out that when patients question the way they are treated, they often accuse the doctor of mistreating him. The patient's subjective feeling is dominated by the amount of time devoted to them, kindness, calmness, and readiness of the doctor to listen and explain often illusory problems. These elements, which constitute the essence of empathy, often affect the subjective assessment of the entire therapy. This is how the problem as seen by lawyers taking part in legal proceedings brought up by dissatisfied patients (Allen and Burkin 2000; Levinson et al. 1997). Ambady et al. (2002) has attempted to rationalize the patients' allegations, based on Gottman's theory of thin slices (Goldman et al. 1996). She analyzed the intonation, timbre, and rhythm of surgeons' statements during their conversations with patients. The results were akin to those obtained by Gottman in his study devoted to couples trying to save their marriages. Irrespective of the doctor's qualifications, such nonmedical factors have a significant influence on claims of the dissatisfied. Likely, the stressed physician's "racing against time" and excessive bureaucratic duties belong to this group.

The question arises of whether anyone has ever calculated the costs of not spending time on the patient and devoting it instead of creating excessive medical records. Has it been calculated what the costs look like, in both money and time, of the elaboration of ever more extensive, obligatory medical documentation by a surgeon before completing an operation? Our literature search failed to provide any evidence of research to this end. Potential indirect costs (lost opportunity costs) are high. Our provisional estimation, based on the causal relationship possibly present in such a case, involves a combination of (1) fatigue, i.e., not optimal surgeon's psychophysical form; (2) primary outcome, i.e., imperfect surgery; and (3) secondary outcome, i.e., longer patient's recovery, convalescence, and possible complication, all of which extends the time spent on sick leave, with obvious personal and societal costs.

6 The Necessity to Limit the Load of Medical Documentation

Data appearing in the patient's documentation, theoretically, are required for making the accurate diagnosis and optimally to treat the patient. Often, however, excess data does not facilitate but hinders diagnosis. That may be exemplified by a case in the Cook County Hospital in Chicago at the end of the twentieth century, where the number of patients reporting chest pain suggestive of heart infarct was so large that it threatened the collapse of hospital functioning. Brendan M. Reilly (Reilly et al. 2002a, b), head of the Hospital Medical Institute, has rationalized the way of admission to the intensive care unit by using a diagram algorithm developed by Goldman et al. (1996), consisting of four basic cardiovascular symptoms which would suggest the need for imminent hospitalization. Each doctor was obliged to follow the decision-making algorithm. The system introduced rescued the hospital's logistical and financial situation with no harm done to the patients. This example was shortly followed by other medical institutions. This example shows that too much information accumulated for the best patients' benefit could have an unintended effect, introducing information noise. Medical staff, especially in urgent situations, with limited time at disposal, is not capable of the evaluation of an excessive amount of data. No essential supporting data becomes meaningless in a life-threatening condition. Interestingly, it has been a quarter of a century since the effort to control the catastrophic situation in the Cook County Hospital, but the Goldman algorithm still works in cardiology. The practice has

shown that fewer documents and data in the doctors' hands often work better than more documents for making the right decision. Unfortunately, this is not always the rule. At present, the situation may somehow change due to computer use. However, without the introduction of artificial intelligence systems, the amount of information that can be logically processed by the man in a limited time is not unlimited. When a new document is needed to complete a previous document, one starts to mull "is it not one document too far", decreasing the potentially positive intention of the previous document. Has bureaucracy not exceeded the red line of becoming detrimental to the quality of treatment? Rapid multidisciplinary development of knowledge related to human health generates an increasing amount of documentation so that the process of bureaucratic management is continued, which is amplified by the administrative structure of healthcare. Medical staff is involved in the process, regardless of individual objectives or subjective assessments.

Actions for the benefit of someone else's health had already been known at a time when there was not yet an extensive bureaucratic structure in place. Most of the rational activities of Homo sapiens followed the principles as follows: (1) I act according to the scheme "a". (2) I just came up with an idea that the scheme "b" is better. (3) Therefore, I substituted the scheme "b" for scheme "a" if the scheme "b" works. In the case of medical records, another mechanism works. In a simplified way, it can be presented as follows: (1) I have and fill in the document "a". (2) I came up with the document "a + 1". (3) I will fill in both document "a" and "a + 1". A rhetorical question remains whether that applies to infinity in the face of the mathematical principles introduced by Francesco Maurolico in the Arithmeticorum Libri Duo of 1575.

7 Functioning Models of Medical Documentation

An analysis of the problem of the growing avalanche of documentation cannot be complete without considering the emergence of new technologies in the universally understood information technology (IT) industry. Currently, mainly in the United States, medical records should be generated as e-records. Discussing this issue in detail goes beyond the scope of this article. However, it seems necessary to consider the most important common elements of the standard and electronic documentation (Evans 2016; Kruse et al. 2016). When reviewing the literature on the subject, attention should be given to the outstanding work of a British anthropologist, Matt Spencer, at the Faculty of Physics of the Imperial College London (Spencer 2015). He investigated fluid dynamics, but the results of his research are universal and can be transposed to the creation of computer programs as well as multifaceted human activities. The software he originally used was complex and well developed. However, the emergence of new research topics and tasks to be interim resolved required the addition of further functions to the software. Over time, the program expanded to over a million lines of code in many different computer languages. Over time, the horrendous amount of software overwrites has made it increasingly complex and susceptible to failures or unforeseen errors in calculations. That eventually decreased research productivity. Fewer results obtained led to a reduction in the number of publications and implementations and patent consequently decreased individual track records and the faculty level. That, in turn, caused permanent stress for the employees using the software, followed by a gradual psycho-mental downward trend of the entire research teams, expressed as frustration, apathy, and discouragement.

Spencer's research should be considered in the elaboration of algorithms for creating medical records, including handwritten ones. Based on the regularities he has described, we might expect a problem of not duplication but the multiplication of the same documents. People have a different threshold, beyond which the generation of subsequent elements of documentation causes only frustration and then the quality of work, including the very documentation, rapidly declines (Spencer 2015). The question is not if

but where lies this point beyond which making the manifold of medical records should be terminated for the good of medical staff and patients, even though the overseer of the bureaucratic procedure may feel increasingly good.

In 1975, when the development of the entire IT industry was still far from today's, Frederick Brooks, an IBM engineer, published an iconic novel in computer science entitled The Mythical Man-Month (Brooks Jr 1975). He has described the life phases of the computer program, which largely reflect the economic life phases of an enterprise. In the growth model of Greiner, the following phases are distinguished: entrepreneurial, cooperation or collectivity, centralization and control, and innovation or decentralization (Greiner 1994). Each may be preceded by a specific crisis such as a leadership crisis, an autonomy crisis, or a control crisis. Formalization, a key feature of the control phase, has to do with the growing bureaucracy, hence the nickname "briefcase phase". This is the phase when employees stop understanding the system and often rebel against it. Finally, the last stage might be the crisis of renewal which usually is spurred by too much of opening out and flattening of the organization.

In the case of a computer program, the idea appears first, and the requirements for the planned software are determined. Then, the software design appears, followed by its implementation, testing including validation and verification, and finally the program use and maintenance, provided that the program remained unchanged. This example outlined above applies to the cascade model in which each next phase begins after the preceding one. The evolutionary model is more complex as the strict linear sequence of phases is given up. In turn, the component model is simpler as ready-tested modules of other software are used (Lau and Wang 2007).

The life cycle of a computer program may suddenly end up in crisis, as may the life cycle of an organization. A well-promising and wellperforming computer program may get expanded to a larger program. Most often, it is a component extension that increases the number of codes. The reason may be the update of old embedded codes with modern extensions or adaptations matching the current personal needs. The program works and its developmental cycle continues. At some point, however, the users' expectations become higher and remain unmet and unsatisfied. When the critical mass of mismatch is reached, the program, once an optimal tool, becomes archaic and thus deserted. This process has been called "tar pit" (Brooks Jr 1975).

The question arises if the Greiner model of a computer program's life cycle can be applied to medical records. Let us look at the entrepreneurial phase of the model. It discusses the creativity and innovation of the entrepreneur. Is the enthusiastic doctor, writing down all relevant notes about the patients he treats, or a diligent student, making notes on the most important symptoms he finds in the patients examined, an equivalent of this phase? A lot of information must be gathered, but an excess information noise is only counterproductive. The second phase of the model is collectivity in which the emphasis is put on the identification of the right goals and procedures. Referring to the doctor, the patients he treats, and the medical documentation he creates, this is a moment when the first decision-making automatism in treatment and the first patterns of entering notes in the documentation appear. The third phase of the model is centralization and formalization where patterns, rules, and policies concerning the doctor's activities are made, resisting the attempts to "delegation" of medical and managerial responsibilities to other persons. In the doctor's analogy, he would take care of all patients himself, using "paste in" patterns of descriptions in the documentation. This phase is fraught with errors in medical records found by auditors, which are not only formal oversights but ignorant or delinquent deviation from truth or accuracy in documenting diagnosis and treatment, which may result in an unsatisfactory outcome. Notably, the largest number of irregularities is usually recorded in the outpatient documentation (Greiner 1994). Finally, the last phase of the model is decentralization of diversification of responsibilities, often combined with organizational innovations. Thus, the doctor would not treat all patients himself, but refer them to other staff, specialized in the same or

other fields. From a logistic standpoint, diversification would concern both treatment and creation of medical records.

Analyzing the problem in Poland, the auditors have noticed that the results of the latest audit regarding the status of medical records are confusingly akin to the audit from 10 years back. That may highlight a low awareness of the importance of documentation for the correct treatment process among medical staff who regard the completion of documentation as a bureaucratic obligation, taking too much time (Report 2020). That seems to be a chronic situation then and now. However, the assessment of the cause of the problem may be different than stated above. First, one should consider whether the scores of employees do not take their duties seriously and underestimate them for no reason. Perhaps, for a task which takes "n" minutes to complete, medical staff can devote only half or less of the time required, or else they must forgo some other obligations. The use of auxiliary staff pointed out by the auditors does not resolve the issue and is rather secondary. It seems more important to focus on the implementation of new IT technologies and to use them for the good of documentation completion.

The evaluation of the phase of a "briefcase crisis" raises the question of what's next. According to the Greiner model of the life cycle of the organization (Greiner 1994), if the patient's diagnosis is correct, the cooperation phase should begin to appear as a response to the current crisis, decentralization, breaking routine, reorganization, and a participatory management style. Comparing the life cycle of medical records to that of a computer program, the cascade model, which is long since used, seems slightly better than the Greiner model. The cascade model consists of the specification of requirements, system design, implementations, testing, and use. Other possibilities are the evolutionary and component models. New innovative, necessary, and improving treatment quality components of documentation are steadily overlaid in the evolutionary and component models. All that is intertwined but no continuity of the rules is indispensable. In the case of entrepreneurial organizations or computer

programs, the life cycle inevitably comes to an end at some point in time. A new cycle is set up and begins its life, which is often labeled as the return of common sense and normality (Spencer 2015). Medical records share a similar fate. They must have logical and well-functioning structure, not a series of overlays, using the language of computer science in the form of a combined cascade and evolutionary models. The problem is compounded by the fact that some elements of medical documentation are decades old, while others are just beginning to appear with time. Convincingly, creation of a new pattern of documentation, optimally ubiquitous to be used at the international level, does not seem more difficult than writing new codes for Windows 10 operating programs, where the programmers also must discard previous patterns of software. The appropriate overlays should be created for specific specialties. The system should form a uniform whole, not made up of clusters of documents that do not match each other.

8 Occupational Burnout and Medical Records

The sentence uttered by Spencer (2015) "I just want to do science!" may be transposed into words spoken by doctors from all corners of the world: "We just want to cure people, not be secretaries". Likely, a large proportion of healthcare managers do not necessarily accept that. A series of studies by Maslach (1982, 1998), a psychologist from the University of Berkeley, has been devoted to the phenomenon of burnout in persons associated with universally understood healthcare. The three inseparable components of occupational burnout distinguished are as follows: feeling of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization (cynical, instrumental attitude toward others), and a sense of personal inefficiency. Generally, burnout is a serious and increasing problem in the medical profession (Maslach and Schaufeli 1993). In the United syndrome States, burnout in medical professionals has been sharply on the rise in the twenty-first century, reaching a dimension

previously unknown. In 2014, 54% of physicians reported at least one of the three symptoms of burnout, compared to 46% several years back. The cause-effect relationship of this phenomenon involving the introduction of excessive documentation and the current need for its digitalization is evident. Overtime work has been, at least partially, an aftereffect of the growing medical bureaucracy. According to the Mayo Clinic research, occupational burnout increases the likelihood that experienced doctors switch to parttime work, the thing previously little known in the US medical market (Patel et al. 2019; Abdulwahid et al. 2018: Gawande 2018: Maslach and Leiter 2016). A reduction in the optimum use of the key resource of physicians, i.e., their training in taking care of patients, is a new sociological phenomenon in the United States whose distant effects are open to conjecture. It may, however, be assumed that the process will result in socioeconomic losses of many dimensions. The percentage share of the best-educated specialists, predisposed to treat and supervise the treatment of the most difficult disease cases, declines in the medical labor market. Thus, patients become less likely to get the optimum help, and the time to get help gets longer, which adversely affects therapy outcome, work absenteeism, and increases the costs of lost opportunities from the state's perspective.

Occupational burnout appears to vary depending on the medical specialty. It is more frequent and stronger in emergency medicine staff compared to other specialties. It appears that the amount of time spent completing medical records, which takes place electronically these days, plays a role in these differences. Further, it is a strong predictor of burnout. Surgeons spend relatively less time in front of a computer, but emergency doctors do the opposite in this respect. This is called the "effects of being screen-bound" (Abdulwahid et al. 2018; Gawande 2018). The question arises of whether increasing bureaucratic requirements comply with the foundation of medical ethics, i.e., to provide the best impartial and fair-minded healthcare to patients. Another issue that should be noted regarding the vast number of medical records is the atomization of human

teams. Their members become increasingly disconnected, and they rarely communicate with each other, being overtaken by completing the forms. New components of documentation transfer more responsibilities to doctors. Such components, even if justified, further depersonalize and reduce the role of the man. Unfortunately, patients are the fastest-growing group of consumers of electronic medical records. They often get distracted by confusing descriptions, not serving any useful diagnostic or therapeutic purpose, and seek advice or a second opinion not from doctors but rather from the Internet sources. Doctor Google syndrome decreases the ethos of the medical profession and trust in doctors, as well as the efficiency of healthcare services.

Gawande (2018) has posed a basic question concerning the system of generating medical records: "Is it a correct and optimal situation when people using the healthcare system, are more and more satisfied and those who help them, within their professional capacity, more dissatisfied?" To answer this question, the author invokes the old concept of "taylorization". Frederick Winslow Taylor (1856–1915), a representative of the engineering trend in the management of the time, created a concept that to achieve the greatest optimization and intensification of work and the best use of production means the maximum specialization should be used in the form of bestowing an employee with one task only. That would lead to perfectionism, standardization, and rationalization and speed of operations (Turan 2015). Transposing Taylor's concept to medicine, the empirical experience of generations of doctors indicates that 90 percent of patient cases are similar. The United States was the first country to introduce real subspecialties on a massive scale. One doctor performs, for instance, a trace number of different types of treatments but performs each on a large scale and must create necessary binding documentation. The burnout resulting from this type of performing professional medical activity has been described (Gawande 2018). However, some cases go above and beyond the standard. That puts the assumption of "taylorization" in medicine into question.

In conclusion, research clearly shows that the growing load of medical records and documentation, despite mass computerization, leads to an increase in the occupational burnout among physicians. Based on theoretical models, analogous to those used in the evaluation of the "life cycle" of computer programs, it appears that the pattern for creating medical records requires a rewriting into a more restraint if not penurious manner. It does not seem reasonable to demolish the hitherto system without proposing, introducing, and testing a new one. It should be borne in mind that a clue for resolving many issues is to put forward a thesis and antithesis and create a synthesis.

Funding This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

References

- Abdulwahid MA, Booth A, Turner J, Mason SM (2018) Understanding better how emergency doctors work. Analysis of distribution of time and activities of emergency doctors: a systematic review and critical appraisal of time and motion studies. Emerg Med J 35(11):692–700
- Allen J, Burkin A (2000) How plaintiffs' lawyers pick their targets. Med Econ 77(8):94–96
- Ambady N, Laplante D, Nguyen T, Rosenthal R, Chaumeton N, Levinson W (2002) Surgeons' tone of voice: a clue to malpractice history. Surgery 132(1):5–9
- Badun M (2005) Bureaucracy, Ludvig von Mises. Financial Theor Prac 29(3):267–272
- Brongel L, Lorkowski J (2007) Traumatology: only for the altruists? J Orthop Trauma Surg Rel Res 2(6):50–54
- Brooks FP Jr (1975) The Mythical Man-Month. https://is. muni.cz/www/jirqa/. Accessed on 15 Aug 2020
- Carrère S, Gottman JM (1999) Predicting divorce among newlyweds from the first three minutes of a marital conflict discussion. Fam Process 38(3):293–301
- Vincent de Gournay (2020). https://universite-liberte. blogspot.com/2014/10/laissez-faire-laissez-passerson-auteur.html. Accessed on 10 Aug 2020

- du Gay P (2009) Max Weber and the ethics of office. In: Adler P (ed) Oxford handbook of sociology and organization studies: classical foundations. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Eichenbaum H (2017) The role of the hippocampus in navigation is memory. J Neurophysiol 117 (4):1785–1796
- Evans RS (2016) Electronic health records: then, now, and in the future. Yearbook Med Inform Suppl 1:48–61
- Gawande A (2018) Why doctors hate their computers. *The New Yorker*. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/ 2018/11/12/why-doctors-hate-their-computers. Accessed on 15 Aug 2020
- Giddens A (2004) Sociology. Modern organizations. Polish Science Publishing House, Warsaw
- Gladwell M (2005) Blink: the power of thinking without thinking. Back Bay Books/Little Brown, New York
- Goldman L, Cook EF, Johnson PA, Brand DA, Rouan GW, Lee TH (1996) Prediction of the need for intensive care in patients who come to emergency departments with acute chest pain. N Engl J Med 334 (23):1498–1504
- Greiner LE (1994) Evolution and revolution as organizations grow. In: Mainiero L, Tromley C (eds) Developing managerial skills in organizational behaviour: exercises, cases, and readings, 2nd edn. Englewood Cliffs/Prentice Hall, New York
- Kłosowska A (1998) Bureaucracy. In: Encyclopedia of sociology, vol I. Scientific Office, Warsaw
- Kopaliński W (1978) Dictionary of foreign words. Universal Knowledge, Warsaw
- Kruse CS, Kristof C, Jones B, Mitchell E, Martinez A (2016) Barriers to electronic health record adoption: a systematic literature review. J Med Syst 40(12):252
- Lau KK, Wang Z (2007) Software component models. IEEE Trans Software Engineering 33(10):709–724
- Levinson W, Roter DL, Mullooly JP, Dull VT, Frankel RM (1997) Physician-patient communication. The relationship with malpractice claims among primary care physicians and surgeons. JAMA 227(7):553–559
- Maslach C (1982) Burnout: the cost of caring. Englewood Cliffs/Prentice-Hall, New York
- Maslach C (1998) A multidimensional theory of burnout. In: Cooper CL (ed) Theories of organizational stress. Oxford University Press, New York
- Maslach C, Leiter MP (2016) Understanding the burnout experience: recent research and its implications for psychiatry. World Psychiatry 15(2):103–111
- Maslach C, Schaufeli WB (1993) Historical and conceptual development of burnout. In: Schaufeli WB,

Maslach C, Marek T (eds) Professional burnout: recent developments in theory and research. Taylor and Francis, Washington, DC

- Merton R (2002) Sociological theory and social structure. State Publishing House, Warsaw
- Parkinson CN (1957) Parkinson's law and other studies in administration. Houghton Mifflin Company, Cambridge, MA
- Patel RS, Sekhri S, Bhimanadham NN, Imran S, Hossain S (2019) A review on strategies to manage physician burnout. Cureus 11(6):e4805
- Peacock A (2007) The rise of bureaucratism: von Mises' warning – a review essay on bureaucracy by Ludwig Von Mises. Econ Aff 27(2):95–97
- Peter LJ, Hull R (1994) Peter's principle. Why is everything going wrong? New edition. Souvenir Press Ltd, London
- Reilly BM, Evans AT, Schaider JJ, Das K, Calvin JE, Moran LA et al (2002a) Impact of a clinical decision rule on hospital triage of patients with suspected acute cardiac ischemia in the emergency department. JAMA 288(3):342–350
- Reilly BM, Evans AT, Schaider JJ, Wang Y (2002b) Triage of patients with chest pain in the emergency department: a comparative study of physicians' decisions. Am J Med 112(2):95–103
- Report (2020) Health care system in Poland current state and desired directions of changes. Department of Health. https://www.nik.gov.pl/plik/id,20223, vp,22913.pdf. Accessed on 15 Aug 2020
- Rothbard MN (2010) Austrian perspective on the history of economic thought. 1. Economic thought before Adam Smith. Mises Institute, Auburn
- Şimandan R (2009) Thinking about bureaucracy: Mises versus Niskanen. Roman Econ J 12(34):85–96
- Spencer M (2015) Brittleness and bureaucracy. Software as a material for science. Perspect Sci 23(4):466–483
- Szmulik B, Serafin S, Miaskowska-Daszkiewicz K (2007) Outline of administrative law. C.H. Beck, Warsaw. https://www.gandalf.com.pl/files/products/texts/ 304747. Accessed on 15 Aug 2020
- Turan H (2015) Taylor's scientific management principles: contemporary issues in personnel selection period. J Econ Bus Manag 3(11):1102–1105
- von Mises L (2005) Bureaucracy. Fijorr Publishing, Chicago/Warsaw
- Voss JL, Bridge DJ, Cohen NJ, Walker JA (2017) A closer look at the hippocampus and memory. Trends Cogn Sci 21(8):577–588



Epidemiologic Benefits of Pneumococcal Vaccine Introduction into Preventive Vaccination Programs

Wojciech Malchrzak and Agnieszka Mastalerz-Migas

Abstract

Vaccination against pneumococci is one of the most effective methods of preventing pneumococcal diseases. Currently, 10- and 13-valent conjugate vaccines (PCV10 and PCV13) and 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23) are used. Only the conjugate vaccines are used in children. The PCV can be used both in children and adults, but children can receive only PCV. A side effect of vaccination was that bacterial serotypes not included in a vaccine started increasingly emerging in pneumococcal infections, replacing the serotypes eliminated by the vaccine. The basic vaccination schedule consists of three or four doses, according to the country's recommendation. In Poland, it consists of two primary doses followed by a supplementary dose of the PCV-10, with some modifications in case of specific risk factors. The use of preventive vaccinations has helped reduce antibiotic resistance, as serotypes characterized by a rapid acquisition of drug resistance are included in the vaccine serologic spectrum, making their environment prevalence decrease. The research is currently underway on conjugate vaccines that contain a greater number of bacterial serotypes and on more

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland e-mail: agnieszka.mastalerz-migas@umed.wroc.pl universal vaccines that would eliminate the emergence of new serotypes.

Keywords

Pneumococcal vaccine · *Streptococcus pneumoniae* · Invasive pneumococcal disease · Vaccination program

1 Introduction

Pneumococcal diseases, especially invasive forms of infections, are a common cause of illness and death in patients of all ages. Children under the age of 5 and the elderly 60-65+ are at the greatest risk of developing a severe disease course. To prevent infection, vaccines are used to induce specific immunity against bacteria. The first was a polysaccharide vaccine that contained purified antigens from the bacterial envelope. Currently, the polysaccharide antigens are available in the 23-valent vaccine, PPSV23, that works through mechanisms other than T lymphocytes and, thus, is unable to induce adequate immunity in young children. To induce an effective immune response in children, a combination of bacterial polysaccharide with a carrier protein has been developed, a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV). This vaccine was initially available in a 7-valent form (Prevenar), in which the CRM197 protein was a carrier, followed by 10-valent (Synflorix) and 13-valent (Prevenar 13) forms in

W. Malchrzak and A. Mastalerz-Migas (🖂)

which the protein D and CRM197 were used as carriers, respectively. There is also a 10-valent vaccine (Pneumosil) that uses the CRM197 protein, available on the Indian market.

Two pneumococcal vaccines are in use in Poland: Synflorix (PCV10) and Prevenar 13 (PCV13). The first is indicated for the use in children from 6 weeks to 5 years of age, while the other is for children from 6 weeks of age and adults. Currently, 146 countries use the preventive pneumococcal vaccines as part of vaccination programs, with 138 programs being national. As of March 2020, 15 other countries plan to introduce such vaccination. Most developed countries have a schedule of two primary immunizations and a booster dose. The estimation has been that more than 61 million infants have been vaccinated against pneumococci, which is about half infants worldwide (IVAC 2020).

2 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease: Definition and Epidemiology

Streptococcus pneumoniae (S. pneumoniae) is a common pathogen in people of all ages. In some instances, it does not cause clinical symptoms, although is present in the upper respiratory tract. In other cases, it is responsible for infections that can be divided categorized as non-invasive (e.g., otitis media, paranasal sinusitis, or pneumonia without bacteremia) and invasive (e.g., meningitis, sepsis, or pneumonia with bacteremia). In the latter case, the contagion and its genetic material are isolated from the physiologically sterile site (EC 2002).

The occurrence of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) must be obligatorily reported to provincial sanitary and epidemiologic stations in Poland. In 2018, there were 1,354 IPDs reported in the country, with the incidence of 3.52/ 100,000, of which only one patient was not hospitalized. Additionally, there is a voluntary case reporting system to the National Reference Center for Bacterial Meningitis (NRCBM), which includes the determination of bacterial serotypes. In this system, laboratory confirmation of IPD was obtained in 1,037 cases, which translates into an average detection rate of 2.70/100,000 in 2018; these figures were 1,088 and 2.83/100,000, respectively in 2019. More than half of the diagnosed cases resulted in death, which translates into a mortality rate of 39.8% (NRCBM 2020; NIPH-NIH 2019; NRCBM 2019). Overall, the incidence of IPD-related meningitis or encephalitis in children of up to 5 years of age and adults 60+ was above the average of all registered cases. The NRCBM recommends the use of a term detectability rather than morbidity because the incidence of IPD is likely underestimated due to the early initiation of antibiotic therapy and scarce blood culturing. For comparison, 24,663 cases of IPD were reported in the European Economic Area in 2018, which gives a detection rate of 6.39/100,000. Data on the mortality rate have been reported by only 18 EU countries, with an average of 15.3%. Like in Poland, children below 5 and adults above 65 years of age were most often affected (ECDC 2020).

3 Historical Vignette on Pneumococcal Vaccination

The first large-scale research into a vaccine to prevent pneumococcal disease began in 1911. It was then that pneumococcal disease decimated miners working in South African gold mines. Wright et al. (1914) used killed bacteria to perform vaccinations and their research group consisted of over 50,000 mine workers. In the short term, there seemed to have been an impression that although vaccinated subjects fell ill, they died less frequently. This difference became indistinguishable about 4 months after vaccination, and detailed analysis showed the vaccine failed to reduce the risk of death in the course of pneumococcal disease. In a later research, Lister (1916), who described eight different serotypes of S. pneumoniae, has suggested that the dose of killed bacteria originally administered by Wright was too low. Soon afterward, Dochez and Avery (1917) found that bacteria produce a watersoluble proteinaceous substance that is resistant

to the action of trypsin and induce immunological activity. The next milestone was set 6 years later by Heidelberger and Avery (1923) who showed that this substance was a polysaccharide on the pneumococci capsule. Later on, attempts were made to create an effective vaccine, but the first significant effects were achieved no sooner than in the 1970s. Smit et al. (1977) investigated the effectiveness of 6-valent and 12-valent polysaccharide vaccines among gold miners in South Africa. The results were remarkably good as the vaccines were well tolerated and reduced the risk of pneumococcal pneumonia by 76% and 92%, respectively. Those findings contributed to the approval of the first pneumococcal vaccine in the USA in 1977, consisting of 14 serotypes, which was increased to 23 serotypes in 1983.

The empirical experience has been that children are much more vulnerable to pneumococcal infections than are adults. The reason is that the immune system of children weakly responds to bacterial polysaccharides administered in the vaccine (Davies 1937). The cause of this phenomenon was brought to light by Stein (1992) who showed that the polysaccharides of bacterial envelope belong to thymus-independent antigens; the immune response develops at a later age as also does the immune memory that upholds the effect of vaccination. A resolution to this issue became a combining of a carrier protein to the bacterial polysaccharide. Although successful research on the issue had already been performed in animal models in the 1930s (Avery and Goebel 1931), it took decades more to replicate that in a safe way for humans, developing the most advantageous polysaccharide-protein combination. The effectiveness of the conjugate vaccine has been verified toward the end of the twentieth century in the youngest children (Ahman et al. 1998), followed by a registration of the first pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) in 2000. It contained polysaccharides of seven bacterial serotypes (4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, and 23F) combined a diphtheria toxin with protein variant (CRM197). This protein did not cause disease symptoms but significantly increased the response of the immune system to polysaccharide antigens linked to it. The PCV vaccine has been repeatedly improved since, by adding more serotypes and modifying the carrier proteins and finally by changing the carrier protein for a single serotype only. Multicenter studies have shown that a 10-valent vaccine based on a combination of most polysaccharides with a protein D of non-enveloped *Haemophilus influenzae* strains is as effective and safe as a 7-valent vaccine used before but covers a wider spectrum of pneumococci (Bermal et al. 2009; Vesikari et al. 2009). A 10-valent vaccine containing conjugated polysaccharides of the serotypes 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, and 23F got final approval in 2010.

Concurrently, research was underway to further expand the number of serotypes available in a 7-valent vaccine while maintaining a modified diphtheria toxin as a carrier protein. Conjugated polysaccharides of serotypes 1, 3, 5, 6A, 7F, and 19A were added to the previously known 7-valent vaccine, resulting in a vaccine covering 13 serotypes of S. pneumoniae. The new vaccine appeared equally effective and safe as its predecessor and has protected against the serotypes whose occurrence increased in the environment due to the use of a 7-valent vaccine in previous years (Bryant et al. 2010; Kieninger et al. 2010; Dinleyici and Yargic 2009). Ultimately, the 13-valent vaccine was approved in 2010, replacing the 7-valent vaccine. New conjugate vaccines that protect against more serotypes using novel mechanisms to induce immune response are currently under development. The future epidemiologic situation will likely depend on the effects of new vaccines as the serotypes present in the current vaccines are going to be reduced or eliminated from the environment.

4 Influence of Vaccination on Epidemiology of Pneumococcal Diseases

In 2000, it was estimated that 826,000 children younger than 5 years died from pneumococcal diseases, which accounted for 11% of all deaths (O'Brien et al. 2009). Eight years later, after the introduction of vaccination against pneumococci,

W. Malchrzak and A. Mastalerz-Migas

the number of deaths decreases to 541,000 or 6% of all deaths in this age group. Most fatalities occurred in Asia and Africa, although they also occurred in Europe and North America (WHO 2008). The death rate has kept on decreasing in further years. In 2015, there were 317,300 children in this age group who died from pneumococcal diseases. Wahl et al. (2018) estimated that the conjugate vaccine prevented the death of approximately 250,000 children between 2010 and 2015. Mass use of pneumococcal vaccination is believed to be a primary cause of death reduction.

A 7-valent vaccine was originally approved in the USA and its introduction resulted in decreased IPD incidence from 24.3/100,000 in 1998/99 to 17.3/100,000 in 2001. The decrease was most notable in children less than 2 years of age where it was from 188/100,000 to 59/100,000. Importantly, vaccination reduced the incidence of penicillin-resistant pneumococcal infections by 35% (Whitney et al. 2003). Similar effects were noticed in Europe where the IPD incidence in children was 44.4/100,000 with an average mortality of 3.5% before PCV7 introduction and decreased to 32.5-23.4/100,000, depending on a country, after PCV7 introduction (Isaacman et al. 2009). A systematic review of studies examining the worldwide prevalence of pneumococcal serotypes causing IPD has shown that seven serotypes (1, 5, 6A, 6B, 14, 19F, and 23F) account for more than half of all IPD cases, with the serotype 14 being the most common among them (Johnson et al. 2010). Serotypes included in PCV7 cover 71% of bacteria, while PCV10 and PCV13 cover 7% and 16% more, respectively (Isaacman et al. 2009).

5 Optimal Vaccination Schedule

As recommended by the WHO, pneumococcal vaccination using conjugate vaccines can be performed either on the 3 + 0 schedule, starting at 2 months of age, with a minimum interval between doses of 4 weeks, or on a 2 + 1 schedule with an 8-week interval between the primary doses followed a booster dose between 9 and

18 months of age. The timing for a booster dose is, however, rather poorly defined. An additional booster dose should be given to HIV-infected or premature babies (WHO 2019a). Pneumococcal vaccination should be combined with diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis vaccines or any other vaccine containing components thereof (WHO 2019b). Studies show that the 2 + 1 schedule increases the antibody content more than the 3 + 0 schedule, but both provide a satisfactory increase over the protective level. The only exception is the serotype 6B for which the 2 + 1 schedule provides a significantly better immune response (IVAC 2017; Conklin et al. 2011).

Initially, studies on the conjugate vaccine guided by manufacturers pointed to the effectiveness of a 3 + 1 schedule that was registered for the general use. Later, a 2 + 1 schedule has been accepted as a possible alternative, particularly when the vaccine is given as part of a vaccination program. Givon-Lavi et al. (2010) compared the 3 + 1, 3 + 0, and 2 + 1 schedules and showed that the reduced 2 + 1 schedule resulted in lower levels of postprimary IgG content in children when compared to the 3 + 1 and 3 + 0 schedules for serotypes 6B, 18C, 19F, and 23F. Although both 3 + 1 and 2 + 1 had pronounced booster responses in the second year, the latter responded less. The 3 + 0schedule resulted in the lowest levels of IgG responses in the second year. In another study, a comparison of two-primary with three-primary doses shows that both schedules induce a strong immune response, with the three-dose schedule vielding higher protective antibody titers, especially for serotypes 6B and 23F (Scott et al. 2011).

A concentration of protective antibodies is a good and easy method of determining the vaccine immunogenicity, but it is impossible to directly translate that to the clinical protection of a patient. Dagan et al. (2012) investigated how a given vaccination schedule affects the carriage of *S. pneumoniae* in the upper respiratory tract. A three-prime dose schedule was found to better prevent against carrying the serotypes against which the vaccine protects compared to a two-prime dose schedule, but the difference disappeared with a booster dose, and giving two booster doses further reduced this risk of infection.

A booster dose immunization schedule is used in most developed countries, except Australia where the 3 + 0 schedule was in place used between 2005 and 2018. At that time, the effectiveness of PCV7 and its replacement, PCV13, in 2011 in preventing IPD was investigated. While there was a small, stable number of IPDs caused by vaccine serotypes in case of PCV7, their number caused by serotypes included in PCV13 gradually increased. Serotype 19A was the leading cause of IPD in Australian children despite being contained in PCV13. Studies indicate that the vaccine is effective but the protection it offers wears off over time, especially within 2 years after the last dose. Thus, it is essential to give a booster dose. Since it is given to an older child, it elicits a stronger immune response and protects during the time of a greater hazard of invasive infection. In effect, the Australian government has changed the vaccination schedule from 3 + 0to 2 + 1 as of September 2017 (Australian Government 2020; Jayasinghe et al. 2018).

6 Preventive Vaccinations in Poland

In Poland, vaccination against pneumococci became available free of charge only to children at risk as of 2008. The situation has changed in 2017 when vaccination mass against pneumococci for children born after 31 December 2016 was introduced into the Preventive Vaccination Program. In most cases, the 2 + 1 schedule is used, i.e., two doses of primary vaccination 8 weeks apart and one dose at least 6 months after the last primary dose. The 3 + 1 schedule is reserved for children at risk due to epidemiologic or clinical reasons and children born before the 37th week of pregnancy or with a birth weight < 2,500 g. The PCV10 is primarily used, except for children from risk groups or those born before the 27th week of pregnancy when the PCV13 is preferable. A child qualifying for a free PCV10 may be immunized with PCV13 at the guardian's expense.

Before introducing pneumococcal immunization for all children at the country level, some municipalities implemented local preventive programs to reduce IPD and other pneumococcal diseases. An example of the greatest success is the city of Kielce, inhabited by about 200,000 people. In 2006, free PCV7 immunization was introduced there for all children under 2 years of age in a 2 + 1 schedule. After 5 years, PCV7 was changed to PCV13. The program proved successful, vaccination coverage was almost 100%, and the number of deaths due to pneumococcal pneumonia in children <2 years of age decreased by 82.9%, and it also decreased in adults >65 years of age by 43.5%. Apart from confirming that pneumococcal vaccination reduces the incidence of IPDs in children, this program has shown that the issue of herd immunity is not insignificant, as the immunization of children also protects the elderly from the disease (Patrzałek et al. 2016). It is possible that indirect immunity to the elderly, achieved by mass immunization of children, is more effective than direct immunization of children. A postulated explanation of this phenomenon is a weaker immune response in the elderly (Patrzałek et al. 2012; Simonsen et al. 2011). The percentage of 2-year-old children vaccinated against pneumococci in Poland was 94.1% in 2018 (NIPH-NIH 2019). A primary goal of mass vaccination is to reduce the incidence of IPDs. However, vaccination also protects against other pneumococcal diseases, which raises prospects of a reduction in pneumococcal pneumonia or acute otitis media (Gajewska et al. 2020; Górska-Kot et al. 2019). A detailed evaluation of the epidemiologic effects on the general population of mass pneumococcal vaccination in children requires a much longer time than the 4 years elapsing now from its launch in Poland.

7 Vaccinations and Distribution of Serotypes

In Belgium, PCV7 was introduced into the immunization program in 2007. The number of IPD cases was since then steadily decreasing. The PCV7 was switched to the PCV13 in 2011, with a further reduction in IPDs. In 2015/16, the PCV13 was switched to a 10-valent version, as both vaccines were considered equally effective. However, just 2 years after this switch, the number of IPDs began to increase, due mainly to serotype 19A whose appearance increased tenfold (Desmet et al. 2018). The increasing use of pneumococcal vaccines has changed the distribution of pneumococcal serotypes. Initially, between 2000 and 2008, most serotypes causing IPD were contained in PCV7. Due to active and specific immunity-induced against vaccine serotypes, they were later replaced by serotypes originally absent in vaccines. For comparison, in 2015, PCV10 covered serotypes accounting for 53.6% of IPD in children <5 years of age in Poland and PCV13-75.0%, while in 2019 these percentages dropped to 30.2% and 45.3%, respectively (NRCBM 2020).

After the introduction of PCV7 into the general vaccination program in Europe, a reduction in IPDs caused by the vaccine serotypes was noticed, with an increase in the appearance of other serotypes such as 1, 3, 7F, and 19A. Where the PCV13 was used, the incidence of IPD caused by serotypes 1, 6A, 7F, and 19A decreased, and where PCV10 was used, the incidence caused by serotypes 3 and 19A increased (Htar et al. 2015; Weil-Olivier et al. 2012). The 2019 epidemiologic Polish data show that the IPD-related deaths are mainly caused by serotypes 3, 4, and 19A (NRCBM 2020). Since, akin to other European countries, Poland uses the PCV10, a higher IPD mortality rate could be expected due to an increase in serotypes 3 and 19A, with lower mortality due to other serotypes contained in PCV10. A biologically plausible explanation of why only two out of three PCV13 serotypes absent in PCV10 (3, 6A, and 19A) infect a significant number of people can be found in a long-term study of PCV10 effects on IPD in Finland. That study shows that PCV10vaccinated children not only produce immunity directly to the vaccine antigens but also crossreactive immunity to serotype 6A that is absent in this vaccine (Rinta-Kokko et al. 2018).

8 Antibiotic Resistance

The introduction of mass vaccination against pneumococci has made it possible to reduce the number of strains resistant to antibiotics, but the problem of antibiotic resistance is still present. Mass vaccination with PCV7 increased the incidence of IPD caused by serotype 19A that aside from being a common cause of IPD also is characterized by frequent antibiotic resistance (Isturiz et al. 2017; Dagan and Klugman 2008). Serotypes most frequently resistant to a spectrum of antibiotics in Poland in 2019 were 6B, 6C, 6D, 14, 19A, and 19F. The use of PCV13 could ultimately prevent 83%, 100%, and 77% of infections caused by strains resistant to penicillin, third-generation cephalosporins, and erythromycin, respectively, and as many as 89% of infections caused by multi-drug-resistant strains (NRCBM 2020). This underlines the importance of vaccination in reducing the problem of antibiotic resistance, particularly when the number of resistant bacteria is constantly increasing.

9 Future of Pneumococcal Vaccination

Conjugate vaccines are currently in a research phase, covering more serotypes of bacteria. A 15-valent vaccine containing two serotypes (22F and 33F) more than a 13-valent vaccine shows satisfactory immunogenicity and safety (Stacey et al. 2019). A 20-valent variant containing additional serotypes 8, 10A, 11A, 12F, and 15B has successfully passed initial clinical trials (Thompson et al. 2019). The number of pneumococcal serotypes is quite large, so it has been decided to search for alternate ways of vaccine development other than adding on serotypes. Whole-cell vaccines prepared from selected strains of S. pneumoniae with reduced virulence seem a promising breakthrough in vaccination against pneumococci. Such vaccines would result in the production of antibodies directed at different pneumococcal antigens regardless of their serotypes and obviate the need to purify individual polysaccharides, sparring vaccine costs. Initial clinical trials are quite promising, and a whole-cell vaccine may shortly join the range of pneumococcal vaccines (Morais et al. 2019).

The most appropriate direction in the development of pneumococcal vaccination seems a search of a vaccine that protects against the bacterium, regardless of its serotype. This idea is supported by the constantly changeable distribution of serotypes toward other than those present in the spectrum of hitherto available vaccines. Given a large number of pneumococcal serotypes, it would be very difficult to develop a polysaccharide or conjugate vaccine protecting each serotype. Finding a universal pneumococcal target for the vaccine seems the only reasonable way out of this predicament.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

Funding This article was funded by the Wroclaw Medical University, subsidy No SUB.C290.19.054.

References

- Ahman H, Kayhty H, Lehtonen H, Leroy O, Froeschle J, Eskola J (1998) *Streptococcus pneumoniae* capsular polysaccharide-diphtheria toxoid conjugate vaccine is immunogenic in early infancy and able to induce immunologic memory. Pediatr Infect Dis J 17 (3):211–216
- Australian Government (2020) Department of Health: National immunization program schedule for all non-indigenous people. https://www.health.gov.au/ resources/publications/national-immunization-pro gram-schedule-for-all-non-indigenous-people. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- Avery OT, Goebel WF (1931) Chemo-immunological studies on conjugated carbohydrate-proteins: v. the immunological specificity of an antigen prepared by combining the capsular polysaccharide of type III Pneumococcus with foreign protein. J Exp Med 54 (3):437–447
- Bermal N, Szenborn L, Chrobot A, Alberto E, Lommel P, Gatchalian S, Dieussaert I, Lode Schuermanet L (2009) The 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) coadministered with DTPw-HBV/HiB and poliovirus vaccines: assessment of immunogenicity. Pediatr Infect Dis J 28(4 Suppl):S89–S96
- Bryant KA, Block SL, Baker SA, Gruber WC, Scott DA, PCV13 Infant Study Group (2010) Safety and immunogenicity of a 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Pediatrics 125(5):866–875

- Conklin L, Deloria-Knoll M, Loo J, Fleming-Dutra K, Park D, Johnson TS, Kirk J, Goldblatt D, O'Brien KL, Whitney CG (2011) Landscape analysis of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine dosing schedules: a systematic review; sub report on the 3-dose schedules. A Project of the AVI Technical Assistance Consortium (AVI-TAC) https://www.who.int/immunization/sage/ 3_Conklin_L_PCV_Dosing_Landscape_Report_Oct_ 17_2011_FINAL_nov11.pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- Dagan R, Klugman KP (2008) Impact of conjugate pneumococcal vaccines on antibiotic resistance. Lancet Infect Dis 8(12):785–795
- Dagan R, Givon-Lavi N, Porat N, Greenberg D (2012) The effect of an alternative reduced-dose infant schedule and a second year catch-up schedule with 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on pneumococcal carriage: a randomized controlled trial. Vaccine 30 (34):5132–5140
- Davies JAV (1937) The response of infants to inoculation with type i pneumococcus carbohydrate. J Immunol 33 (1):1–7
- Desmet S, Verhaegen J, Van Ranst M, Peetermans W, Lagrou K (2018) Switch in a childhood pneumococcal vaccination program from PCV13 to PCV10: a defendable approach? Lancet Infect Dis 18(8):830–831
- Dinleyici EC, Yargic ZA (2009) Current knowledge regarding the investigational 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Expert Rev Vaccines 8(8):977–986
- Dochez AR, Avery OT (1917) The elaboration of specific soluble substance by Pneumococcus during growth. J Exp Med 26(4):477–493
- EC (2002) European Commission 2002/253/EC. Commission Decision of 19 March 2002 laying down case definitions for reporting communicable diseases to the Community network under Decision No 2119/98/ EC of the European Parliament. Official Journal of the European Communities L86/44. https://op.europa.eu/s/ n8JV. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- ECDC (2020) European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Disease data for pneumococcal disease from ECDC Surveillance Atlas. https://www.ecdc.europa. eu/en/pneumococcal-disease/surveillance-and-diseasedata/atlas. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- Gajewska M, Goryński P, Paradowska-Stankiewicz I, Lewtak K, Piotrowicz M, Urban E et al (2020) Monitoring of community-acquired pneumonia hospitalisations before the introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine into Polish National Immunization Program (2009–2016): a nationwide retrospective database analysis. Vaccine 38(2):194–201
- Givon-Lavi N, Greenberg D, Dagan R (2010) Immunogenicity of alternative regimens of the conjugated 7-valent pneumococcal vaccine: a randomized controlled trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J 29(8):756–762
- Górska-Kot A, Greenberg D, Gastoł K, Zieliński A, Givon-Lavi N (2019) Characterization of acute otitis media otopathogens before the introduction of the pneumococcal conjugated vaccine into the National

Immunization Program in Poland. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 127:109666

- Heidelberger M, Avery OT (1923) The soluble specific substance of pneumococcus. J Exp Med 38(1):73–79
- Htar MTT, Christopoulou D, Schmitt HJ (2015) Pneumococcal serotype evolution in Western Europe. BMC Infect Dis 15:419
- Isaacman DJ, McIntosh ED, Reinert RR (2009) Burden of invasive pneumococcal disease and serotype distribution among *Streptococcus pneumoniae* isolates in young children in Europe: impact of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and considerations for future conjugate vaccines. Int J Infect Dis 14(3): e197–e209
- Isturiz R, Sings HL, Hilton B, Arguedas A, Reinert RR, Jodar L (2017) *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 19a: worldwide epidemiology. Expert Rev Vaccines 16(10):1007–1027
- IVAC (2017) International Vaccine Access Center. U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, University College London, Agence de Médecine Préventive, World Health Organization HQ, Pan-American Health Organization: Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine review of impact evidence (PRIME): summary of findings from systematic review. https://www.who.int/immunization/sage/meetings/2017/october/3_ FULL_PRIME_REPORT_2017Sep26.pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- IVAC (2020) International Vaccine Access Center: a report on current global access to new childhood vaccines. VIEW-hub Report: Global Vaccine Introduction and Implementation. https://view-hub.org/sites/ default/files/2020-05/VIEW-hub_Report_Mar2020. pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- Jayasinghe S, Chiu C, Quinn H, Menzies R, Gilmour R, McIntyre P (2018) Effectiveness of 7- and 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccines in a schedule without a booster dose: a 10-year observational study. Clin Infect Dis 67(3):367–374
- Johnson HL, Deloria-Knoll M, Levine OS, Stoszek SK, Hance LF, Reithinger R, Muenz LR, O'Brien KL (2010) Systematic evaluation of serotypes causing invasive pneumococcal disease among children under five: the pneumococcal global serotype project. PLoS Med 7(10):e1000348
- Kieninger DM, Kueper K, Steul K, Juergens C, Ahlers N, Baker S, Jansen KU, Devlin C, Gruber WC, Emini EA, Scott DA, 006 study group (2010) Safety, tolerability, and immunologic noninferiority of a 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine compared to a 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine given with routine pediatric vaccinations in Germany. Vaccine 28 (25):4192–4203
- Lister FS (1916) An experimental study of prophylactic inoculation against pneumococcal infection in the rabbit and in man. Publ South Afr Inst Med Res 8:231–287
- Morais V, Texeira E, Suarez N (2019) Next-generation whole-cell pneumococcal vaccine. Vaccines (Basel) 7 (4):151

- NIPH-NIH (2019) National Institute of Public Health National Institute of Hygiene, Department of Epidemiology and Surveillance of Infectious Diseases; Chief Sanitary Inspectorate – Department of Epidemic Prevention and Border Sanitary Protection: Infectious diseases and poisonings in Poland in 2018. http:// wwwold.pzh.gov.pl/oldpage/epimeld/2018/Ch_2018. pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- NRCBM (2019) National Reference Centre for Bacterial Meningitis: Invasive pneumococcal disease in Poland in 2018. http://koroun.nil.gov.pl/wp-content/uploads/ 2019/07/Inwazyjna-choroba-pneumokokowa-IChP-w-Polsce-w-2018-roku.pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- NRCBM (2020) National Reference Centre for Bacterial Meningitis: Invasive pneumococcal disease in Poland in 2019. http://koroun.nil.gov.pl/wp-content/uploads/ 2020/06/Inwazyjna-choroba-pneumokokowa-IChP-w-Polsce-w-2019-roku.pdf. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- O'Brien KL, Wolfson LJ, Watt JP, Henkle E, Deloria-Knoll M, McCall N, Lee E, Mulholland K, Levine OS, Cherian T, Hib and Pneumococcal Global Burden of Disease Study Team (2009) Burden of disease caused by streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. Lancet 374 (9693):893–902
- Patrzałek M, Goryński P, Albrecht P (2012) Indirect population impact of universal PCV7 vaccination of children in a 2 + 1 schedule on the incidence of pneumonia morbidity in Kielce, Poland. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 31(11):3023–3028
- Patrzałek M, Kotowska M, Goryński P, Albrecht P (2016) Indirect effects of a 7-year PCV7/pcv13 mass vaccination program in children on the incidence of pneumonia among adults: a comparative study based on two Polish cities. Curr Med Res Opin 32(3):397–403
- Rinta-Kokko H, Palmu AA, Auranen K, Nuorti JP, Toropainen M, Siira L, Virtanen MJ, Nohynek H, Jokinen J (2018) Long-term impact of 10-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease among children in Finland. Vaccine 36 (15):1934–1940
- Scott P, Rutjes AW, Bermetz L, Robert N, Scott S, Lourenço T, Egger M, Low N (2011) Comparing pneumococcal conjugate vaccine schedules based on 3 and 2 primary doses: systematic review and metaanalysis. Vaccine 29(52):9711–9721
- Simonsen L, Taylor RJ, Young-Xu Y, Haber M, May L, Klugman KP (2011) Impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccination of infants on pneumonia and influenza hospitalization and mortality in all age groups in the United States. mBio 2(1):e00309–e00310
- Smit P, Oberholzer D, Hayden-Smith S, Koornhof HJ, Hilleman MR (1977) Protective efficacy of pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines. JAMA 238 (24):2613–2616
- Stacey HL, Rosen J, Peterson JT, Williams-Diaz A, Vanita G, Sterling TM, Acosta CJ, Nolan KM, Li J, Pedley A, Benner P, Abeygunawardana C, Kosinski M, Smith WJ, Pujar H, Musey LK (2019) Safety and immunogenicity of 15-valent

pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV-15) compared to PCV-13 in healthy older adults. Hum Vaccin Immunother 15(3):530–539

- Stein KE (1992) Thymus-independent and thymusdependent responses to polysaccharide antigens. J Infect Dis 165(Suppl 1):S49–S52
- Thompson A, Lamberth E, Severs J, Scully I, Tarabar S, Ginis J, Jansen KU, Gruber WC, Scott DA, Watson W (2019) Phase 1 trial of a 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in healthy adults. Vaccine 37 (42):6201–6207
- Vesikari T, Wysocki J, Chevallier B, Karvonen A, Czajka H, Arsène JP, Lommel P, Dieussaert I, Schuerman L (2009) Immunogenicity of the 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) compared to the licensed 7vCRM vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J 28(4 Suppl):S66–S76
- Wahl B, O'Brien KL, Greenbaum A, Majumder A, Liu L, Chu Y, Lukšić I, Nair H, McAllister DA, Campbell H, Rudan I, Black R, Knoll MD (2018) Burden of Streptococcus pneumoniae and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b disease in children in the era of conjugate vaccines: global, regional, and national estimates for 2000-15. Lancet Glob Health 6(7):e744–e757
- Weil-Olivier C, van der Linden M, de Schutter I, Dagan R, Mantovani L (2012) Prevention of pneumococcal

diseases in the post-seven valent vaccine era: a European perspective. BMC Infect Dis 12:207

- Whitney CG, Farley MM, Hadler J, Harrison LH, Bennett NM, Lynfield R, Reingold A, Cieslak PR, Pilishvili T, Jackson D, Facklam RR, Jorgensen JH, Schuchat A, Active Bacterial Core Surveillance of the Emerging Infections Program Network (2003) Decline in invasive pneumococcal disease after the introduction of protein-polysaccharide conjugate vaccine. N Engl J Med 348(18):1737–1746
- WHO (2008) Estimated Hib and pneumococcal deaths for children under 5 years of age. https://www.who.int/ immunization/monitoring_surveillance/burden/ estimates/Pneumo_hib/en/. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- WHO (2019a) Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in infants and children under 5 years of age: WHO position paper – February 2019. Weekly Epidemiologic Record 94(08):85–104
- WHO (2019b) Recommendations for routine immunization – summary tables, April 2019. https:// www.who.int/immunization/policy/immunization_ tables/en/. Accessed on 30 June 2020
- Wright AE, Morgan WP, Colebrook L, Dodgson RW (1914) Observations on prophylactic inoculation against pneumococcus infections, and on the results which have been achieved by it. Lancet 1:87–95



Serum Vitamin D and Immunogenicity of Influenza Vaccination in the Elderly

Agata Sławin, Lidia B. Brydak , Zbigniew Doniec , Maria Bujnowska-Fedak , and Agnieszka Mastalerz-Migas

Abstract

Vaccination is the most effective preventive measure that reduces the risk of influenza and post-influenza complications. It prevents influenza-related hospitalizations and deaths in 50-60% and about 80% of patients aged over 65, respectively. There is the clinical plausibility of the association between serum vitamin D (VIT D) content and viral respiratory infections. In this study, we addressed the issue of a vitamin D modulatory effect on the immune response to seasonal influenza vaccination in elderly persons. The study comprised 96 participants aged 60-75 during the 2016/17 epidemic season. After the determination of the baseline content of VIT D and antihemagglutinin antibodies (H1, H3, and HB), participants were vaccinated with a trivalent vaccine. The content of the anti-hemagglutinin antibodies was rechecked 4-5 weeks

M. Bujnowska-Fedak and A. Mastalerz-Migas (🖂) Department of Family Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

e-mail: agnieszka.mastalerz-migas@umed.wroc.pl

afterward, showing inappreciable alterations. The negative findings of this study make the influence of serum VIT D content on the immunogenicity of influenza vaccination highly unlikely in elderly persons.

Keywords

Antihemagglutinin antibodies · Immunogenicity · Influenza · Vaccination · Viral respiratory infection · Vitamin D

1 Introduction

Influenza is a communicable disease of a seasonal nature, making it a global public health problem. Influenza vaccination is the most effective prophylactic measure for the prevention of influenza virus circulation in both the general population and risk groups. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), a notable risk group is the elderly, as the age-related deterioration of the immune function increases the danger of post-influenza complications and death. The influenza vaccination rate in the elderly is traditionally greater compared to younger age-groups, but it is highly variable. The Vaccine European New Integrated Collaboration Effort (VENICE) study revealed, between 2% and 80% of individuals aged over 65 underwent vaccination against influenza that in Europe in the 2008/

A. Sławin

Family Doctor's Practice Slawin Ltd., Kielczow, Poland

L. B. Brydak

Department of Influenza Research, National Influenza Center, National Institute of Public Health- National Institute of Hygiene, Warsaw, Poland

Z. Doniec

Department of Pneumonology, Institute of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Rabka-Branch, Rabka-Zdroj, Poland

09 season (Mereckiene et al. 2010). The Polish elderly population ranks close to the lower end of this range with about 8% of individuals vaccinated in the 2016/17 season (Łuniewska et al. 2019). The vaccination effectiveness decreases in the elderly, reaching just 17-53%, depending on the virus type of virus in a season, compared to 70% in younger age-groups (Goodwin et al. 2006). The aging process leads to a gradual loss of active immune cells and, thus, the reactivity to produce antibodies in response to vaccination. The loss approximates 30-40% past the age of 60 when compared to the individuals below 35. There also are weakened expressions of receptors and surface molecules that regulate the immune response. Diminished effectiveness of vaccination in the elderly, stemming from a weaker immune response, reduces the expected benefits (Kostova et al. 2013). Nonetheless, there is solid evidence that vaccination against influenza substantially and to a greater extent than in younger age-groups reduces the hospitalization rate, post-influenza complications, and deaths in people aged >65 (Deguchi and Takasug 2000).

25-hydroxy vitamin D [25(OH)D] (VIT D), an old hormone (Holick 2007), has pleiotropic effects due to the presence of its receptors in nearly every karyocyte. The effects include the ability to modulate the immune function, including the viral respiratory infections (Skrobot et al. 2018; Pyrżak et al. 2015; Sundaram and Coleman 2012; Berry et al. 2011; Chadha et al. 2011; Urashima et al. 2010; Ginde et al. 2009; Laaksi et al. 2007). This ability has spurred research on the plausible influence of VIT D on the body's immune responses to various vaccinations (Sadarangani et al. 2015). A meta-analysis based randomized, double-blind studies, on 25 assessing a total of over 11,000 patients across 0-95 years of age from 14 countries on 4 continents has concluded that VIT D supplementation is beneficial in preventing incidents of respiratory tract infections in the individuals unaffected and affected by past respiratory tract infections (Martineau et al. 2017).

Experimental studies have provided insights into the underlying mechanisms of reinforcing both innate and acquired immunity in response

vaccination. The mice vaccinated with to inactivated influenza vaccines with simultaneous administration of 1,25-(OH)₂D demonstrate the enhanced cytokine production, lymphocyte proliferation, mucosal defenses, and systemic antibody production (Ivanov et al. 2006; Van der Stede et al. 2004; Enioutina et al. 1999; Daynes et al. 1996; Daynes and Araneo 1994). In contradistinction, a few clinical trials conducted so far have failed to conclusively support the experimental results. Only have two clinical trials lent some support for the increased production of antibodies in response to tetanus toxoid and BCG vaccinations concerning VIT D supplementation (Heine et al. 2011; Lalor et al. 2011). Concerning the influenza vaccination, no conclusive or null associations have been noticed in a few available studies conducted in pediatric (Sadarangani et al. 2016; Sundaram et al. 2013) and over 50 years of age populations (Science et al. 2014; Principi et al. 2013). The contentious results and a general paucity of information linking the serum content of VIT D and the immune response to vaccination against influenza in the elderly made us reinvestigate this issue in the Polish elderly population. The issue is of clinical importance in the face of the increasing, reaching over four million recorded influenza and influenza-like cases in the 2016/17 season in Poland, with a 16% increase in hospitalizations (Kowalczyk et al. 2018; Szymański et al. 2018).

2 Methods

2.1 Patients and Protocol

The study included 96 consecutive patients aged 60-75 (F/M - 61/35) receiving outpatient care between September and November 2016. Exclusion criteria were as follows: active cancer, autoimmune disorders, contraindication against influenza vaccination, acute kidney disease, liver failure, and primary hyperparathyroidism (Grohskopf et al. 2017). At the preparatory stage, 5 mL samples of blood were drawn from the ulnar vein to assess the serum content of 25 using (OH)D an electrochemiluminescent method. Patients were stratified into two groups concerning the 25(OH)D content: < 30 ng/mL (75 nM) (n = 74), taken as the lower cut-off level of normal, and \geq 30 ng/mL (75 nM) (n = 22). In the group with 25(OH)D deficiency, a subgroup with a severe deficiency of less than 20 ng/mL was distinguished (n = 30). To achieve a similar size of groups with and without VIT D deficiency, 22 patients were randomly picked up from the remaining 44 patients with a less severe deficiency (VIT D 20-30 ng/mL) to receive supplementation in a dose of 2000-4000 IU, depending on the body mass. After 1 month, blood samples were drawn again from all the patients to determine the baseline levels of 25 (OH)D and anti-hemagglutinin (anti-HA) antibodies. Ultimately, the group with normal VIT D level included 44 patients, while the group with deficiency included 52 patients.

All the patients were vaccinated against influenza with a single dose (0.5 ml) of the trivalent vaccine (Vaxigrip[®], Sanofi Pasteur; Marcyl'Étoile and Val-de-Reuil, France) for the 2016/ 17 season. One month after vaccination, another blood sample was collected from each patient to determine the anti-HA titers for the following antigens contained in the vaccine, of 15 µg each, using the hemagglutination inhibition assay:

- H1: A/California/7/2009(A/H1N1/pdm09)
- H3:A/HongKong/4801/2014(A/H3N2/)
- HB: B/Brisbane/60/2008/

The greatest serum dilution in which the agglutination of blood cells was still inhibited was taken as the anti-HA titer for a given viral strain. The following parameters were assessed and compared before and after influenza vaccination:

- Geometric mean titer (GMT);
- Mean fold increase (MFI), calculated as the GMT ratio of after/before vaccination;
- Protection rate (PROT), the percentage of patients having the anti-HA titers \geq 1:40 in the serum sample;
- Response rate (RESP), the percentage of patients in whom at least a four-fold increase

in antibody titers was observed following vaccination;

We used the following guidelines of the Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products of the European Medicine Agency for the assessment of an effective serological response to vaccination in patients aged over 60 (CPMP):

- MFI ≥ 2.0
- PROT ≥60%
- − RESP ≥30%

2.2 Statistical Elaboration

Data were presented as medians with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) and counts with percentages. All data had a skewed distribution as checked with the Shapiro-Wilk test. The following non-parametric tests were used for the statistical elaboration as required:

- 1-sample fraction test with continuity correction, with the alternative hypothesis, that the population fraction is greater than 50%;
- Wilcoxon rank test with continuity correction, with the alternative hypothesis, that the position parameter in the population is different from 0;
- Wilcoxon rank pair test with correction for multiple comparisons;
- Fisher test for the 2×2 table, with the alternative hypothesis that the odds ratio in the population is different from 1;
- Kruskal-Wallis rank test, with the null hypothesis that the position parameter is the same in each group and the alternative hypothesis that the position parameter is different in at least one group);
- Cochran-Mantel-Haenszel Chi-square test, with the null hypothesis, that two variables are conditionally independent in each layer, assuming that there is no third-degree interaction;
- Breslow-Day goodness of fit test for kx2x2 multi-way tables.

Some variables were subjected to log transformation and the analysis was expanded by log-linear elaboration for multi-way tables. The likelihood ratio test and the Pearson Chi-square test were used for the model fit verification. A p-value <0.05 defined statistically significant differences. Statistical analysis was based on R statistical software v3.1.3.

3 Results

The immune response to influenza vaccination consisted of manifold increases in the GMT for each anti-HA titer investigated and, consequently, in the MFI, i.e., the GMT before/after vaccination ratio, in the patients with both <30 ng/mL and \geq 30 ng/mL serum 25(OH)D content. However, the difference in the MFI between the two 25(OH)D pools was inappreciable, indicating the changes in the anti-HA titers were unrelated to the 25(OH)D level (Table 1).

The protection rate assessed as the percentage of patients having the anti-HA antibody titers \geq 1:40 in the serum sample substantially increased after influenza vaccination, going way beyond the required 60% threshold of the population in case of each HA. The increases were similar in the patients with both <30 ng/mL and \geq 30 ng/mL content. Therefore, the level of serum 25(OH)D failed to conditionally associate with the level of protective serological response to vaccination (Table 2). Likewise, there were no significant differences in the response rate, i.e., the percentage of patients in whom influenza vaccination caused a four-fold or more increase in the anti-HA antibody titers, between the groups with the 25(OH)D < 30 ng/mL and \geq 30 ng/mL. Nor did the OR of a greater than four-fold increase in any of the anti-HA antibody titer depend on the 25(OH)D content (Table 3).

4 Discussion

Society aging generates growing costs for public health worldwide. The percentage of people aged over 60 was estimated at 8% globally in the 1950s. It reached 10% in 2000 and is prognosticated to increase to 21% in 2050 (United Nations 2012). It is thus paramount to search for ways to strengthen the protection of this vulnerable population segment against influenza infection and the related complications. The immune response to influenza vaccination is weaker in the elderly compared to younger people. Yet the elderly are at the greatest risk of severe infection course and represent a group often exhibiting VIT D deficiency. The biological plausibility arises that there might be a causal link between VIT D deficiency and the propensity for acquiring influenza infection as well as for impaired serological response to influenza vaccination in the elderly. Yet despite the incremental knowledge on the molecular mechanisms of VIT D action on the immune system function, the

	25(OH)D	n	Before vaccination	After vaccination	After/Before ratio	Mean difference	W-test
	(ng/mL)		GMT (95%CI)	GMT (95%CI)	MFI(95% CI)	(log x)	p
H1	< 30	52	11.01 (6.6–18.7)	90.2 (59.2–133.4)	8.2 (1.3–1.8)	2.1	0.40
	≥ 30	44	8.1 (4.7 14.2)	43.8 (23.7–77.2)	5.4 (1.2–7.8)	1.7	1
H3	< 30	52	5.0 (3.0-8.4)	76.6 (44.6–133.4)	15.3 (0.8–2.8)	2.7	0.58
	≥ 30	44	8.7 (4.6–16.0)	97.7 (54.6–173.2)	11.3 (1.5–6.5)	2.4	
HB	< 30	52	16.6 (11.9–22.0)	96.4 (74.8–124.2)	5.8 (3.0-7.6)	1.9	0.87
	≥ 30	44	17.1 (12.9–22.3)	88.4 (57.2–128.3)	5.2 (2.6-6.7)	1.6	1

Table 1 Geometric mean titers (GMT) and mean fold increase (MFI) depending on the serum 25(OH)D content in patients before and after influenza vaccination (n = 96)

Data are medians (95% conficence intervals); p-value denotes the comparison of the MFI values between <30 ng/mL and > 30 mg/mL 25(OH)D levels for each anti-H titer; *W-test*, Wilcoxon's rank test with continuity correction (R package)

PROT	25(OH)D	Anti-HA	Before vaccination	After vaccination					
(n = 96)	(ng/mL)	titers	n (%)	n (%)	OR (95%CI)	Test	Chi ²	df	p
HI	< 30	< 1:40	31 (59.6)	11 (21.2)	5.50 (2.31; 13.08)	BD	0.58	1	0.44
		≥ 1:40	21 (40.4)	41 (78.8)		CMH	21.59	1	0.00001
	≥ 30	< 1:40	27 (61.4)	14 (31.8)	1.91 (0.62; 5.88)	Pooled	4.35		
						OR			
		≥ 1:40	17 (38.6)	30 (68.2)		(95% CI)	(2.35; 8.04)		
НЗ	< 30	< 1:40	37 (71.2)	12 (23.1)	8.22 (3.41; 19.84)	BD	0.49	1	0.49
		≥ 1:40	15 (28.8)	40 (76.9)		CMH	34.93	1	0.00001
	≥ 30	< 1:40	28 (63.6)	11 (25.0)	5.25 (2.10; 13.15)	Pooled	6.63		
						OR			
		≥ 1:40	16 (36.4)	33 (75.0)		(95% CI)	(3.52; 12.50)		
HB	< 30	< 1:40	34 (65.4)	1 (1.9)	96.33 (12.28; 755.75)	BD	1.00	1	0.32
		\geq 1:40	18 (34.6)	51 (98.1)		CMH	81.86	1	0.00001
	≥ 30	< 1:40	33 (75.0)	4 (9.1)	30.00 (8.74;	Pooled	47.06		
					103.02)	OR			
		≥ 1:40	11 (25.0)	40 (90.9)		(95% CI)	(16.48; 134.33)		

Table 2 Protection rate (PROT), i.e., the number (percentage) of patients with the anti-HA titers \geq 1:40 in the serum sample, depending on the serum 25(OH)D content in patients before and after influenza vaccination

Data are counts (percent); OR, odds ratio; 95%CI, 95%, confidence intervals; BD, Breslow-Day of homogeneity for the pooled OR; CMH, Cochrane-Mantel-Haenszel Chi-square test of homogeneity for the pooled OR

Table 3 Response rate (RESP), i.e., the number (percent-age) of patients in whom in the anti-hemagglutinin anti-body (H1, H3, and HB) titers below and above the four-

fold increase cut-off level were observed following vaccination, depending on the serum 25(OH)D content

		25(OH)D content			
		$< 30 \text{ ng/mL}$ $\geq 30 \text{ ng/mL}$			F-test
RESP $(n = 96)$	Anti-HA titers	n (%)	n (%)	OR (95%CI)	р
H1	< 4-fold	20 (38.5)	22 (50.0)	0.62 (0.26; 1.52)	0.30
	\geq 4-fold	32 (61.5)	22 (50.0)		
H3	< 4-fold	20 (38.5)	15 (34.1)	1.21 (0.48; 3.05)	0.68
	\geq 4-fold	32 (61.5)	29 (65.9)		
HB	< 4-fold	19 (36.5)	15 (34.1)	1.11 (0.44; 2.82)	0.83
	\geq 4-fold	33 (63.5)	29 (65.9)		

Data are counts (percent); OR, odds ratio; 95%CI, 95%, confidence intervals; p-value denotes the comparison between the groups of patients with the serum 25(OH)D < 30 ng/mL and \geq 30 ng/mL

research and clinical trials on the subject have yielded contentious results.

The immune cells are capable of producing 25-hydroxyvitamin D 1-alpha-hydroxylase (CYP27B1), the enzyme essential for transforming 25(OH)D to $1,25(OH)_2D$, i.e., the biologically active form of VIT D. CYP27B1 activity in the immune system does not depend on the calcium and phosphate metabolism but

rather on the immune stimulus. Most immune cells of both specific and non-specific response arms have nuclear VIT D receptors (VDRs) (Chun et al. 2014). The VDRs are clearly expressed in the antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and both T and B lymphocytes. Further, many APCs produce VIT D-activating enzymes allowing local, extrarenal activation of the vitamin. VIT D stimulates differentiation of

monocytes to macrophages capable of chemotactic and phagocytic antibacterial functions (Lang and Aspinall 2015; Lang and Samaras 2012).

By far, no studies concerning a possible link between the VIT D serum content and the immunogenicity of influenza vaccinations in patients aged over 60 have been conducted in the Polish population. The findings of the presented study pointedly negate the presence of any appreciable effect of 25(OH)D content on the serological response to influenza vaccination, assessed from the level of anti-HA antibody titers in VIT D deficient when compared to non-deficient patients. The negative findings are in line with other relevant studies. In a prospective Canadian cohort study, seroprotection and seroconversion were assessed 3-5 weeks after the application of a trivalent influenza vaccine in 391 healthy children and teenagers aged 3-15. The results were compared against the initial 25(OH)D levels, without additional supplementation. The average 25 (OH)D serum level was 24.4 ng/mL and failed to relate to the degree of seroprotection or seroconversion (Science et al. 2014).

The pediatric population was also studied in 116 previously unvaccinated Italian children, aged 2-5, with recurring inner ear infections during the 2011/12 epidemiological season. They were randomly assigned to a group with oral daily VIT D supplementation of 1,000 IU and the other without supplementation. After 1 month of supplementation, the children were vaccinated twice - with an in-between interval of 1 month – using a trivalent seasonal vaccine. The findings also failed to show any changes in the anti-HA antibody production in either group (Principi et al. 2013). On the other side, Sundaram et al. (2013) have assessed the relation between VIT D content and response to influenza vaccination in the elderly. A total of 1,103 subjects aged \geq 50 were included in the study over the 2008/09 and 2009/10 seasons. All were vaccinated with a trivalent vaccine for the respective season. The seroprotection and seroconversion were assessed 21 and 28 days after vaccination against the initial 25(OH)D levels with no supplementation. A mean serum VIT D level was 31 ± 11 ng/mL, with 25% of subjects having less than 25 ng/mL, considered deficient. The findings of that study showed no improvement in the immune response to vaccination in patients with the normal VIT D level. Likewise, another study performed in 159 healthy individuals, aged 50-74, during the 2010/11 season has failed to substantiate a relation between VIT D content and the immunological response to influenza vaccination (Sadarangani et al. 2016). However, the authors have reported a weak association of VIT D with granzyme B (GzmB), a protein belonging to the chymotrypsin family engaged in viral protein degradation, 75 days after vaccination (Jahrsdorfer et al. 2010). This protein is synthesized by cytotoxic lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells and in lesser amounts by CD4+ lymphocytes, basophils, and neutrophils. It has also been found in dendritic cells (Bratke et al. 2010). Currently, the most acceptable method of the assessment of immune response to vaccination is the evaluation of anti-HA antibody titers, which defines the level of seroconversion and seroprotection. However, seroconversion in response to influenza infection does not always occur in elderly individuals. The GzmB is conducive to the differentiation between influenza and influenza-like infections, regardless of humoral response (Shahid et al. 2010). The assessment of the cellular response to influenza vaccination in the elderly, measured extracorporeally via GzmB levels, shows a much better association with the immune response than that of ant-HA antibody titers (McElhaney et al. 2006; McElhaney et al. 2001). As the human body ages, the relevance of cellular immunity for protection against influenza increases (Theeten et al. 2016).

This issue of GzmB response to influenza vaccination is worthy of exploring in further research since confinement to the standard immune response consisting of anti-HA antibody titers may underline differences between the serological evaluation and the clinical effect of vaccination (Sundaram et al. 2013). Salk et al. (2013) have put forward a hypothesis that a weak response to vaccination and insufficient protection against influenza stem from the age-related unfavorable changes at the cellular response level. The basis for this hypothesis is a lack of association between changes in anti-HA antibody titers and changes in GzmB level found in blood tests of 88 individuals, aged 50–74, vaccinated against influenza. The authors have also noticed a weak GzmB reactivity in the population studied. The present study adds up to the notion that the serum level of VIT D does not affect the immunogenicity of influenza vaccination in the elderly. There is merit in the continuing search for novel ways to increase the effectiveness of influenza vaccinations and protect the elderly against viral infections.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study protocol was accepted by the Bioethics Committee of the Wrocław Medical University in Poland.

Informed Consent Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

References

- Berry DJ, Hesketh K, Power C, Hyppönen E (2011) Vitamin D status has a linear association with seasonal infections and lung function in British adults. Br J Nutr 106:1433–1440
- Bratke K, Nielsen J, Manig F, Klein C, Kuepper M, Geyer S, Julius P, Lommatzsch M, Virchow JC (2010) Functional expression of granzyme B in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells: a role in allergic inflammation. Clin Exp Allergy 40(7):1015–1024
- Chadha MK, Fakih M, Muindi J, Tian L, Mashtare T, Johnson CS, Trump D (2011) Effect of 25-hydroxyvitamin D status on serological response to influenza vaccine in prostate cancer patients. Prostate 71:368–372
- Chun RF, Liu PT, Modlin RL, Adams JS, Hewison M (2014) Impact of vitamin D on immune function: lessons learned from genome-wide analysis. Front Physiol 5:151
- Daynes RA, Araneo BA (1994) The development of effective vaccine adjuvants employing natural regulators of T-cell lymphokine production in vivo. Ann N Y Acad Sci 730:144–161
- Daynes RA, Enioutina EY, Butler S, Mu HH, McGee ZA, Araneo A (1996) Induction of common mucosal

immunity by hormonally immunomodulated peripheral immunization. Infect Immun 64:1100–1109

- Deguchi Y, Takasug Y (2000) Efficacy of influenza vaccine in the elderly: reduction in risks of mortality and morbidity during an influenza A (H3N2) epidemic for the elderly in nursing homes. Int J Clin Lab Res 30 (1):1–4
- Enioutina EY, Visic D, McGee ZA, Daynes RA (1999) The induction of systemic and mucosal immune responses following the subcutaneous immunization of mature adult mice: characterization of the antibodies in mucosal secretions of animals immunized with antigen formulations containing a vitamin D3 adjuvant. Vaccine 17:3050–3064
- Ginde AA, Mansbach JM, Camargo CA Jr (2009) Association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and upper respiratory tract infection in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arch Intern Med 169:384–390
- Goodwin K, Viboud C, Simonsen L (2006) Antibody response to influenza vaccination in the elderly: a quantitative review. Vaccine 24:1159–1169
- Grohskopf AL, Sokolow LZ, Broder KR, Walter EB, Bresee JS, Fry AM, Jernigan DB (2017) Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices – United States, 2017-18 influenza season. MMWR Recomm Rep 66(2):1–20
- Heine G, Drozdenko G, Lahl A, Unterwalder N, Mei H, Volk HD, Dörner T, Radbruch A, Worm M (2011) Efficient tetanus toxoid immunization on vitamin D supplementation. Eur J Clin Nutr 65:329–334
- Holick MF (2007) Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 357:266–281
- Ivanov AP, Dragunsky EM, Chumakov KM (2006) 1,25dihydroxy vitamin D3 enhances systemic and mucosal immune responses to inactivated poliovirus vaccine in mice. J Infect Dis 193:598–600
- Jahrsdorfer B, Vollmer A, Blackwell SE, Griffin MR, Spencer S, Shay DK, Coleman LA (2010) Granzyme B produced by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells suppresses T-cell expansion. Blood 115:1156–1165
- Kostova D, Reed C, Finelli L, Cheng PY, Gargiullo PM, Shay DK, Singleton JA, Meltzer MI, Lu PJ, Bresee JS (2013) Influenza illness and hospitalizations averted by influenza vaccination in the United States, 2005–2011. PLoS One 8(6):e66312
- Kowalczyk D, Szymański K, Cieślak K, Hallmann-Szelińska E, Brydak LB (2018) Respiratory infections with particular emphasis on influenza virus activity in persons over 14 years of age in the epidemic season 2016/2017 in Poland. Adv Exp Med Biol 1108:75–80
- Laaksi I, Ruohola JP, Tuohimaa P, Auvinen A, Haataja R, Pihlajamäki H, Ylikomi T (2007) An association of serum vitamin D concentrations < 40 nmol/L with acute respiratory tract infection in young Finnish men. Am J Clin Nutr 86:714–717
- Lalor MK, Floyd S, Gorak-Stolinska P, Weir RE, Blitz R, Branson K, Fine PE, Dockrell HM (2011) BCG vaccination: a role for vitamin D? PLoS One 6(1):e16709

- Lang PO, Aspinall R (2015) Can we translate vitamin D immunomodulating effect on innate and adaptive immunity to vaccine response? Nutrients 7:2044–2060
- Lang PO, Samaras D (2012) Aging adults and seasonal influenza: does the vitamin D status (H) arm the body? J Aging Res 2012:806198
- Łuniewska K, Szymański K, Hallmann-Szelińska E, Kowalczyk D, Sałamatin R, Masny A, Brydak LB (2019) Evaluation of the 2017/18 influenza epidemic season in Poland based on the SENTINEL surveillance system. Adv Exp Med Biol 1222:63–68
- Martineau AR, Jolliffe DA, Hooper RL et al (2017) Vitamin D supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. BMJ 356:i6583
- McElhaney JE, Gravenstein S, Upshaw CM, Hooton JW, Krause P, Drinka P, Bleackley RC (2001) Granzyme B: a marker of risk for influenza in institutionalized older adults. Vaccine 19:3744–3751
- McElhaney JE, Xie D, Hager WD, Barry MB, Wang Y, Kleppinger A, Ewen C, Kane KP, Bleackley RC (2006) T cell responses are better correlates of vaccine protection in the elderly. J Immunol 176:6333–6339
- Mereckiene J, Cotter S, D'Ancona F, Giambi C, Nicoll A, Levy-Bruhl D, Lopalco PL, Weber JT, Johansen K, Dematte L, Salmaso S, Stefanoff P, Greco D, Dorleans F, Polkowska A, O'Flanagan D, VENICE project gatekeepers group (2010) Differences in national influenza vaccination policies across the European Union, Norway and Iceland 2008-2009. Euro Surveill 15(44):19700
- Principi N, Marchisio P, Terranova L, Zampiero A, Baggi E, Daleno C, Tirelli S, Pelucchi C, Esposito S (2013) Impact of vitamin D administration on immunogenicity of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in previously unvaccinated children. Hum Vaccin Immunother 9(5):969–974
- Pyrżak B, Witkowska-Sędek E, Krajewska M, Demkow U, Kucharska AM (2015) Metabolic and immunological consequences of vitamin D deficiency in obese children. Adv Exp Med Biol 840:13–19
- Sadarangani S, Whitaker JA, Polanda GA (2015) "Let there be light": the role of vitamin d in the immune response to vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 14:1427–1440
- Sadarangani SP, Ovsyannikova IG, Goergen K, Grill DE, Poland GA (2016) Vitamin D, leptin and impact on

immune response to seasonal influenza A/H1N1 vaccine in older persons. Hum Vaccin Immunother 12:691–698

- Salk HM, Haralambieva IH, Ovsyannikova G, Goergen KM, Poland GA (2013) Granzyme B ELISPOT assay to measure influenza-specific cellular immunity. J Immunol Methods 398–399:44–50
- Science M, Maguire J, Russell ML, Smieja M, Walter SD, Loeb M (2014) Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d level and influenza vaccine immunogenicity in children and adolescents. PLoS One 9(1):e83553
- Shahid Z, Kleppinger A, Gentleman B, Falsey AR, McElhaney JE (2010) Clinical and immunologic predictors of influenza illness among vaccinated older adults. Vaccine 28:6145–6151
- Skrobot A, Demkow U, Wachowska M (2018) Immunomodulatory role of vitamin D: a review. Adv Exp Med Biol 1108:13–23
- Sundaram ME, Coleman LA (2012) Vitamin D and influenza. Adv Nutr 3(4):517–525
- Sundaram ME, Talbot HK, Zhu Y, Griffin MR, Spencer S, Shay DK, Coleman LA (2013) Vitamin D is not associated with serologic response to influenza vaccine in adults over 50 years old. Vaccine 31:2057–2061
- Szymański K, Kowalczyk D, Cieślak K, Hallmann-Szelińska E, Brydak LB (2018) Infections with influenza A/H3N2/ subtype in Poland in the 2016/2017 epidemic season. Adv Exp Med Biol 1108:93–98
- Theeten H, Mathei C, Peeters K, Ogunjimi B, Goossens H, Ieven M, Van Damme P, Cools N (2016) Cellular interferon-gamma and Granzyme B responses to cytomegalovirus pp65 and influenza N1 are positively associated in elderly. Viral Immunol 29:169–175
- United Nations (2012) Population ageing and development. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/. Accessed on 15 Aug 2020
- Urashima M, Segawa T, Okazaki M, Kurihara M, Wada Y, Ida H (2010) Randomized trial of vitamin D supplementation to prevent seasonal influenza A in schoolchildren. Am J Clin Nutr 91:1255–1260
- Van der Stede Y, Verfaillie T, Cox E, Verdonck F, Goddeeris BM (2004) 1-alpha,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3 increases IgA serum antibody responses and IgA antibody-secreting cell numbers in the Peyer's patches of pigs after intramuscular immunization. Clin Exp Immunol 135:380–390



Influenza A (H1N1) and Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Coinfection in a Newborn Child: A Case Report

Beata Pawlus, Julianna Żukowska, and Aneta Nitsch-Osuch

Abstract

This paper presents a case of coinfection of influenza A virus (H1N1) and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) in a male newborn. On the first day of life, the newborn required passive oxygen therapy, followed by respiratory support with nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nCPAP) due to respiratory insufficiency. As the newborn's respiratory effort was intensifying, he was intubated. In the second day of life, a nasopharyngeal swab was taken yielding the presence of H1N1 and RSV in the RT-PCR test. The child was isolated and given oseltamivir and empirical antibiotic therapy, which improved his condition. Other newborns who initially stayed with the sick child in the post-delivery room did not obtain oseltamivir prophylactically as their nasopharyngeal swabs were negative. The child's parents denied the occurrence of influenzalike symptoms within 14 days of delivery, which suggests a transplacental transmission of the child's infection or asymptomatic course of infection in the parents. In conclusion, this report confirms the possibility of viral

The Holy Family Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

coinfections in newborns, which points attention to considering a panel of respiratory viruses in the diagnostics. Symptoms of influenza in newborns may be atypical, including a fever-free course. Oseltamivir treatment in newborns with influenza seems an effective therapeutic measure.

Keywords

Coinfection · Influenza · Newborn · Nasopharyngeal swab · Respiratory syncytial virus

1 Introduction

Influenza is an acute infectious disease caused by a virus from the Orthomyxoviridae family. It is mainly spread by droplet and contact transmission. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 5-15% of the global population suffers from influenza every season, which corresponds to 3-5 million cases with about 500,000 deaths related to influenza and its complications (WHO 2018). Children, in particular those under the age of 5, present a reservoir of influenza viruses and the incidence is in this age group is highest (Wang et al. 2020). The global mortality associated with influenza in children under 5 years of age was estimated at 28,000 to 111,500 cases in 2008, with deaths reported nearly exclusively in poor and developing

B. Pawlus and J. Żukowska

A. Nitsch-Osuch (⊠) The Holy Family Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

Department of Social Medicine and Public Health, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: anitsch@wum.edu.pl

countries (Nair et al. 2011). Data on the influenza epidemiology in young children, infants up to 6 months of age, and newborns are scarce and they come mainly from the United States, where the estimated number of influenza-associated hospitalizations of children up to 5 years of age is about 900,000 a year, including 228,000 hospitalizations of infants under 6 months (Nair et al. 2011). In the United States, the cumulative influenza incidence was 44 hospitalization per 100,000 children aged under 5 years in the 2016/2017 season. Wang et al. (2020) have concluded that 23% of children's hospitalizations can be associated with influenza and 36% of deaths among infants under 6 months of age with influenza and its complications.

It has been believed for many years that newborns are unaffected by an influenza virus infection because they are protected by transplacentally acquired antibodies and are exposed to a rather small number of social contacts associated with infection transmission (Puck et al. 1980). Reports on influenza in newborns are scarce. Wilkinson et al. (2006) and Sert et al. (2010) have reviewed influenza cases in prematurely born infants and show that the infection course is either asymptomatic or severe; in the latter case, it may involve respiratory failure and death. These authors have also described influenza outbreaks in neonatal units. Due to the rarity of influenza in newborns and rather ill-defined disease course, this report presents a case study of coinfection of influenza A (H1N1) virus and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) in a newborn child. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first description of such coinfection in a newborn child.

2 Case Report

A male newborn from second pregnancy but the first childbirth. The first pregnancy ended in miscarriage. The newborn was delivered in the 38th week of pregnancy by C-section due to premature drainage of amniotic fluid and uterine fibroids. The birth weight of 3.245 g and an average general condition, Apgar score of 7-7-9-10. At birth, he required suctioning and assisted breathing with a Neopuff resuscitator to provide positive pressure ventilation (Fisher & Paykel Healthcare GmbH, Schorndorf, Germany). A Streptococcus agalactiae test gave a negative result and the umbilical artery blood gas content was normal. The baby was moved to the observation unit and placed in an incubator. A physical examination revealed skin pallor, slight tenderness, lung crackles on auscultation, respiratory effort in the form of expiratory grunting, systolic murmur (1-2/6 on the Levine scale). The parenchymal organs in the abdominal cavity were of normal size. Peripheral capillary O₂ saturation decreased 75%, which necessitated the implementation of supplemental oxygen therapy of inspiratory fraction of oxygen (FiO₂) of 0.4. Capillary blood gasometry was the following: pH 7.29, PCO₂ 55.4, HCO₃⁻ 22.1 mM, and BE 2.4 mM.

Due to threatening respiratory failure, the baby was transferred to the intensive care unit. He was connected to the respiratory support with nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nCPAP). The resulting clinical improvement enabled a reduction of supplemental oxygen concentration to FiO_2 of 0.25. The levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were increased; 525.2 pg/mL (normal range: 0.0-9.7) and 0.9 mg/L (normal range: 0.0-5.0), respectively. The leukocyte count was with the normal range - 15.1×10^{9} /L (normal range: 9.0–30.0 × 10⁹/L). Bilateral interstitial inflammatory infiltrates were found in a chest X-ray. Empirical antibiotic therapy consisting of ampicillin and gentamicin and enteral feeding with mother's milk was initiated. In the following hours, respiratory support with nCPAP continued. Nonetheless, increasing respiratory effort and demand for oxygen (FiO₂ of 0.4), anxiety, posseting, and periodic saturation dips were present. The access to the umbilical vein was made to begin trophic nutrition. At this stage, blood leukocyte count increased to 24.1×10^{9} /L, with a stable gasometry profile.

At the end of the first day of newborn's life, there was no clinical improvement and respiratory acidosis was observed, necessitating the intubation, mechanical synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation (SIMV) with peak inspiratory pressure
(PIP) +23 cmH₂O, positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) +4 cmH₂O, FiO₂ of 0.6–0.5, and sedation with fentanyl in a dose of $1-5 \,\mu g/kg/h$ in a continuous drip, depending on the pain scale result. The measure undertaken led only to a temporary improvement of the condition. Therefore, the ventilatory parameters used were upwardly modified, with the maximum FiO₂ of 0.7 and a breathing rate of 60-75 per min. Blood pressure was at a normal level throughout, no signs of circulatory failure were observed, and blood gas content remained stable. Repeated chest X-ray showed bilaterally decreased lower lung aeration and a small right pneumothorax that did not require pleural drainage. Blood cultures remained negative. The echocardiographic screening showed a patent foramen ovale and normal structures of the heart and large vessels according to the baby's age. The leukocyte index, i.e., the mean ratio of immature to total neutrophils (I/T), was in the normal range of <16 as were the levels of serum transaminases. The serum gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase (GGTP) (154.0 U/L) and procalcitonin (PCT) (8.8 ng/mL) were moderately increased. The following PCT apportioning was considered: < 0.5 ng/mL - low risk of early bacterial infection or possible local infection; 0.5-2.0 ng/mL - possible systemic bacterial infection, recommended control test within 6-24 h; and > 2.0 ng/mL – probable systemic infection or sepsis. The general condition of the baby was rather severe but stable on the second day of life, with no tendency to improve. An ultrasound transdermal examination and the abdominal cavity examination were performed, both showing no abnormalities. Any cardiological causes of the health condition, particularly a congenital heart disease or pulmonary hypertension, were excluded as well. Suspicion of infection of viral etiology arose due to the current presence of the epidemic influenza season. The suspicion was strengthened by the ambiguous clinical picture, no symptoms of a defined perinatal infection, and an unclear medical history of the mother. However, a rapid diagnostic test for the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) was negative.

Swabs were taken from both nostrils for the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) examination of 12 respiratory viruses, including influenza,

parainfluenza 1,2,3,4, human metapneumovirus, adenovirus, rhinovirus, coronaviruses 229E/ NL63 and OC43/HKU1, enterovirus, and RSV. The examination confirmed the presence of the genetic material of influenza A virus and RSV. The decision was made to continue the antibiotic therapy for another 7 days despite a negative blood culture, which could have to do with too short a microbiological incubation period. In the meantime, the causal treatment with oseltamivir, a neuraminidase inhibitor, was implemented in a dose of 2 mg/kg daily, bid, for 5 days. The baby was isolated but the mother's visits were allowed observing strict sanitary regimes. The baby's condition started improving gradually and he was extubated on the fifth day of his life. Respiratory support was altered to a noninvasive nCPAP with the FiO₂ of 0.35-0.23. Only was slight physiological jaundice noticed. The enteral nutrition was gradually increased, first with a tube and then with a feeding teat. On the sixth day of life, respiratory support and parenteral nutrition were terminated and the umbilical vein catheter was removed. From the eighth day, the baby was breastfed, with a modified milk supplement. Complete blood count, white cell smear, CRP, and acid-base balance all showed no irregularities. The biochemical markers of potential heart muscle damage such as troponin, phosphocreatine kinase, and CK-MB were within the normal limits.

On the first day of life, the baby was vaccinated against hepatitis B and was subjected to metabolic and hearing screenings. BCG vaccination was postponed for 2 weeks after discharge from the hospital due to a severe course of the infection. The baby was discharged after 12 days in a good general condition and a weight gain of up to 3302 g. A control visit in a neonatal outpatient clinic was recommended 1 week after discharge and a temporary ultrasound examination 2 months later. Additionally, control audiological, ophthalmological, and cardiological examinations were scheduled for the near future.

Two other prematurely born neonates who stayed in the same post-delivery room were closely monitored for disease symptoms and had nasal and throat swabs taken for the PCR tests for the presence of influenza virus and RSV. The genetic material of RSV and enterovirus was identified in one, whereas the other tested negative. Neither child showed any disease symptoms related to influenza or coinfection. These newborns were discharged from the hospital when they reached the minimum weight of 2000 g, had no sign of infection, did not have desaturations or apneic episodes, and were mature enough to draw breast milk or be bottle-fed.

3 Discussion

The case of symptomatic influenza A (H1N1) in a male baby born at term, presented in this paper, is one of a few ever reported. The notable features of this case were the early onset of symptoms on the day of birth, a mismatch between a fever-free course and increasing respiratory insufficiency that necessitated the intubation and respiratory support, and no influenza-like symptoms in the mother and her immediate environment during the perinatal period. The baby's nasopharyngeal sample was positive for the genetic material of influenza A (H1N1) virus. The diagnosis of influenza was confirmed by a significant improvement after the implementation of oseltamivir treatment. However, the nasopharyngeal sample also tested positive for the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), which points to a coinfection. Coinfections with respiratory viruses have previously been reported but the severity of symptoms appears to be independent of the number of etiological factors (Pichler et al. 2018). In the literature, there are single descriptions of influenza cases in the first hours of life, whereas symptomatic cases of RSV concern newborns aged 5-282 days (58 days on average) and mostly are nosocomial infections related to epidemic outbreaks in intensive care units for premature babies (Pichler et al. 2018). The RSV alone infections, notably, have a favorable course with low mortality, which makes the disease similar to the influenza of the neonatal age (Marcone et al. 2018; Reese et al. 2016; Reid et al. 2011).

The first description of pneumonia caused by influenza A (H1N1) in a baby born from a fullterm uncomplicated pregnancy newborn was reported by Sert et al. (2010). In that case, the parents had reported influenza-like symptoms 2 weeks before delivery. There were also other differences in the infection course when compared with the case reported in the present report. The infection appeared on the 6th day after birth, and it was highly symptomatic with fever, bilateral crackles on auscultation, interstitial bilateral inflammatory lung changes in X-ray, and increased serum CRP. Sepsis was excluded based on negative blood and urine cultures. Empirical antibiotic therapy consisting of cefazoline and gentamycin was implemented, which was ineffective. Since viral etiology was then confirmed, oseltamivir was added on to the antibiotic treatment, which improved the baby's condition.

Other reports concerned outbreaks of influenza infection in prematurely born babies in intensive neonatal care units during the pandemic of 2009/ 2010. Milupi et al. (2012) have reported an outbreak of influenza A in the UK where three newborns aged 13-28 days became ill. The predominant symptoms were bradycardia, desaturation, tachypnea, and apnea. Tsagris et al. (2012) have reported a similar outbreak in Greece where three newborns aged 47-84 days became ill, with the symptoms of runny nose, fever, and apnea. Rocha et al. (2010) have reported influenza in 12 newborns aged 3-38 days in Portugal, in whom deterioration of respiratory function necessitated the initiation of mechanical ventilation. Another two influenza A outbreaks took place in the United States. In one, influenza A was diagnosed in three prematurely born babies aged 16 to 51 days, with the symptoms of lung crackles, apnea, desaturation, and convulsions, which necessitated the artificial ventilation (Vij et al. 2011), In the other, Pannaraj et al. (2011) have reported influenza was reported in 11 newborns aged 5-192 days, with fever, desaturations, and other typical respiratory symptoms as outlined above. In all those reports, oseltamivir treatment was implemented in each newborn, regardless of the time that had elapsed since the occurrence of symptoms, and the treatment was effective. There were other single cases of influenza in newborns reported. One such case was in Israel where a baby born at 32 weeks developed the symptoms of respiratory failure on the 50th day of life. After a course of oseltamivir treatment, the child was discharged from the hospital in a good condition 10 days later (Barak et al. 2010). The other was in India where a baby also born at 32 weeks developed the symptoms of respiratory failure on the 6th day of life. Influenza A (H1N1) was diagnosed 4 days later and oseltamivir treatment was implemented. In this case, the treatment was ineffective and the baby died after a week (Jajoo and Gupta 2010). Noticeably, however, the influenza mortality rate in newborns is very low, which distinguishes this age-group from infants and the elderly. The reasons behind this phenomenon are unknown, but it is usually ascribed to better care and closer supervision in intensive care units, where newborns with influenza are treated (Pichler et al. 2018). The anti-epidemic measures, akin to those used in the present report, such as patient isolation, withholding of family visits, and close observation of other babies who could have been in contact with the sick, were implemented. In the present case, no pharmacological post-exposure prevention in babies who were in contact with the sick one was used, whereas in some of the previous reports such prevention was used (Pannaraj et al. 2011; Rocha et al. 2010). The sources of infection, whenever identifiable, were unvaccinated medical staff and sick members of the children's immediate family. In the present case, the source of the influenza infection could not be identified. There was no influenza infection or any respiratory symptoms in the baby's parents in the 2 weeks preceding the delivery. Therefore, there were two possible origins of the infection: asymptomatic infection in the parents with transmission to the baby or vertical transmission from mother to baby during the time just before and after birth across the placenta, the breast milk, or through direct contact about the delivery.

Contagions, e.g., human immunodeficiency virus, can be vertically transmitted. Lincoln et al. (2017) have revealed the possibility of asymptomatic influenza virus transmission in 11% of patients. A prevalence of 16% of asymptomatic transmission has been reported by Leung et al. (2015). Asymptomatic individuals shed the influenza virus in smaller amounts and shorter time when compared to symptomatic patients but the time of shedding is a source of infection (Pichler et al. 2018). During the influenza A (H1N1) pandemic of 2009, the possibility of transplacental transmission has been reported. Valvi et al. (2010) have reported a case of a child who was born at 22 weeks to a mother with virologically confirmed symptomatic infection caused by influenza A (H1N1). Delivery was performed by C-section, the newborn was isolated from the mother immediately afterward, and oseltamivir treatment was initiated. In the 5th hour of life, the newborn showed symptoms of acute respiratory failure. The RT-PCR of nasopharyngeal swabbing confirmed the presence of the genetic material of the H1N1 pdm09 virus. Picone et al. (2011) have also indicated the possibility of vertical transmission of influenza virus in a case of a virologically confirmed infection in a child born to a mother with symptomatic influenza treated with oseltamivir. Likewise, the delivery was performed by a C-section. Although the newborn was in contact with the mother only for a few seconds, the sampling performed in the 4th hour of life confirmed the presence of the influenza A (H1N1) virus. On the other side, however, Irving et al. (2000) have failed to confirm the vertical transmission of influenza virus in a cohort study on women who contracted influenza in the second or third trimester of pregnancies. The paired pre-post natal cord sera of the women were negative for influenza A virus-specific IgM.

4 Conclusions

Viral etiology should be considered in the differential diagnosis of respiratory infections in newborns. Viral coinfections in newborns also are possible. Therefore, the diagnostics should include a panel of respiratory viruses. Symptoms of influenza in newborns may be atypical, including a fever-free course but the presence of respiratory insufficiency necessitating the initiation of mechanical ventilation. Transplacental transmission of the influenza virus cannot be excluded in newborns. Oseltamivir treatment of influenza seems to be effective in newborns.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were compliant with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The paper was accepted by a Review Board of Warsaw Medical University in Poland.

Informed Consent Written informed consent was obtained from the parents of the newborn baby presented in this case report.

References

- Barak S, Kushnir A, Chulski E, Miron D (2010) Influenza A/H1N1 virus in very low-birth-weight premature infant: case report. Am J Perinatol 27(7):513–515
- Irving WL, James DK, Stephenson T, Laing P, Jameson C, Oxford JS, Chakraverty P, Brown DW, Boon AC, Zambon MC (2000) Influenza virus infection in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy: a clinical and seroepidemiological study. BJOG 107 (10):1282–1289
- Jajoo M, Gupta R (2010) H1N1 influenza in a preterm neonate. Indian J Pediatr 77(9):1045–1046
- Leung NH, Xu C, Ip DK, Cowling B (2015) The fraction of influenza virus infections that are asymptomatic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Epidemiology 26 (6):862–872
- Lincoln D, Lau D, Leung N, Fang VJ, Chan KH, Chu DK, Leung GM, Peiris JS, Uyeki TM, Cowling BJ (2017) Viral shedding and transmission potential of asymptomatic and paucisymptomatic influenza virus infections in the community. Clin Infect Dis 15 64 (6):736–742
- Marcone DN, Carballal G, Irañeta M, Rubies Y, Vidaurreta SM, Echavarría M (2018) Nosocomial transmission and genetic diversity of rhinovirus in a neonatal intensive care unit. J Pediatr 193:252–255
- Milupi M, Madeo M, Brooke N, Ahmad NO (2012) Neonatal influenza a/H1N1/2009 outbreak in a UK district general hospital. J Hosp Infect 81(2):131–133
- Nair H, Brooks WA, Katz M (2011) Global burden of respiratory infections due to seasonal influenza in

young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 378:1917–1930

- Pannaraj PS, Tam B, Akan D (2011) Oseltamivir treatment and prophylaxis in a neonatal intensive care unit during a 2009 H1N1 influenza outbreak. J Perinatol 31 (7):487–493
- Pichler K, Assadian O, Berger A (2018) Viral respiratory infections in the neonatal intensive care unit – a review. Front Microbiol 19:2484–2490
- Picone O, Bernabe-Dupont C, Vauloup-Fellous C, Castel C, Cordier AG, Guillet M, Grangeot-Keros L, Boileau P, Benachi A, Frydman R (2011) A suspected case of in utero transmission of influenza A (H1N1) 2009. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris) 40 (5):473–475
- Puck JM, Glezen WP, Frank AL, Six HR (1980) Protection of infants from infection with influenza A virus by transplacentally acquired antibody. J Infect Dis 142 (6):84484–84489
- Reese SM, Thompson M, Price CS, Young HL (2016) Evidence of nosocomial transmission of human rhinovirus in a neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Infect Control 44(3):355–357
- Reid AB, Anderson TL, Cooley L, Williamnson J, Macgregor A (2011) An outbreak of human rhinovirus species C infections in a neonatal intensive care unit. Pediatr Infect Dis J 30(12):1096–1095
- Rocha G, Pissarra S, Silva G, Guimarez H (2010) Experience with oseltamivir in term and preterm newborns. Res Gate 5:327–331
- Sert A, Yazar A, Odabas D (2010) An unusual cause of fever in a neonate: influenza A (H1N1) virus pneumonia. Pediatr Pulmonol 45:734–736
- Tsagris V, Nika A, Kyriakou D, Kapetanakis I, Harahousou E, Stripeli A, Maltezou H, Tsolia M (2012) Influenza A/H1N1/2009 outbreak in a neonatal intensive care unit. J Hosp Infect 81(1):3684440
- Valvi C, Kulkarni R, Knikar A, Nedelijkovic D, Jankovic B (2010) 2009 H1N1 infection in a 1-day-old neonate. Ind J Med Sci 64(12):549–552
- Vij NK, Stryker CC, Esper FP, Jacobs M, Gonzalez B (2011) Influenza A/H1N1/09-10 infections in a NICU during the 2009-2010 H1N1 pandemic. Pediatrics 128 (5):e1297–e1301
- Wang X, Li Y, O'Brien KL et al (2020) Global burden of respiratory infections associated with seasonal influenza in children under 5 years in 2018: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet Glob Health 8(4): e497–e510
- WHO (2018) Influenza (seasonal). https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/influenza-(seasonal). Accessed on 12 June 2020
- Wilkinson DJ, Buttery JP, Andersen CC (2006) Influenza in the neonatal intensive care unit. J Perinatol 26 (12):772–776

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2021) 12: 35–40 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_600 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 22 December 2020



Thoracic Manifestation of Granulomatosis with Polyangiitis: A Case Report

Bartosz Tomczyk, Zuzanna Janeczko, Adrianna Kruczkowska, Beata Maciążek-Chyra, Wojciech Tański, and Mariusz Chabowski

Abstract

Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA) is an antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)associated disorder with necrotic vasculitis of small- and medium-size arteries and veins. In the literature, there are many case reports of patients with GPA of different, sometimes unusual, clinical manifestations. In this paper, we present difficulties that accompanied the process of diagnosing GPA in a 54-year-old symptomatic patient who was. Computer tomography scans showed numerous tumor-

W. Tański

like lesions of various and irregular sizes in both lungs. Positron emission tomography scans suggested a lymphoproliferative disease, otherwise failing to provide a clue concerning its nature or localization. After a series of diagnostic twists and turns, inclusive of bronchoalveolar lavage, cervical mediastinoscopy, paratracheal lymph biopsy, and histopathologic examinations, and other tests, the diagnosis of GPA was established as the most probable. The patient was acutely treated with loading doses of methylprednisolone and cyclophosphamide, gradually tapered off during the long-term follow-up. He was discharged from the hospital in a good condition. We conclude that GPA is an uncommon disease with indistinctive signs, which raises the risk of its being overlooked. A diagnostic algorithm is required for patients with suspected GPA. A timely diagnosis is essential as the disease may quickly progress into renal or multiorgan dysfunction, and ultimately lead to death if untreated. Pulmonary involvement may also suggest neoplastic changes.

B. Tomczyk, Z. Janeczko, and A. Kruczkowska (⊠) Student Research Club No 180, Faculty of Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland e-mail: ada.kruczkowska@icloud.com

B. Maciążek-Chyra

Department of Rheumatology and Internal Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

Department of Internal Medicine, Fourth Military Teaching Hospital, Wrocław, Poland

M. Chabowski

Division of Oncology and Palliative Care, Department of Clinical Nursing, Faculty of Health Science, Wrocław Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

Department of Surgery, Fourth Military Teaching Hospital, Wrocław, Poland

Keywords

Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody · Granulomatosis with polyangiitis · Lung lesions · Nodules · Vasculitis

1 Introduction

Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA, Wegener's granulomatosis) is an antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated disorder with necrotic vasculitis of small- and medium-size arteries and veins. The course of illness differs between the patients, but in most cases, it appears in the upper respiratory tract, lungs, and kidneys, although other tissues or organs may be affected. Each year, there are 2.1–14.4 new cases per million people diagnosed in Europe, but other sources report the prevalence is even five times higher (Yates and Watts 2017; Greco et al. 2016). According to the American College of Rheumatology, the diagnostic criteria for the classification of GPA are granulomatous inflammation on biopsy, oral ulcers, nasal discharge, abnormal findings on the chest radiograph like nodules, cavities, and fixed infiltrates, and abnormal urinary sediment consisting of red cells casts or more than five red blood cells per high power field (Leavitt et al. 2010). The

Fig. 1 Chest X-ray showing round bilateral opacities in the lungs

presence of two or more abnormalities is associated with a high possibility of the disease. ANCA antibodies play a role in recognition but are not decisive in the diagnostic process due to relatively low sensitivity. Herein we report diagnosing difficulties concerning the GPA.

2 Case Report

In March 2017, a 54-year-old male was admitted to the Department of Internal Medicine of the Fourth Military Teaching Hospital in Wroclaw, Poland due to cough, chronic fever of 38-40 °C accompanied by nausea, vomiting, and dripping sweat. The patient presented a history of 3 months of severe dry cough with breathlessness. He was treated empirically in an outpatient clinic with broad-spectrum antibiotics, which was of no avail. The patient was having type II diabetes, erosive gastropathy, colon diverticulosis, psoriasis, and a focal thyroid lesion in the right lobe. The ear-nose-throat (ENT) examination showed a left-sided polyp between the middle and inferior nasal concha. The patient's general condition was poor at admission. A chest X-ray showed several round shadows of about 15 mm in diameter in the right lower pulmonary field (Fig. 1). Computed tomography (CT) examination showed numerous tumor-like lesions of irregular size in both lungs



37





that suggested neoplastic infiltrations (Fig. 2), but without any diagnostic conclusion. The transthoracic needle biopsy and bronchoscopy remained diagnostically inconclusive. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) revealed numerous neutrophils (71.0%), lymphocytes (18.0%), and an insignificant number of bacteria like *Streptococccus oralis*, *Neisseria* spp., *Escherichia coli*, and *Streptococcus salivarius* with a reduced number of macrophages (11.0%). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* was not present in the culture.

The antinuclear antibody (ANA) panel was negative. Unfortunately, ANCA tests were not performed at this stage. Positron emission tomography (PET) confirmed the presence of an active proliferative process, but it failed to localize the primary neoplasm. The scans suggested an extension of diagnostics toward the lymphoproliferative disorder. Therefore, cervical mediastinoscopy was performed under general anesthesia. The paratracheal lymph nodes (station 3) and right lower paratracheal nodes (station 4R) were harvested. However, histopathological examination revealed normal lymphoid tissue without any malignancy. The open lung biopsy was considered, but the patient's general condition was too poor to perform an invasive procedure.

As the patient was suspected of tuberculosis, having cough and general malaise, he was

admitted to the Pulmonary Division at the end of April 2017. A repeated X-ray showed several tubercles in both lungs. Symptomatic treatment was implemented consisting of ibuprofen, dalteparin, megestrol, and paracetamol with tramadol. Additionally, metformin was given to control diabetes. Based on medical history, documentation, X-ray examinations, and a consultation by an experienced pulmonologist, the GPA was highly suspected.

The patient's condition was deteriorating, and after a conclusive exclusion of neoplasm, he was referred to the Department of Rheumatology at Wroclaw Medical University. He had problems with keeping a vertical body position due to the progressing general malaise. C-reactive protein and the erythrocyte sedimentation rate were increased. Signs of renal impairment appeared consisting of protein 0.5 mg/dL (norm: 0.0-0.2 mg/dL), white blood cells 5-8 (norm: 0-5), and erythrocytes 9-13 (norm: 0–3) per high power field in the urine. ENT consultation and CT imaging showed polyps whose histopathological examination was unremarkable. Since the deterioration of the patient's condition accelerated, steroid treatment was implemented. Methylprednisolone (1 g/day) and cyclophosphamide (1.2 g/day) were administered intravenously for 3 days accompanied by 2-mercaptoethanesulfonate sodium (Mesna;

0.72 g/day) for protection of the urinary bladder against inflammation. The patient's condition and inflammatory biochemical indices improved. Then, oral methylprednisolone was continued in a dose of 52 mg/day, divided into 32 mg at 8 am, 16 mg at 11 am, and 4 mg at 1 pm. The total dose was gradually tapered off to 48 mg/day after 1 month and 40 mg/day after another month. Treatment consisting of six infusions of cyclophosphamide in a dose of 0.75 mg/kg every 4 weeks also was prescribed. However, steroid therapy worsened hyperglycemia, which required the introduction of insulin therapy. Additionally, trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole in a dose of 480 mg bid was given for 5 months. Results of tests and cyclophosphamide courses are depicted in Table 1. Since the diagnosis of GPA was not confirmed by histopathology, the patient was scheduled for a monitoring chest CT examination 3 months after discharge.

B. Tomczyk et al.

3 Discussion

The GPA is a multisystem disease that has many faces, ranging from rhinosinusitis and cough to renal and lung involvement (Comarmond and Cacoub 2014). It is prevalent in Caucasians, with about equal gender distribution (Lutalo and D'Cruz 2014). The onset most often occurs at the age of 45-60 but may appear at another age as well (Filocamo et al. 2017). The pathophysiological mechanism involves necrotizing vasculitis of small- and medium-sized arteries and veins with intra- and extra-vascular granulomas that are most common in the upper and lower respiratory systems (Savage et al. 2000). Diagnostic criteria for GPA are based on clinical manifestations like inflammatory consolidations in chest X-ray, oral and nasal inflammatory lesions, and abnormal urinary sediment.

	ESR	CRP		cANCA		
Date	(mm/h)	(mg/L)	ANA	(RU/mL)	Computed tomography	Cyclophosphamide
March 2017	84	34.7	Negative			
April 2017	80	43.0				
May 2017	93	44.4	Positive	83.4		I infusion
June 2017	2	0.7				II infusion
July 2017	3	1.2				III infusion
August 2017	4	1.0			Subpleural nodules (5 mm) in VI pulmonary segment; post- inflammatory densities	IV infusion
October 2017	25	11.5				V infusion
November 2017	9	2.9	Negative	2.0		Treatment terminated
January 2018	3	0.5		2.0	Tree-in-bud signs subpleural nodules post-inflammatory densities	
January 2019	2	1.5		2.0	Regression of changes	
April 2019	4	0.53				
September 2019	2	0.18		2.0	No focal changes	

Table 1 Diagnostic tests and the main treatment course in a patient with granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA)

ESR erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP C-reactive protein, ANA antinuclear antibodies, cANCA antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies

Herein, we presented the diagnostic workup of a patient whose clinical history at presentation was hardly suggestive of GPA. Additionally, it appears there is no distinct procedure algorithm for GPA-suspected cases, which complicates and delays the workup, notably when there is a need to differentiate a nature of tumor-like mass in the lungs visualized in X-rays. In such cases, tuberculosis, neoplasm, GPA, rheumatoid arthritis, and other illnesses should be considered. In the presented report, cough, breathlessness, enlarged mediastinal nodules, a chronic febrile state with accompanying nausea, vomiting, and dripping sweat were notable at the first admission. However, cough is present, on average, in a minority 34% of patients with GPA, which makes it hard of a diagnostic value. The X-ray and CT scans showed several round shadows in the lungs. To rule out tuberculosis, the bronchoalveolar lavage was microbiologically tested. However, no mycobacteria were cultivated. The PET scan gave a false positive outcome suggesting neoplasm, albeit giving no clue to its localization. Doctors became misled to search for the primary origin of neoplasm. Mediastinoscopy was performed and numerous specimens of lymphatic nodes were examined for histopathology but failed to conclusively set the diagnosis of neoplasm. The patient's mistaken declaration that the polyp-like mass between nasal conchae detected at the ENT examination had been an inborn lesion further impeded the making of a correct diagnosis. Acquired abnormalities in the nasal cavity are often symptomatic for the GPA (Comarmond and Cacoub 2014; Masiak et al. 2017). The exclusion of neoplasm and nonconfirmation of tuberculosis has strengthened the probability of GPA, which was confirmed by positive cANCA antibody tests, and the patient was finally treated in the Rheumatology Ward as of May 2017. Abnormalities in the urine test were suggestive of kidney involvement in the form of glomerulonephritis, which is a frequent accompaniment of GPA. The immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory treatment consisting of cyclophosphamide and methylprednisolone was commenced, leading to a prompt improvement in the patient's condition. Trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole was added to eliminate the microbes that could potentially underlie the disease (Hasan et al. 2019).

We conclude that GPA is an uncommon disease with symptoms and signs of little specificity, making the diagnosis difficult and raising the risk of overlooking. There is a strong need for a diagnostic algorithm for patients with suspected GPA, notably in cases suggesting pulmonary neoplastic changes. Time is of paramount essence in diagnosing GPA because the disease may rapidly progress into glomerulonephritis with renal failure or multiorgan dysfunction with the ultimate death.

Acknowledgments This work was funded by the 2019-2022 program "Regional Initiative of Excellence" financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education in Poland; the project #016/RID/2018/19.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in this study involving a human participant followed the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Wroclaw Medical University in Wroclaw, Poland.

Informed Consent Written informed consent was obtained from the patient presented in the article.

References

- Comarmond C, Cacoub P (2014) Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener): clinical aspects and treatment. Autoimmun Rev 13(11):1121–1125
- Filocamo G, Torreggiani S, Agostoni C, Esposito S (2017) Lung involvement in childhood onset granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 15(1):28
- Greco A, Marinelli C, Fusconi M, Macri GF, Gallo A, De Virgilio A, Zambetti G, de Vincentiis M (2016) Clinic manifestations in granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 29(2):151–159
- Hasan MR, Sakibuzzaman M, Tabassum T, Moosa SA (2019) A case of granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) presenting with rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Cureus 11(10):e5896
- Leavitt RY, Fauci AS, Bloch DA, Michel BA, Hunder GG, Arend WP, Alabrese LH, Fries JF, Lie JT,

Lightwood RW Jr (2010) The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of Wegener's granulomatosis. Arthritis Rheum 33 (8):1101–1107

- Lutalo PM, D'Cruz DP (2014) Diagnosis and classification of granulomatosis with polyangiitis (aka Wegener's granulomatosis). J Autoimmun 48-49:94–98
- Masiak A, Zdrojewski Z, Pęksa R, Smoleńska Ż, Czuszyńska Z, Siemińska A, Kowalska B,

Stankiewicz C, Rutkowski B, Bułło-Piontecka B (2017) The usefulness of histopathological examinations of non-renal biopsies in the diagnosis of granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Reumatologia 55(5):230–236

- Savage CO, Harper L, Cockwell P, Adu D, Howie AJ (2000) ABC of arterial and vascular disease: vasculitis. BMJ 320(7245):1325–1328
- Yates M, Watts R (2017) ANCA-associated vasculitis. Clin Med (Lond) 17(1):60–64



The Natural Course of Impaired Fasting Glucose

Agnieszka Święcicka-Klama, Katarzyna Połtyn-Zaradna, Andrzej Szuba, and Katarzyna Zatońska

Abstract

Impaired glucose regulation, including diabetes and prediabetes, poses a huge global problem not only in health but also in the epidemiological and economic areas. These disorders are often detected too late or remain unrecognized. The article aims to provide a review of the prevalence, etiology, and natural history of impaired fasting glucose (IFG). We focus on the progression of isolated IFG to full-fledged type 2 diabetes and the factors conducive to the development of diabetes. The knowledge about it could help design an optimal management program for the prevention of diabetes in patients with IFG; a program that would be patient-tailored and based on the underlying pathophysiology.

A. Święcicka-Klama (🖂)

Department of Social Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

Department of Angiology, Hypertension and Diabetology, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: agnieszka.swiecicka-klama@student.umed.wroc.pl

K. Połtyn-Zaradna and K. Zatońska Department of Social Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

A. Szuba

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Diabetes} \cdot \text{Impaired fasting glucose} \cdot \\ \text{Prediabetes} \cdot \text{Prevention} \cdot \text{Public health} \end{array}$

1 Introduction

Carbohydrate metabolism disorders, including type 2 diabetes mellitus and prediabetes, pose a huge global problem not only in health but also in the epidemiological and economic areas. These abnormalities are often detected too late or remain unrecognized. Prediabetes is defined as an intermediate state between normal blood glucose levels and diabetes. The term includes such disorders as impaired fasting glucose (IFG), impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), or raised glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), each different in the underlying pathophysiology but each associated with a higher risk of developing diabetes. It is estimated that the presence of a prediabetic state increases the average risk for the future development of type 2 diabetes by threefold to tenfold (Garber et al. 2008). Early detection of prediabetes may prevent or delay the development of diabetes and its complications.

Risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes are established. Nonetheless, it is hard to describe the natural course of prediabetes. Data on the long-term risk of progression from prediabetes, particularly IFG, to full-fledged diabetes and the associated risk factors are still lacking or

Department of Angiology, Hypertension and Diabetology, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

inconsistent. The inconsistency results from a variety of inclusion criteria and methodologies used in the available studies. Moreover, the patient cohorts often are highly heterogeneous, with no clear distinction between each prediabetic state, such as isolated IFG, IGT, or both combined. Based on a review of the current literature (Wen et al. 2017; Buysschaert et al. 2016; Chan et al. 2009; Toshihiro et al. 2008; Abdul-Ghani et al. 2006; DeFronzo 2004), it seems there is a need for a better savvy of the etiopathogenesis of IFG and the identification of factors bearing on the progression to diabetes.

2 Definitions and Diagnosis

In 1997, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) defined IFG as an elevated fasting plasma glucose (FPG) level 6.1-6.9 mmol/L (110-125 mg/dL). Six years later, the cutoff level for IFG was lowered to 5.6 mmol/L (100 mg/dL) by the ADA (Nathan et al. 2007) and the International Expert Committee (Gillett 2009; Forouhi et al. 2006), to maximize sensitivity and specificity for predicting diabetes mellitus. Nonetheless, the WHO and the International Diabetes Federation still uphold the 6.1-6.9 mmol/L cutoff glucose recommendation (WHO 2006). In isolated IFG, a 2-h post-load glucose level in the 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) is within the normal range (below 7.8 mmol/L), in contrast to IGT, where the 2-h plasma glucose is in a range 7.8-11.0 mmol/L (140 - 199)of mg/dL) during OGTT.

Prediabetic diagnostic threshold and its verifying tools are still discussed (Huang et al. 2016; Buysschaert et al. 2016). Generally, FPG is used as a screening test for diabetes. OGTT is recommended in patients with a high risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. Elevated HbA1c can be used as another tool for diagnosing prediabetes and diabetes, without distinction between IFG and IGT. According to the ADA guidelines, HbA1c in a range of 5.7–6.4% (39–46 mmol/mol) is considered as prediabetes (ADA 2020), whereas Canadian (Diabetes Expert

Committee et al. 2018), British guidelines (Chatterton et al. 2012) have established a higher cutoff point of 6.0 to 6.5% (42–47 mmol/mol). The WHO has not approved the HbA1c as a diagnostic screening tool for prediabetes (WHO 2011).

3 Epidemiology

According to the last report of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, one in three American adults has prediabetes, mostly men, which approximates 88 M people as of 2018. The prevalence rises with age, reaching nearly 50% in those over 65 years of age. There is no significant difference between races and ethnicities (CDC 2020). The National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) reported that the overall prediabetes prevalence, based on the FPG and HbA1c, increased from 27.4% in 1999–2002 to 34.1% in 2007–2010. On the other side, the prevalence of IFG remained a little changed amounting to 23.9-26.6% in 1999-2010 (Bullard et al. 2013) and 28.3% in 2011–2014 (Menke et al. 2018). The FPG above the threshold occurred more frequently in men than women, in non-Hispanic whites than in non-Hispanic blacks, and in obese subjects.

Statistically, IFG (defined as FPG 6.1-6.9 mmol/L) is rarer than IGT. In epidemiological studies in different adult populations, the prevalence of IFG ranged widely from 4.7% in Pima Indian adults (Gabir et al. 2000a) to 12.2% in Mexican-Americans (Harris et al. 1998), whereas IGT was prevalent from 11.1% in the Australian population (Dunstan et al. 2002) to 19.4% in Mexican-Americans. Based on the DE CODE Study Group (2003) and Qiao et al. (2003) studies, tallying data from 13 European and 11 Asian studies performed in subjects aged 30-89, IFG appeared more often in men than in women, mostly in young and middle-aged men, whereas IGT was common particularly in women and elderly subjects above 70 years of age. The prevalence of IFG reached a plateau in middleaged subjects (40-50 years) in most populations. Conversely, the 2 h FPG concentration and, thus, the prevalence of IGT increased linearly with age (DECODE Study Group 2003; Unwin et al. 2002). Notably, IFG was defined as FPG 6.1–6.9 mmol/L in all the studies above outlined.

A twofold to fourfold increase in IFG prevalence, the larger increases in younger age-groups, has been reported after the redefinition of IFG by ADA, compared with the WHO recommendations (Pankow et al. 2007; Forouhi et al. 2006; WHO 2006). A lowering of the cutoff point for IFG resulted in a nearly 20% increase in the prevalence of isolated IFG and a notable decrease in the prevalence of the isolated IGT. Thus, isolated IFG has become the most common form of a prediabetic state in both Caucasian and Asian cohorts. According to both 1999 WHO and 2003 ADA classifications, the prevalence of isolated IFG is significantly higher in Caucasians than in Asians. As a possible reason, the authors indicate a western-type diet rich in fats and meals with a high glycemic index, but this notion remains to be verified (Yip et al. 2017). In a recent meta-analysis of 46 studies performed in the general population of developed European countries, the overall prevalence of impaired glucose regulation was rated at 22.3%, and the mean prevalence of IGT was 11.4%, with no clear gender differences. In contrast, IFG occurred more frequently in men than in women, with a mean prevalence of 8.4%(Eades et al. 2016).

4 Differences Between Impaired Fasting Glucose (IFG) and Impaired Glucose Tolerance (IGT) Resulting from Pathophysiology

The IFG and IGT have a significantly different pathophysiologic background. Subjects with isolated IFG have moderate insulin resistance in the liver, disturbed first-phase insulin secretion, and normal muscle insulin sensitivity. The hepatic insulin resistance leads to excessive fasting glucose production and impaired suppression of liver glucose output, resulting in basal hyperinsulinemia. In comparison, individuals with isolated IGT have moderate or severe muscle insulin resistance, impaired first- and secondphase insulin secretion, and reduced β -cell sensitivity to glucose. The muscle insulin resistance results in disturbed glucose uptake after a meal rich in carbohydrates, leading to postprandial hyperglycemia (Wilson 2017; Buysschaert et al. 2016; DeFronzo and Abdul-Ghani 2011; Abdul-Ghani et al. 2006; DeFronzo 2004). Waist circumference (>102 cm for men and > 88 cm for women) and triglyceride/HDL-C ratio (>3.5 for men and > 2.5 for women) are useful indirect indices to identify prediabetic insulin resistance (Gagliardino et al. 2018; Salazar et al. 2013; Alberti et al. 2009).

Interestingly, increased glucose level, reduced insulin sensitivity, and defects in insulin secretion might be seen as early as 13 years before the development of type 2 diabetes (Tabák et al. 2012; Tabák et al. 2009). β -cell dysfunction is also observed, even when FPG remains within a normal range (Kahn et al. 2006; WHO 2006). Given the discordant findings in autopsy (Wen et al. 2017; Butler et al. 2003) and hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp studies (Basu et al. 2013; Perreault et al. 2008), the clinical relevance of these results needs further elucidation. As the categories of impaired glucose regulation often coexist to an extent (DeFronzo and Abdul-Ghani 2011; DeFronzo 2004), we can distinguish isolated IFG, isolated IGT, and a combination of the two. The DECODE and DECODA studies show that a third of the European and Asian populations with IFG, defined according the current ADA definition as FPG to 6.1–6.9 mmol/L, have the coexisting IGT (DEC ODE Study Group 2003; Qiao et al. 2003). This less restrictive cutoff level of FPG brought about a decrease in the proportion of people with IFG combined with IGT, but it increased the proportion of IGT combined with IFG (WHO 2006). In the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study, isolated IFG was more common in men and black women. Persons with isolated IFG were statistically younger, current smokers, and alcohol consumers than those with IGT. They also had a higher BMI, waist circumference, increased fasting insulin level, higher LDL cholesterol, and a lower content of HDL cholesterol. In contrast,

higher triglyceride content, systolic blood pressure, and leukocyte count were more commonly noticed in persons with isolated IGT (Pankow et al. 2007).

5 Course and Adverse Outcomes

As subjects with IFG are a heterogeneous group, frequently with other concomitant disorders of glucose metabolism, the risk of progression to diabetes widely varies. Nonetheless, IFG should be seen as a risk factor for diabetes and adverse outcomes (WHO 2006). The development of diabetes and its complications is a gradual and complex process. The blood glucose level gradually increases over time until it exceeds the diagnostic criteria for diabetes (Færch et al. 2013). The progression of IFG to diabetes is not a must. A significant proportion of people revert to normoglycemia, or the process halts at the prediabetic stage (Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). Approximately, a third of the subjects with IFG will develop diabetes within 5-7 years (Unwin et al. 2002). Many factors, inter alia, nonuniform inclusion criteria in various studies, different definitions, different diagnostic tests for confirmation of IFG and diabetes, and a wide range of observation and follow-up periods result in significant differences in the findings. For instance, data from the Hoorn Study indicate that 33% of the people with isolated IFG and 64.5% with both IFG and IGT develop diabetes during a mean follow-up of 6.4 years, in comparison with 4.5% of those with normal glucose regulation at baseline. The survey was conducted among nondiabetic Caucasian residents of Hoorn in the Netherlands, aged 50-75 years, from 1989 to 1998 (de Vegt et al. 1998, 2001). An Italian study conducted among telephone company employees aged 40-59 years reported a much lower number of people with isolated IFG and with combined IFG and IGT who progressed to full-fledged type 2 diabetes. The proportion was just 9.1% and 44.4% after 11.5 years of the follow-up period, respectively. That study, however, raises methodological misgivings as there was only one person with isolated IFG and nine persons with both IFG and IGT. The odds ratios were 10.3 (95% confidence interval (CI) 2.2–46.8) and 1.2 (95% CI 0.3–10.2), respectively (Nichols et al. 2007; Vaccaro et al. 1999).

In the multiethnic Mauritius population, where the incidence of diabetes is high, the findings in people, aged 25-79, with IFG observed for 11 years were as follows: 38% (95% CI 28.5-47.5) reverted to normoglycemia, 7% (95% CI 2.0-12.0) retained IFG, 17% (95% CI 9.6-24.4) developed IGT, and 38% (95% CI 28.5-47.5) progressed to diabetes (Soderberg et al. 2004). In a study among Pima Indians, who have the highest prevalence of type 2 diabetes in the world, the risk of progression of prediabetes to diabetes is considerably higher in IFG than that in IGT. The 5-year cumulative incidence of type 2 diabetes in people with normal glucose regulation, isolated IGT, isolated IFG, and IFG/IGT combined was 3.6%, 19.9%, 31.0%, and 41.2%, respectively (Gabir et al. 2000b). In a Hong Kong study, 30.9% (n = 17) persons with IFG reverted to normoglycemia, 43.6% (n = 24) sustained the IFG status, and 25.5% (n = 14) progressed to diabetes after a median follow-up period of 1.12 years. It should be underlined that this study group was small (n = 55) and young (mean age 37.4 ± 9.3 years) but had a high risk of diabetes, including a family history of diabetes or gestational diabetes, overweight, and hypertension. Also, the period of observation was rather short (Ko et al. 2001).

In the Toranomon Hospital Health Management Center Study 3 (TOPICS 3), conducted in 6,241 Japanese participants, aged 24-82, without diabetes at baseline, prediabetes was newly diagnosed in 1,682 subjects. The prediabetic subjects were divided into three groups: 1/ isolated IFG (HbA1c <5.7% and FPG 5.6-6.9 mmol/L), 2/ isolated elevated HbA1c (HbA1c 5.7-6.4% and FPG <5.6 mmol/L), and 3/both HbA1c 5.7-6.4% and FPG 5.6-6.9 mmol/ L. The groups consisted of 20.3% (n = 1,270), 6.6% (n = 412), and 6.6% (n = 410) subjects, respectively. Over the mean 4.7 year-long followup, diabetes (FPG >7.0 mmol/L, HbA1c >6.5%) was diagnosed in 6.4% (n = 108), 1.8% (n = 30), and 9.2% (n = 154) of the subjects, respectively (Wilson 2017). According to the Toranomon Hospital Health Management Center Study 4 (T OPICS 4), conducted in a similar cohort with a 5-year follow-up, normoglycemia (neither HbA1c nor FPG elevated) was achieved by 20.5–32.0% of the participants diagnosed as having prediabetes at baseline, based on any one of the four criteria FPG 5.6–6.9 mmol/L, FPG 6.1–6.9 mmol/L, HbA1c 5.7–6.4%, or HbA1c 6.0–6.4% (Heianza et al. 2012).

A meta-analysis of multiple cohort studies shows the absolute annualized risk of progression of impaired glucose metabolism to full-fledged diabetes of 5-10%. The relative risk was 4.66 (95% CI 2.47-6.85) for IFG and 7.54 (95% CI 4.63–10.45) for isolated IFG. For comparison, in subjects with IGT and isolated IGT, the risk ratio was 6.35 (95% CI 4.87-7.82) and 5.52 (95% CI 3.13–7.91), respectively. The highest relative risk was 12.13 (95% CI 4.27-20.00) in a population with both IFG and IGT (Gerstein et al. 2007). These studies show that people with IFG and coexisting other glycemic disorders (IGT, elevated HbA1c, etc.) have a substantially increased risk of developing diabetes. Some authors indicate that all subjects with both FPG 6.1-6.9 mmol/L and HbA1c 6.0-6.4% develop diabetes over 5 years (Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018; Heianza et al. 2012). Divergent results concerning the rate at which diabetes mellitus would like to develop stem from the unknown duration of impaired glucose regulations. The only study that traced the development of type 2 diabetes from the onset of abnormal glucose regulation is the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging (Nichols et al. 2007). Of 488 participants with normal glucose regulation. aged 20-89 years, 14% progressed to IFG and 48% developed IGT after 10 years. In the same period, 8% of the participants with IFG and 27% with IGT developed diabetes. The lowest progression rate to diabetes is in the persons with an isolated elevation of FPG (Meigs et al. 2003).

The ADDITION-Denmark study reported that the overall incidence of diabetes is 3.51 (95% CI 3.32-3.72) per 1,000 person-years. In comparison with a low-risk reference group, the incidence in persons with prediabetes was significantly higher, amounting to 14.61 (95%) CI 11.28-18.92), 21.83 (17.08-27.89), and 40.81 (95% CI 32.19-51.74) for isolated IFG, isolated IGT, and combined IFG and IGT, respectively. The pattern profile of the incidence of diabetes over a 10-year-long follow-up also was different. For the groups of persons with impaired glucose regulation outlined above, the incidence rate peaked during the first 2 years after the baseline tests, whereas it remained at a constant level during the first 6 years in the low-risk persons (Rasmussen et al. 2016).

As discussed above, the progression from prediabetes to diabetes depends on the spate of risk factors. The most frequently mentioned are the following: age; genetic factors including race and ethnicity, family history of diabetes, gestational diabetes, obesity (particularly central obesity), dyslipidemia, hypertension, high FPG, and plasma insulin levels; poor β -cell function; smoking; and sedentary lifestyle (Fonseca 2009; Levitzky et al. 2008). Stratton et al. (2000) reported that the higher the average blood glucose level, the greater is the risk of progression to diabetes and its micro- and macrovascular complications. The American College of Endocrinology and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists suggest that the diagnosis of metabolic syndrome is equivalent to a prediabetic state (Garber et al. 2008). Additionally, there are novel risk factors that are conducive to the development of diabetes such environmental contaminants, depression, vitamin D and K deficiency, and iron overload (Wolf et al. 2019; Chatterjee et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2014; Chan et al. 2009). Toshihiro et al. (2008) have also described the potential influence of psychosocial risk factors such as night work shifts, daily life stress, and holding a high administrative post, whereas being a nonsmoker, having a whitecollar job, and a low serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) are mentioned as possible protective factors against the development of diabetes. Nonetheless, there is limited and rather inconsistent knowledge of the factors influencing the transition from isolated IFG to full-fledged diabetes (Meigs et al. 2003).

Most pro-diabetic factors are also associated with risk for cardiovascular diseases (CVD). Thus, people with prediabetes could benefit from cardiovascular risk factor modifications (Yeboah et al. 2011). Conversely, the risk of isolated IFG for fatal and nonfatal cardiovascular events also is considered. Isolated IGT might be a particularly strong contributor to CVD (Pankow et al. 2007; DECODE Study Group 2003; Unwin et al. 2002). Persons with combined IFG and IGT are at risk of worse cardiovascular outcomes (Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018; Buysschaert et al. 2016). Studies indicate that the overlap of IFG and CVD risks decreases when the new IFG definition by ADA is employed (Abraham and Fox 2013; Soulimane et al. 2012; WHO 2006). Current guidelines for the prevention of type 2 diabetes recommend lifestyle interventions as fundamental management. Patients diagnosed with dysglycemia should be counseled to achieve and maintain a 7% body weight reduction and to enhance moderate-intensity physical activity to at least 150 min per week (American Diabetes Association 2020). Disappointingly, most people with prediabetes are undiagnosed and untreated. Statistics are alarming. According to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHA NES) performed in the US adult population in 2005/2006, solely 3.4% of persons with IFG and/or IGT reported that their physicians diagnosed them as being at the prediabetic stage. Only was a third of them counseled on physical activity and diet. Of those who reported performing physical exercise, only did half fulfill the then ADA recommendations to this end (Karve and Hayward 2010).

There is strong evidence that lifestyle modifications are effective in people with IGT. Most studies have been performed in persons with isolated IGT or combined IFG and IGT, such as the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (Toumillehto et al. 2013), the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study (Knowler et al. 2009), the Indian Diabetes Prevention Program (Ramachandran et al. 2006), the Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group (Knowler et al. 2002), and the Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study (Pan et al. 1997). It remains unclear whether a similar effect is attainable in a group with isolated IFG (Huang et al. 2016; Rasmussen et al. 2016; Saito et al. 2011). Studies primarily focus on weight loss and increasing physical activity. There is a need to better understand how food and diet influence β -cell function and insulin sensitivity (Guess 2018). Preventive pharmacotherapy should be considered in people with dysglycemia, particularly in those with obesity, under 60 years of age, and in women with a history of gestational diabetes (ADA 2020). Out of the several drugs that could prevent or delay the onset of diabetes, such as metformin (Knowler et al. 2009; Knowler et al. 2002), glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist (Kim et al. 2013), thiazolidinedione (DeFronzo et al. 2013; Hanley et al. 2010; DREAM et al. 2006), α -glucosidase inhibitors (Chiasson et al. 2002), or orlistat (Torgerson et al. 2004), only has metformin been approved for diabetes prevention (American Diabetes Association 2020).

6 Conclusions

In conclusion, the progression of impaired fasting glucose to full-fledged diabetes mellitus is not inevitable. Impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance differ in the prevalence, underlying pathophysiology, risk of conversion to diabetes, mortality, and cardiovascular outcomes. Risks are substantially higher when impaired fasting glucose coincides with impaired glucose tolerance. Further studies are needed for a better understanding of how to delay or prevent the progression of isolated impaired fasting glucose to diabetes, regarding lifestyle, dietary, and pharmacological interventions. Individually tailored interventions based on the underlying pathophysiology should be performed in the optimal management program for diabetes prevention in patients with impaired glucose regulation.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals directly performed by any of the authors.

References

- Abdul-Ghani MA, Jenkinson CP, Richardson DK, Tripathy D, DeFronzo RA (2006) Insulin secretion and action in subjects with impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: results from the Veterans Administration Genetic Epidemiology Study. Diabetes 55(5):1430–1435
- Abraham TM, Fox CS (2013) Implications of rising prediabetes prevalence. Diabetes Care 36(8):2139–2141
- ADA (2020) American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care 43(Suppl 1):S14– S31
- Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM et al (2009) Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, And Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 120 (16):1640–1645
- American Diabetes Association (2020) 3. Prevention or delay of type 2 diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care 43(Suppl 1):S32–S36
- Basu R, Barosa C, Jones J, Dube S, Carter R, Basu A, Rizza RA (2013) Pathogenesis of prediabetes: role of the liver in isolated fasting hyperglycemia and combined fasting and postprandial hyperglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(3):E409–E417
- Bullard KM, Saydah SH, Imperatore G, Cowie CC, Gregg EW, Geiss LS, Cheng YJ, Rolka DB, Williams DE, Caspersen CJ (2013) Secular changes in U.S. prediabetes prevalence defined by hemoglobin A1c and fasting plasma glucose: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 1999-2010. Diabetes Care 36(8):2286–2293
- Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC (2003) β -cell deficit and increased β -cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 52(1):102–110
- Buysschaert M, Medina JL, Buysschaert B, Bergman M (2016) Definitions (and current controversies) of diabetes and prediabetes. Curr Diabetes Rev 12(1):8–13
- CDC (2020) Centers for disease control and prevention, National diabetes statistics report. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta
- Chan JCN, Malik V, Jia W, Kadowaki T, Yajnik CS, Yoon KH, Hu FB (2009) Diabetes in Asia: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. JAMA 301 (20):2129–2140

- Chatterjee R, Maruthur NM, Edelman D (2015) Novel risk factors for type 2 diabetes in African-Americans. Curr Diab Rep 15(12):103
- Chatterton H, Younger T, Fischer A, Khunti K, Programme Development Group (2012) Risk identification and interventions to prevent type 2 diabetes in adults at high risk: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ 345:e4624
- Chiasson JL, Josse RG, Gomis R, Hanefeld M, Karasik A, Laakso M, STOP-NIDDM Trail Research Group (2002) Acarbose for prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the STOP-NIDDM randomised trial. Lancet 359(9323):2072–2077
- de Vegt F, Dekker JM, Stehouwer CD, Nijpels G, Bouter LM, Heine RJ (1998) The 1997 American Diabetes Association criteria versus the 1985 World Health Organization criteria for the diagnosis of abnormal glucose tolerance: poor agreement in the Hoorn Study. Diabetes Care 21(10):1686–1690
- de Vegt F, Dekker JM, Jager A, Hienkens E, Kostense PJ, Stehouwer CD, Nijpels G, Bouter LM, Heine RJ (2001) Relation of impaired fasting and postload glucose with incident type 2 diabetes in a Dutch population: The Hoorn Study. JAMA 285(16):2109–2113
- DECODE Study Group (2003) Age- and sex-specific prevalences of diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in 13 European cohorts. Diabetes Care 26 (1):61–69
- DeFronzo RA (2004) Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Med Clin North Am 88(4):787–835
- DeFronzo RA, Abdul-Ghani M (2011) Assessment and treatment of cardiovascular risk in prediabetes: impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose. Am J Cardiol 108(3 Suppl):3B–24B
- DeFronzo RA, Tripathy D, Schwenke DC et al (2013) Prevention of diabetes with pioglitazone in ACT NOW: physiologic correlates. Diabetes 62 (11):3920–3926
- Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee, Punthakee Z, Goldenberg R, Katz P (2018) Definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes, prediabetes and metabolic syndrome. Can J Diabetes 42(Suppl 1):S10–S15
- DREAM (Diabetes REduction Assessment with ramipril and rosiglitazone medication) Trial Investigators, Gerstein HC, Yusuf S, Bosch J, Pogue J, Sheridan P, Dinccag N, Hanefeld M, Hoogwerf B, Laakso M, Mohan V, Shaw J, Zinman B, Holman RR (2006) Effect of rosiglitazone on the frequency of diabetes in patients with impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 368(9541):1096–1105
- Dunstan DW, Zimmet PZ, Welborn TA, De Courten MP, Cameron AJ, Sicree RA, Dwyer T, Colagiuri S, Jolley D, Knuiman M, Atkins R, Shaw JE (2002) The rising prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance: the Australian diabetes, obesity and lifestyle study. Diabetes Care 25(5):829–834

- Eades CE, France EF, Evans JMM (2016) Prevalence of impaired glucose regulation in Europe: a metaanalysis. Eur J Pub Health 26(4):699–706
- Færch K, Witte DR, Tabák AG, Perreault L, Herder C, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M, Vistisen D (2013) Trajectories of cardiometabolic risk factors before diagnosis of three subtypes of type 2 diabetes: a posthoc analysis of the longitudinal Whitehall II cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 1(1):43–51
- Fonseca VA (2009) Defining and characterizing the progression of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 32(Suppl 2): S151–S156
- Forouhi NG, Balkau B, Borch-Johnsen K, Dekker J, Glumer C, Qiao Q, Spijkerman A, Stolk R, Tabac A, Wareham NJ, EDEG (2006) The threshold for diagnosing impaired fasting glucose: a position statement by the European Diabetes Epidemiology Group. Diabetologia 49(5):822–827
- Gabir MM, Hanson RL, Dabelea D, Imperatore G, Roumain J, Bennett PH, Knowler WC (2000a) The 1997 American Diabetes Association and 1999 World Health Organization criteria for hyperglycemia in the diagnosis and prediction of diabetes. Diabetes Care 23 (8):1108–1112
- Gabir MM, Hanson RL, Dabelea D, Imperatore G, Roumain J, Bennett PH, Knowler WC (2000b) Plasma glucose and prediction of microvascular disease and mortality: evaluation of 1997 American Diabetes Association and 1999 World Health Organization criteria for diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 23 (8):1113–1118
- Gagliardino JJ, Elgart JF, Bourgeois M et al (2018) Diabetes primary prevention program: new insights from data analysis of recruitment period. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 34(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2943
- Garber AJ, Handelsman Y, Einhorn D et al (2008) Diagnosis and management of prediabetes in the continuum of hyperglycemia – when do the risks of diabetes begin? A consensus statement from the American College of Endocrinology and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists. Endocr Pract 14 (7):933–946
- Gerstein HC, Santaguida P, Raina P, Morrison KM, Balion C, Hunt D, Yazdi H, Booker L (2007) Annual incidence and relative risk of diabetes in people with various categories of dysglycemia: a systematic overview and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 78(3):305–312
- Gillett MJ (2009) International expert committee report on the role of the A1C assay in the diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 32(7): 1327–1334, Clin Biochem Rev 30(4):197–200
- Guess ND (2018) Dietary interventions for the prevention of type 2 diabetes in high-risk groups: current state of evidence and future research needs. Nutrients 10 (9):1245
- Hanley AJ, Zinman B, Sheridan P, Yusuf S, Gerstein HC, Diabetes Reduction Assessment With Ramipril and Rosiglitazone Medication (DREAM) Investigators

(2010) Effect of rosiglitazone and ramipril on β -cell function in people with impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose: the Dream Trial. Diabetes Care 33(3):608–613

- Harris MI, Flegal KM, Cowie CC, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE, Little RR, Wiedmeyer HM, Byrd-Holt DD (1998) Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in US adults: the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. Diabetes Care 21(4):518–524
- Heianza Y, Arase Y, Fujihara K, Tsuji H, Saito K, Hsieh SD, Kodama S, Shimano H, Yamada N, Hara S, Sone H (2012) Screening for pre-diabetes to predict future diabetes using various cut-off points for HbA1c and impaired fasting glucose: the Toranomon Hospital Health Management Center Study 4 (TOPICS 4). Diabet Med 29(9):e279–e285
- Huang Y, Cai X, Mai W, Li M, Hu W (2016) Association between prediabetes and risk of cardiovascular disease and all cause mortality: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ 355:i5953
- Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM (2006) Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 444(7121):840–846
- Karve A, Hayward RA (2010) Prevalence, diagnosis, and treatment of impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance in nondiabetic U.S. adults. Diabetes Care 33(11):2355–2359
- Kim SH, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Liu A, Ariel D, Schaaf P, Grove K, Tomasso V, Ochoa H, Liu YV, Chen YD, Reaven G (2013) Benefits of liraglutide treatment in overweight and obese older individuals with prediabetes. Diabetes Care 36(10):3276–3282
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Nathan DM, Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group (2002) Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 346(6):393–403
- Knowler WC, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Christophi CA, Hoffman HJ, Brenneman AT, Brown-Friday JO, Goldberg R, Venditti E, Nathan DM (2009) 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. Lancet 374(9702):1677–1686
- Ko GT, Chan JC, Cockram CS (2001) Change of glycaemic status in Chinese subjects with impaired fasting glycaemia. Diabet Med 18(9):745–748
- Levitzky YS, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Meigs JB, Murabito JM, Vasan RS, Fox CS (2008) Impact of impaired fasting glucose on cardiovascular disease: the Framingham Heart Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 51 (3):264–270
- Meigs JB, Muller DC, Nathan DM, Blake DR, Andres R, Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging (2003) The natural history of progression from normal glucose tolerance to type 2 diabetes in the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Diabetes 52(6):1475–1484
- Menke A, Casagrande S, Cowie CC (2018) Contributions of A1c, fasting plasma glucose, and 2-hour plasma

glucose to prediabetes prevalence: NHANES 2011–2014. Ann Epidemiol 28(10):681–685

- Nathan DM, Davidson MB, RA DF, Heine RJ, Henry RR, Pratley R, Zinman B, American Diabetes Association (2007) Impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: implications for care. Diabetes Care 30 (3):753–759
- Nichols GA, Hillier TA, Brown JB (2007) Progression from newly acquired impaired fasting glucose to type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 30(2):228–233
- Pan XR, Li GW, Hu YH, Wang JX, Yang WY, An ZX, Hu ZX, Lin J, Xiao JZ, Cao HB, Liu PA, Jiang XG, Jiang YY, Wang JP, Zheng H, Zhang H, Bennett PH, Howard BV (1997) Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance: the Da Qing IGT and diabetes study. Diabetes Care 20(4):537–544
- Pankow JS, Kwan DK, Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Couper DJ, Golden S, Ballantyne CM (2007) Cardiometabolic risk in impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes Care 30(2):325–331
- Perreault L, Bergman BC, Playdon MC, Dalla Man C, Cobelli C, Eckel RH (2008) Impaired fasting glucose with or without impaired glucose tolerance: progressive or parallel states of prediabetes? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 295(2):E428–E435
- Qiao Q, Hu G, Tuomilehto J et al (2003) Age- and sex-specific prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in 11 Asian cohorts. Diabetes Care 26 (6):1770–1780
- Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Mary S, Mukesh B, Bhaskar AD, Vijay V, Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme (IDPP) (2006) The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). Diabetologia 49(2):289–297
- Rasmussen SS, Johansen NB, Witte DR, Borch-Johnsen K, Sandbaek A, Lauritzen T, Jørgensen ME (2016) Incidence of register-based diabetes 10 years after a stepwise diabetes screening programme: the ADDITION-Denmark study. Diabetologia 59(5):989–997
- Saito T, Watanabe M, Nishida J, Izumi T, Omura M, Takagi T, Fukunaga R, Bandai Y, Tajima N, Nakamura Y, Ito M, Zensharen Study for Prevention of Lifestyle Diseases Group (2011) Lifestyle modification and prevention of type 2 diabetes in overweight Japanese with impaired fasting glucose levels: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 171 (15):1352–1360
- Salazar MR, Carbajal HA, Espeche WG, Leiva Sisnieguez CE, March CE, Balbín E, Dulbecco CA, Aizpurúa M, Marillet AG, Reaven GM (2013) Comparison of the abilities of the plasma triglyceride/high-density lipoprotein cholesterol ratio and the metabolic syndrome to identify insulin resistance. Diab Vasc Dis Res 10 (4):346–352

- Soderberg S, Zimmet P, Tuomilehto J, de Courten M, Dowse GK, Chitson P, Stenlund H, Gareeboo H, Alberti KG, Shaw J (2004) High incidence of type 2 diabetes and increasing conversion rates from impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance to diabetes in Mauritius. J Intern Med 256 (1):37–47
- Soulimane S, Simon D, Shaw J, Witte D, Zimmet P, Vol S, Borch-Johnsen K, Magliano D, Vistisen D, Balkau B (2012) HbA1c, fasting plasma glucose and the prediction of diabetes: Inter99, AusDiab and D.E.S.I.R. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 96(3):392–399
- Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HAW, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, Hadden D, Turner RC, Holman RR (2000) Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. Br Med J 321(7258):405–412
- Tabák AG, Jokela M, Akbaraly TN, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M, Witte DR (2009) Trajectories of glycaemia, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion before diagnosis of type 2 diabetes: an analysis from the Whitehall II study. Lancet 373(9682):2215–2221
- Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M (2012) Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. Lancet 379(9833):2279–2290
- Torgerson JS, Hauptman J, Boldrin MN, Sjöström L (2004) XENical in the prevention of diabetes in obese subjects (XENDOS) study: a randomized study of orlistat as an adjunct to lifestyle changes for the prevention of type 2 diabetes in obese patients. Diabetes Care 27(1):155–161
- Toshihiro M, Saito K, Takikawa S, Takebe N, Onoda T, Satoh J (2008) Psychosocial factors are independent risk factors for the development of Type 2 diabetes in Japanese workers with impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance. Diabet Med 25 (10):1211–1217
- Toumillehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hämäläinen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louheranta A, Rastas M, Salminen V, Uusitupa M, Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study Group (2013) Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 344 (18):1343–1350
- Unwin N, Shaw J, Zimmet P, Alberti KGMM (2002) Impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycaemia: the current status on definition and intervention. Diabet Med 19(9):708–723
- Vaccaro O, Ruffa G, Imperatore G, Iovino V, Rivellese AA, Riccardi G (1999) Risk of diabetes in the new diagnostic category of impaired fasting glucose: a prospective analysis. Diabetes Care 22(9):1490–1493
- Wen J, Xue T, Huang Y et al (2017) Is β-cell aging involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes? J Diabetes 9 (7):707–716

- WHO (2006) Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia: report of a WHO/IDF consultation. WHO, Geneva
- WHO (2011) Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: abbreviated report of a WHO consultation, No. WHO/NMH/CHP/CPM/11.1. WHO, Geneva
- Wilson ML (2017) Prediabetes: beyond the borderline. Nurs Clin North Am 52(4):665–677
- Wolf K, Bongaerts BWC, Schneider AA, Huth C, Meisinger C, Peters A, Schneider A, Wittsiepe J, Schramm KW, Greiser KH, Hartwig S, Kluttig A, Rathmann W (2019) Persistent organic pollutants and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in the CARLA and KORA cohort studies. Environ Int 129:221–228
- Wu Y, Ding Y, Tanaka Y, Zhang W (2014) Risk factors contributing to type 2 diabetes and recent advances in the treatment and prevention. Int J Med Sci 11 (11):1185–1200
- Yeboah J, Bertoni AG, Herrington DM, Post WS, Burke GL (2011) Impaired fasting glucose and the risk of incident diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular events in an adult population: MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). J Am Coll Cardiol 58(2):140–146
- Yip WCY, Sequeira IR, Plank LD, Poppitt SD (2017) Prevalence of pre-diabetes across ethnicities: a review of impaired fasting glucose (IFG) and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) for classification of dysglycaemia. Nutrients 9(11):1273



Oleosins: A Short Allergy Review

Emilia Majsiak, Magdalena Choina, Karolina Miśkiewicz, Zbigniew Doniec, and Ryszard Kurzawa

Abstract

In patients having a history of anaphylaxis after consumption of peanuts, sunflower seeds, or soy and skin or blood tests negative for the allergen extracts, oleosins could be the culprit. Oleosins are common and largely underestimated allergy inducers of plant origin, causing severe allergy symptoms, including the anaphylactic shock. They are resistant to high temperatures and digestive enzymes. The consumption of heat-treated oleosins has been associated with a higher risk of a severe anaphylactic reaction. Recent studies have shown that oleosins could be a biomarker of the allergy severity to peanuts. Oleosins have a hydrophobic structure and thus, are poorly

Polish-Ukrainian Foundation of Medicine Development, Lublin, Poland

e-mail: e.majsiak@interia.pl

M. Choina

Polish-Ukrainian Foundation of Medicine Development, Lublin, Poland

K. Miśkiewicz and Z. Doniec

Department of Pneumonology of the National Research Institute for Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Regional Branch in Rabka-Zdrój, Rabka-Zdrój, Poland

R. Kurzawa

Department of Allergology and Pneumonology of the National Research Institute for Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Regional Branch in Rabka-Zdrój, Rabka-Zdrój, Poland soluble in aqueous solutions. The aqueous extraction, separation, and purification procedures do not guarantee their solubility. Oleosins dissolve only in the presence of detergents, which limits their use in both in vivo and in vitro allergy tests. Recently, a multiparameter allergy test that detects the allergen-specific immunoglobulin E (sIgE) against oleosins has become available. This capability may help to unravel the presence of oleosin source during the routine diagnostic of allergy, which is conducive to assessing the risk for severe anaphylaxis and may also help to clarify the ambiguous allergy cases.

Keywords

Allergy · Anaphylaxis · Biomaker · Diagnostic tests · Oleosin · sIgE

1 Introduction

The consumption of peanuts, one of the most common allergen, may cause a severe anaphylactic reaction (Kleine-Tebbe and Jakob 2017). Allergy symptoms can be provoked by a minute quantity of peanuts (Blom et al. 2013). The early diagnosis of peanut allergy may prevent a severe anaphylactic reaction. Astonishingly, in some patients with symptoms and history of allergy to peanuts or other seeds like sesame and hazelnut, the skin prick test (SPT) and the identification of

E. Majsiak (🖂)

Collegium Medicum, Cardinal Stefan Wyszynski University, Warsaw, Poland





specific immunoglobulins E (sIgE) against allergen extracts may not firmly establish the sensitization (Ehlers et al. 2019; Schwager et al. 2017). Double-blind placebo-controlled food challenges are necessary in such cases. This type of examination is expensive and potentially dangerous for the patient, as it may result in anaphylactic shock. Recent advances in the molecular diagnostics, based on the in vitro detection of a serum sIgE level against allergen molecules, offer a way to resolve such difficult cases. That also includes allergy to traces of peanuts and other seeds in ingested food where the oleosin family of molecules might be responsible for the unexplained allergy symptoms.

Oleosins are plant-derived proteins with the molecular weight ranging from 15 kDa to 24 kDa. These protein molecules are constituents of oil bodies known as oleosomes that store triglycerides as an energy source during the germination process of seeds like peanuts, hazelnuts, walnuts. almonds, soybeans, sesame and rapeseeds (Zuidmeer-Jongejan et al. 2014). The central part of the oleosome consists of a hydrophobic domain referred to as a core, built of 72 amino acids, the longest known hydrophobic domain. The N-terminal domains, present on the outer ring, are either hydrophilic or amphipathic, whereas the C-terminal domain is always amphipathic. Oleosins, due to a unique structure, stabilize the oleosomes, preventing them from coalescence (Fig. 1). Oleosins are common energy storage proteins in plants. The first identified oleosin has been a peanut protein

(Pons et al. 2002). Since then a few more peanut oleosin allergens have been discovered, such as Ara h 10, Ara h 11, Ara h 14, and Ara h 15. The hazelnut oleosin allergens are Cor a 12, Cor a 13, and Cor a 14. The sesame seeds contain the molecules Ses i 4 and Ses i 5, belonging to the oleosin family (Jappe et al. 2019). The general characteristics of oleosins are presented in Table 1.

The hydrophobic nature of oleosins makes them hardly soluble in aqueous solutions (Ehlers et al. 2017; Schwager et al. 2017). Therefore, the use of oleosins in both in vivo and in vitro allergen testing is limited, unless a detergent is added to the system (Scala et al. 2018). An important feature of oleosins is the resistance to heat and digestion. There is a biological plausibly that stability of the oleosins' structure is conducive to their high potential of evoking allergy symptoms, including anaphylactic shock (Kleine-Tebbe and Jakob 2017).

2 Clinical Implications

Schwager et al. (2017) have investigated the capacity of sIgE to bind with Ara h 10/11 and Ara h 14/15 in the serum of patients who experienced a severe anaphylactic reaction after eating peanuts. The authors found that sIgE was tightly attached to the molecules from roasted but not raw peanuts. The control group was formed by patients who were sensitized to peanuts but tolerated them and patients who were not

Table 1	Summary of oleosins'	features in nuts and seed,	, the proteins of 15-24 kI	Da accumulating on the	e surfaces of oil
bodies					

Peanut: Ara h 10, Ara h 11, Ara h14, and Ara h 15
Hazelnut: Cor a 12, Cor a 13, and Cor a 14
Sesame: Ses i 4 and Ses i 5
Highly resistant to heat and digestion
Hydrophobic
Lipid soluble, which make them elude common extraction, separation, and purification procedures
Patients sensitized to oleosins from one kind of seeds are likely to be cross-sensitized to oleosins from other sources, which is explicable by the presence of the identical amino acid sequence in C-terminal
Induction of sIgE in the blood is responsible for allergy symptoms after consumption of oleosin-containing food
Food processing at high temperature, e.g., roasting, is associated with a higher risk of allergic symptoms
Introduction of the detection of sIgE against oleosins into the routine diagnostic tests would facilitate the risk assessment for anaphylaxis and help explain unequivocal symptomatic cases linked to consumption of seed-containing food

Oleosins are a candidate biomarker of allergic symptom severity to peanuts; the most widely consumed nuts

sensitized to peanuts. In both groups, serum sIgE failed to bind either to molecules derived from raw or roasted peanuts. Then, the basophil activation test was performed with peanut molecules that belong to the oleosin family. In the test, higher reactivity was noticed when oleosins from roasted peanuts were used, which was particularly evident in patients with a history of severe allergic symptoms. The explanation of these findings might be that the process of roasting deprives oleosins of a protective effect of lipids, which delays the peanut digestion (Kleine-Tebbe and Jakob 2017). Consequently, the consumption of oleosins that underwent thermal processing may increase the risk of severe anaphylaxis. Studies performed with sesame seeds and hazelnuts have also confirmed that consumption of thermally processed seeds facilitates the development of allergy symptoms (Zuidmeer-Jongejan et al. 2014; Leduc et al. 2006). Therefore, there appears a consistent impression that the most relevant explanation of severe anaphylactic reaction in peanut allergy is the presence of sIgE against oleosins in the serum (Schwager et al. 2017; Ballmer-Weber et al. 2015).

The risk assessment of severe anaphylaxis in peanut allergy seems essential since this kind of allergy is widespread. Every fourth patient sensitized to peanuts has sIgE against oleosins in the serum. Moreover, sensitization to oleosins is more common among children than among adults (Datema et al. 2015). Therefore, the introduction of oleosins into the routine diagnostic tests would significantly improve the diagnostics and would help tailor the therapeutic recommendations to the sensitization profile of a patient. The only one test allowing the detection of sIgE against oleosins is a third-generation multiparameter ALEX2[®] that reveals if the patient is sensitized to the peanut oleosin Ara h 15.

Regarding peanut allergy, another important aspect concerning the molecules Ara h 8 (a representative of PR-10 group) and Ara h 9 (belonging to nsLTP) should be mentioned. In a raw peanut, these molecules are affiliated with lipids that protect the proteins from enzymemediated digestion in the intestinal tract (Jappe et al. 2019). A connection between Ara h 8 and lipids explains why mono-sensitization against this molecule is responsible for peanut tolerance or mild allergic symptoms. There is evidence that roasting and long-term storage of peanuts causes oxidation of the protective lipids attached to Ara h 8, which leads to structural changes in the molecule or the formation of other compounds. Hence, resistance to heat and digestion resistance of the molecule is reduced and sIgE against Ara h 8 becomes more reactive (Bublin et al. 2014). Enhanced sIgE binding to antigens after roasting has also been noticed for other peanut molecules such as Ara h 9, Ara h 12, and Ara h 13. The last two of these molecules belong to the family of defensins (Jappe et al. 2019).

3 Cross-Reactions with Oleosins of Different Origin

As revealed in a study involving 423 patients, who lived in the European cities and were sensitized to hazelnuts, sensitization to oleosins is a common occurrence, ranging from 10% to 25% of the population (Datema et al. 2015). Referring to the cross-reactivity, the authors observe that sensitization to Cor a 12, a hazelnut oleosin, correlates with sensitization to fat-rich sesame and sunflower seeds. There also is crosssensitivity to pollen from various plants and latex. In light of this report, the question arises of whether sensitization to pollen oleosins can result in IgE-mediated reactions caused by oleosins from seeds. Genetic analysis of oleosins might give a deeper insight into this issue. It has been shown that pollen oleosins evolved from seeds oleosins, but their N-terminal domain is shorter while the C-terminal domain is more built out. It means that there is little similarity between pollen and seed oleosins, except for the hydrophobic core. Since the core is thought to be non-antigenic, cross-reactivity between pollen and seed oleosins is rather unlikely to happen (Jappe and Schwager 2017).

Schwager et al. (2017) have formed a different hypothesis to explain cross-reactions in patients sensitized to oleosins, based on the analysis of a structure of rAra h 15 molecules in peanuts. The authors show that an amino acid sequence in the C-terminal domain of this molecule displays the highest IgE-binding affinity. It appears that the same sequence is present in oleosins from other seeds such as hazelnut, rapeseed, soybeans, sesame, and almond. Therefore, cross-reactions with oleosins from various seeds are more likely to happen in the serum of patients who are sensitized to oleosins from a seed source. Paraphrasing, patients who are sensitized to oleosins from a specific seed are more likely to have allergy symptoms after eating other seeds due to crossreactions.

Jappe and Schwager (2017) have failed to show the association between sensitization to seed oleosins and pollen, investigating 74 peanutallergic patients from northern Germany. However, the authors suggested that oleosins could be regarded as a marker of symptoms severity in peanut allergy. They also found that 52 out of the 53 patients, who experienced an anaphylactic reaction after the consumption of peanuts, had sIgE against oleosins in the blood. The remaining 21 sensitized patients had neither appreciable symptoms related to peanut consumption nor sIgE against oleosins. Sensitization could result from the cross-reaction of immunoglobulins against other peanut and pollen allergen molecules. Pollen is rather doubtful as the oleosin-sensitized patients experienced first symptoms of genuine peanut allergy in childhood, which was unaccompanied by pollen allergy at the time. The lack of sIgE against peanut oleosins in the sensitized patients also puts into question the cross-reactivity with oleosins originating from other seeds. However, other possibilities remain as oleosins show sensitization pattern akin to profilins and cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (Datema et al. 2015).

4 Benefits from Introducing Oleosins into Routine Allergy Diagnostic Tests

The development of new methods of extraction of allergen molecules extends the understanding of the mechanisms of allergic reactions. There appears a consensus that oleosins underlie the allergy to peanuts and other seeds. Therefore, these molecules should be included in routine diagnostic tests, with benefits to patients, as peanuts are considered wholesome and their consumption is ubiquitous. Peanuts are also the most common sensitizing allergens, often provoking dire health effects in the form of anaphylactic shock. The detection of sIgE against oleosins could help assess the risk of anaphylaxis. Moreover, the molecular diagnostics of sensitization against oleosins would enable the avoidance of troublesome and potentially dangerous food challenges in patients with a history of anaphylactic reaction after the contact with seeds and in

those with unequivocal results of skin prick test or sIgE against allergen extracts in vitro.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

References

- Ballmer-Weber BK, Lidholm J, Fernández-Rivas M, Seneviratne S, Hanschmann KM, Vogel L, Bures P, Fritsche P, Summers C, Knulst AC, Le TM, Reig I, Papadopoulos NG, Sinaniotis A, Belohlavkova S, Popov T, Kralimarkova T, de Blay F, Purohit A, Clausen M, Jedrzejczak Czechowcz M, Kowalski ML, Asero R, Dubakiene R, Barreales L, Clare Mills EN, van Ree R, Vieths S (2015) IgE recognition patterns in peanut allergy are age dependent: perspectives of the EuroPrevall study. Allergy 70:391–407
- Blom WM, Vlieg-Boerstra BJ, Kruizinga AG, van der Heide S, Houben GF, Dubois AE (2013) Threshold dose distributions for 5 major allergenic foods in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:172–179
- Bublin M, Eiwegger T, Breiteneder H (2014) Do lipids influence the allergic sensitization process? J Allergy Clin Immunol 134:521–529
- Datema MR, Zuidmeer-Jongejan L, Asero R, Barreales L, Belohlavkova S, de Blay F, Bures P, Clausen M, Dubakiene R, Gislason D, Jedrzejczak-Czechowicz M, Kowalski ML, Knulst AC, Kralimarkova T, Le TM, Lovegrove A, Marsh J, Papadopoulos NG, Popov T, Del Prado N, Purohit A, Reese G, Reig I, Seneviratne SL, Sinaniotis A, Versteeg SA, Vieths S, Zwinderman AH, Mills C, Lidholm J, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Fernandez-Rivas M, Ballmer-Weber B, van Ree R (2015) Hazelnut allergy across Europe dissected

molecularly: a EuroPrevall outpatient clinic survey. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136:382–391

- Ehlers AM, Rossnagel M, Brix B, Blankestijn MA, Le TM, Suer W, Otten HG, Knulst AC (2019) Sesame oleosins are minor allergens. Clin Transl Allergy 28:9–32
- Jappe U, Schwager C (2017) Relevance of lipophilic allergens in food allergy diagnosis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 17:61
- Jappe U, Schwager C, Schromm AB, González Roldán N, Stein K, Heine H, Duda KA (2019) Lipophilic allergens, different modes of allergen-lipid interaction and their impact on asthma and allergy. Front Immunol 10:122
- Kleine-Tebbe J, Jakob T (2017) Molecular allergy diagnostics. Innovation for a better patient management. Springer Nature Switzerland AG, Cham. ISBN: 978-3-319-42498-92020
- Leduc V, Moneret-Vautrin DA, Tzen JT, Morisset M, Guerin L, Kanny G (2006) Identification of oleosins as major allergens in sesame seed allergic patients. Allergy 61:349–356
- Pons L, Chery C, Romano A, Namour F, Artesani MC, Guéant JL (2002) The 18 kDa peanut oleosin is a candidate allergen for IgE-mediated reactions to peanuts. Allergy 57(Suppl 72):88–93
- Scala E, Villalta D, Meneguzzi G, Giani M, Asero R (2018) Storage molecules from tree nuts, seeds and legumes: relationships and amino acid identity among homologue molecules. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 50:148–155
- Schwager C, Kull S, Behrends J, Rockendorf N, Schocker F, Frey A, Homann A, Becker WM, Jappe U (2017) Peanut oleosins associated with severe peanut allergy-importance of lipophilic allergens for comprehensive allergy diagnostics. J Allergy Clin Immunol 140:1331–1338
- Zuidmeer-Jongejan L, Fernández-Rivas M, Winter MG, Akkerdaas JH, Summers C, Lebens A, Knulst AC, Schilte P, Briza P, Gadermaier G, van Ree R (2014) Oil body-associated hazelnut allergens including oleosins are underrepresented in diagnostic extracts but associated with severe symptoms. Clin Transl Allergy 4:4



Shortage of Physicians: A Critical Review

Jacek Lorkowski and Agnieszka Jugowicz

Abstract

A recent report of the Organization for Eco-Co-operation and Development nomic (OECD) points out an insufficient number of physicians in Europe. The issue seems especially relevant in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic. In this review, based on papers found in the PubMed database, we drew on the available information on the aspects of medical education and terms and rate of employment of physicians to submit potential solutions of how to increase the availability of physicians in Europe. We offer the following improvements in tackling the issue: (i) standardization of the method of verification of the number of physicians in practice for a meaningful comparison between European states; (ii) managerial reorganization of medical education to increase the flexibility of teaching; (iii) education shortening, e.g., to 4 years, for nurses, paramedics, and the like; (iv) circumscription of unnecessary health records and the use of artificial intelligence to streamline the recording system to ease the burden on the medical staff.

A. Jugowicz Smart Practical Logic Co., Cracow, Poland

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Hospital \ management \cdot Medical \ policy \cdot \\ Medical \ study \cdot Shortage \ of \ physicians \end{array}$

1 Introduction

One of the biggest challenges of modern Europe is its aging population, which in upcoming decades will introduce a heavy burden on healthcare systems and economies. European states have achieved spectacular success in prolonging human life, with the average lifespan going currently beyond 80 years of age. Simultaneously, the total fertility rate, i.e., the average number of children born to a woman over her lifetime, has declined below the standard generational replacement level of 2.1. In Germany, this rate oscillates around 1.6 and, with 28% of the population being over 60, it faces a catastrophe that requires to add the fifth level to the demographic development model. In the aging society, providing enough physicians and nurses has become a primary concern. A recent report of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) points to an insufficient and declining number of physicians in Europe. That seems especially relevant in the light of the recent COVID-19 pandemic (Barcelona Field Studies Center 2020; Macrotrends 2020; UN 2020; Eurostat Statistics Explained 2019). Therefore, we set out in this

J. Lorkowski (🖂)

Department of Orthopedics, Traumatology, and Sports Medicine, Central Clinical Hospital of Ministry of Internal Affairs and Administration, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: jacek.lorkowski@gmail.com

review to critically address the challenges related to a shortage of physicians and suggest possible solutions that could enhance the availability of physicians in Europe. The review is based on the articles concerning the physician shortage in Europe appearing in the PubMed database as of June 18, 2020. The search was conducted using the term "physician shortage", which returned 4328 publications. The OECD statistics concerning healthcare resources and health status in European countries were also considered.

2 European Countries Facing a Shortage of Physicians

An overwhelming majority of publications state that there is a serious shortage of physicians in Europe and that it is going to increase with time. However, the discussion should begin with a careful analysis of how the total number of physicians is estimated. The real problem might lie in the uneven distribution of medical personnel in particular countries and areas. Discrepancies are especially visible when it comes to urban and rural areas. It is also imperative to consider the aging of the physician population (WHO 2020; European Data Journalism Network 2018). In 2012, the European Commission forecast a possible two million shortage of medical personnel, a vague statement itself. In 2018, the main highlighted problems were a shortage of general practitioners despite the increasing number of doctors per capita in the EU, and the expected decline in the availability of healthcare in rural areas (OECD 2018; European Commission 2012).

The first problem is a variety of ways in which the total number of physicians is calculated in different countries. In Greece, which supposedly has the largest numbers of doctors per capita standing at 6.3 doctors *per* 1000 population, or Portugal at 4.4 doctors *per* 1000 population, data include all the licensed physicians, also those who moved abroad. This way of assessment strongly contrasts the OECD's definition of "practicing physician". Thus, analysts assume that the overestimation in Portugal could be as big as 1/3 of the officially provided value. In the case of Slovakia with 3.4 doctors *per* 1000 population, the Netherlands with 3.4 *per* 1000 population, and France with 3.3 *per* 1000 population, the official data incorporate not only the physicians directly taking care of patients, but also those working as university scholars, researchers, and even managers, which increases the statistics by 5–10%. The over- or underestimation of the actual number of physicians in the EU is a significant hindrance to the true problem assessment (OECD 2020).

The EU Commission assessment of the number of physicians is based on OECD's statistical forecasts. Therefore, a universal definition of "practicing physician" would render the crosscountries assessment more precise and reliable. For instance, doctors who analyze in silico orthopedic implants are not considered practicing physicians, as they have no direct contact with patients. On the other hand, doctors working abroad are usually included in the overall number of physicians in the country that they had left and all too often in the country of current abode and work.

While analyzing the statistics, it is impossible to overlook the problem of a "brain drain" in Europe. Despite the increasing number of physicians, a 5% growth between 2010 and 2020, compared to an average 3% growth in other occupational groups, uneven distribution of medical school graduates presents a challenge to the current system. Staggering differences in the remuneration of doctors inside the EU, from several hundred euro a month in Estonia or Romania to 4000 or more euro in western and northern Europe, promote an exodus of young physicians from East to West and South to North. Estonia had 4312 practicing physicians in 2004, since then over 1800 of them have applied for the recognition of qualifications abroad. Considering that most of the migrating doctors are young people, another problem becomes intensified, notable the aging of doctors' population, let alone the population at large (Berthier 2018; Hervey 2017).

There are other factors worth considering. The European Commission's report shows that an average doctor sees 2147 patients every year –

679 in Sweden, 3457 in Hungary, and 3311 in Slovakia. It would be worthy of narrowing these statistics down, looking at regional distribution in a country, targeting the overwhelmed general practices, and establishing how many physicians are needed in a particular place. A low density of physicians in rural areas, i.e., with the population below 150 people per kilometer squared, is one of the leading problems pointed out by the European Commission. The situation is especially alarming in Finland, Germany, Czechia, France, and Slovakia. Encouraging young physicians to work in rural areas, particularly in places where they have no personal ties, is an issue throughout Europe. Some of the methods implemented to battle this problem include financial help in funding general practices and promoting applications to medical schools from students with a rural background. An interesting example is a shortened 4-year-long graduate medicine program offered by the University of Dundee in Scotland, whose aim is to enthuse potential general practitioners about working in rural areas (OECD 2018, 2020; University of St. Andrews 2020; Wilhelmi et al. 2018; European Commission 2012).

The next question that needs to be addressed is the age of practicing physicians. In 2009, around 30% of all European doctors were 55 years old or above, which is a consistent trend associated with the "baby boom" generation reaching the retirement age. An estimated percentage of physicians older than 55 years old in Europe has risen from 28% in 2007 to 38% in 2017. The countries where healthcare systems are especially jeopardized by this tendency include Germany, France, and Italy where doctors within this age group make up almost half of the entire occupational group. In comparison, the UK only has 14% of physicians above the age of 55, which might be caused by the fact that almost 25% of the country's doctors come from abroad, and young physicians from all over Europe are prone to seek employment in the UK (Eurostat Statistics Explained 2019; Triggle 2016).

There is a different side of the problem. It can be argued that older physicians with longer professional experience will be sought-after in the aging society, as seniors might feel more comfortable to confide in them rather than in young graduates. At the same time, it is crucial to remember that the role of general practitioners is fundamentally different from the one of neurosurgeons who perform intricate procedures requiring immaculate dexterity. A solution for the uneven distribution of physicians between rural and urban areas could be to encourage older doctors to move to the countryside, especially when they are reluctant to continue their careers in demanding clinical specialties due to cognitive and physical decline. Research conducted by McMaster University in the city of Hamilton in Ontario, Canada, as part of the Physician Review and Enhancement Program (PREP) shows that along with physician's increasing age, the chances of involuntary oversight of patients' needs are significantly rising. Some of the negative outcomes where more advanced age plays a role include non-comprehensive history taking, incomplete data gathering, and leaving out details in patient records. However, the same study also shows that older physicians perform better at accurate diagnosing (Eva 2002).

3 Specialization Trends Among Doctors in the Light of Shortages

Other notable issues are shortages in particular specializations and general practitioners despite the rising number of physicians. Most European doctors are specialists, their ratio to general practitioners is 3.2 to 1.0, nearly 12 to 1 in Greece, a trend that has remained unchanged for a decade, but some specialty gaps are yet unfilled. For instance, France faces shortages of obstetricians and gynecologists, while Bulgaria or Spain deal with an insufficient number of anesthesiologists or psychiatrists (WHO 2020; Eurostat Statistics Explained 2019; European Commission 2012). The analysis of graduates' choices regarding their potential specialization is a complex problem. In the UK, the National Health Service regularly evaluates the specialization trends among young doctors. According to the 2016 study, 27.8% of the interviewed graduates declared their first choice to be general practice, followed by anesthesiology (12.1%), pediatrics (8.6%), general medicine (8.5%), and emergency medicine (5.6%). However, further years have shown decreasing interest in choosing a general practice, and a rise of interest in anesthesiology, radiology, and psychiatry (Wilhelmi et al. 2018).

A simple glance at data does not show the full scope of the problem. A report by the National Health Service emphasizes that the percentage of graduates planning to pursue a career in general practice makes up less than half of the UK's demand. Voices can be heard about dramatic shortages in the radiology sector, with as much as one-third of all radiologists in the UK being foreigners. Special recruitment actions have been organized to increase interest, with limited success. The Royal College of Radiologists highlights that the uncertainty caused by Brexit, with the expected difficulties of acquiring visas and transferring families to the UK, may have an impact on the foreign physician's willingness to fill up the openings. Currently, almost 99% of the UK's radiology departments cannot meet imaging and X-ray demands (European Union of Medical Specialists 2019; Lambert et al. 2018; Lambert and Goldacre 2011).

4 Methods of Widening Access to Medical Studies

Widening access to medical studies might yet be the most reliable way to prevent the physician shortage. Currently, there are several ways of getting a medical license in Europe. The most common in continental Europe is enrolling in a 6-year-long program of medical courses. This is an MD program with no specialization. There are three study cycles in France, two of which – PCEM and DCEM (Première/Deuxième Cycle des Études Médicales) – collectively last 6 years, with the third one focusing on specialization. A similar approach is popular among medical schools in Germany, Finland, Italy, and Poland. The UK offers a 5-year-long bachelor's program in medicine leading to the degree of Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS), after which graduates receive a temporary license. The next step is the Foundation Program, lasting 1–2 years, allowing to apply to the General Medical Council (GMC) for a permanent license. An alternative option is receiving a 4-year-long postgraduate diploma in Graduate Entry Medicine. Its equivalent in continental Europe is offered by some countries, like Poland and Czechia, but created mostly to attract foreign students, and requiring tuition fees while the regular 6-year-long program is free in these countries (Balan 2020; Killingbeck 2013).

The last model shows a lot of potential in terms of reducing the physician shortage in Europe. Although often criticized, for instance, the Portugal Medical Association describes it as being of doubtful quality and unnecessary, it widens access to medical studies. It can be argued that the 6-year-long study often does not seem like the right career choice for high school graduates. The choice may also be hampered by the entry exams obligatory in many European countries, which makes it difficult to gain reallife experience in the healthcare environment before applying. Deciding to pursue a physician's education path might seem overwhelming at a young age. Instead, high school graduates often settle for Biological or Medical Sciences. It is a reasonable assumption that a degree in a related discipline could be a sufficient foundation for an accelerated program in medicine. Thus, creating the possibility of an accelerated tuition-free 4-year-long medical study, taught in English in most European medical schools, would be a step toward mitigating a downtrend in the number of physicians (Martinho 2012). The implementation of this idea might lead to more students graduating with a medical degree. Moreover, the knowledge and skills of biologists or biomedical scientists, whose job prospects in some of the European countries are off-putting, would greatly supplement their medical training, allowing the society to benefit from extensively educated graduates.

5 New Technologies in Aid of Limiting a Shortage of Physicians

The volume of health records grows every year. A study carried out in 2016 shows that doctors use 27% of their work time directly interacting with their patients, compared to 49% of the time spent on filling in health records. Solving this problem requires an in-depth verification of the currently existing system of the accumulation of health records and erasure of the duplicated or redundant elements. Improvements in the electronic health system could limit the load of documentation, and by doing so, increase the amount of time available for spending with the patient. Extensive research has been conducted showing that modern technologies, like artificial intelligence (AI), can limit the post-surgery complications, so much as by one-third, significantly decreasing direct and indirect costs of treating patients, but also saving the medical personnel's time. The AI is already utilized in the healthcare field as a useful tool for scheduling appointments, online check-ins, or reminder texts for check-ups. There have been cases where AI systems outperformed experienced physicians in diagnosing diseases, especially when basing on visual data, such as classifying skin deformations or tuberculosis on chest radiographs. Although even the most advanced technologies cannot completely replace physicians in the nearest future, benefiting from its time-saving abilities could improve the efficiency of European healthcare systems (Amisha et al. 2019; Vinanzi et al. 2019; Jiang et al. 2017; Lorkowski and Wilk 2017).

6 Conclusions

The physician shortage Europe faces right now appears a complex and somewhat paradoxical issue, considering the growing numbers of medical graduates. Solutions proposed in this article could help increase the number of physicians in the sought-after specializations and rural areas. Suggested solutions are as follows:

- International standardization of the method of estimating the number of practicing physicians.
- The shortage of physicians in Europe, both general practitioners and specialists, should be verified using the counting methods presented by the European Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).
- Key issues are the aging of the physician population and an inflexible organization of medical schools.
- It could be beneficial to introduce medical studies of shorter duration, for instance, 4 years long, for nurses, paramedics, and biological/medical science graduates in European countries.
- A circumscription of the overload of medical records using the artificial intelligence-based methods would enable physicians to devote more time to patients, the mission they are charged with.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

Funding This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Amisha MP, Pathania M, Rathaur VK (2019) Overview of artificial intelligence in medicine. J Family Med Prim Care 8(7):2328–2331
- Balan RS (2020) What are the entry requirements for medical schools in Europe and the US? https://www. mastersportal.com/articles/1801/what-are-the-entryrequirements-for-medical-schools-in-europe-and-theus.html. Accessed on 17 Aug 2020
- Barcelona Field Studies Center (2020) Demographic Transition Model. https://geographyfieldwork.com/ DemographicTransition.htm. Accessed on 22 June 2020
- Berthier D (2018) Europe faces a shortage of doctors. https://voxeurop.eu/en/europe-faces-a-shortage-ofdoctors. Accessed on 20 June 2020

- European Commission (2012) Commission staff working document on an action plan for the EU health workforce. https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/ workforce/docs/staff_working_doc_healthcare_work force_en.pdf. Accessed on 26 June 2020
- European Data Journalism Network (2018) Europe has a shortage of doctors. https://www. europeandatajournalism.eu/eng/News/Data-news/ Europe-has-a-shortage-of-doctors#:~:text=As%20for %20Italy%2C%20it%20could,of%20230%2C000% 20doctors%20by%202020. Accessed on 20 June 2020
- European Union of Medical Specialists (2019) Specialty in Europe. https://www.uemsradiology.eu/specialty-ineurope/. Accessed on 23 June 2020
- Eurostat Statistics Explained (2019) Population structure and aging. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Population_structure_and_age ing. Accessed on 21 June 2020
- Eva KW (2002) The aging physician: changes in cognitive processing and their impact on medical practice. Acad Med 77(10 Suppl):S1–S6
- Hervey G (2017) The EU exodus: when doctors and nurses follow the money. Politico. https://www.politico.eu/ article/doctors-nurses-migration-health-care-crisisworkers-follow-the-money-european-commissiondata/. Accessed on 21 June 2020
- Jiang F, Jiang Y, Zhi H, Dong Y, Li H, Ma S, Wang Y, Dong Q, Shen H, Wang Y (2017) Artificial intelligence in healthcare: past, present and future. Stroke Vasc Neurol 2(4):230–243
- Killingbeck R (2013) So you want to be a medical student in Europe? Ulster Med J 82(2):126
- Lambert T, Goldacre M (2011) Trends in doctors' early career choices for general practice in the UK: longitudinal questionnaire surveys. Br J Gen Pract 61(588): e397–e403
- Lambert TW, Smith F, Goldacre MJ (2018) Career specialty choices of UK medical graduates of 2015

compared with earlier cohorts: questionnaire surveys. Postgrad Med J 1110(94):191–197

- Lorkowski J, Wilk R (2017) Nonmedical aspect of working time of resident doctors in Poland related to the creation of medical records. Ostry Dyz 10(4):100–107
- Macrotrends (2020) Germany fertility rate 1950–2020. https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/DEU/ germany/fertility-rate. Accessed on 22 June 2020
- Martinho AM (2012) Becoming a doctor in Europe: objective selection systems. Virtual Mentor 14(12):984–988
- OECD (2018) Health at a glance. Europe 2018: state of health in the EU cycle. https://doi.org/10.1787/health_ glance_eur-2018-en. Accessed on 21 June 2020
- OECD (2020) Health status. https://stats.oecd.org/Index. aspx?ThemeTreeId=9#. Accessed on 23 June 2020
- Triggle N (2016) Student doctor numbers to rise by 25%. BBC. https://www.bbc.com/news/health-37546360. Accessed on 22 June 2020
- UN (2020) Population Division Publications. https:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/ publications/index.asp. Accessed on 22 June 2020
- University of St. Andrews (2020) Scotgem MBChB. https://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/subjects/medicine/ scotgem-mbchb/. Accessed on 24 June 2020
- Vinanzi S, Patacchiola M, Chella A, Cangelosi A (2019) Would a robot trust you? Developmental robotics model of trust and theory of mind. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374(1771):20180032
- WHO (2020) Health topics: data and statistics. https:// www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-systems/ health-workforce/data-and-statistics. Accessed on 20 June 2020
- Wilhelmi L, Ingedae F, Steinhaeuser J (2018) What leads to the subjective perception of a 'rural area'? A qualitative study with undergraduate students and postgraduate trainees in Germany to tailor strategies against physician's shortage. Rural Remote Health 18(4):4694



Fluid Therapy in Patients Undergoing **Abdominal Surgery: A Bumpy Road Towards Individualized Management**

Szymon Czajka, Konstanty Marczenko, Martyna Włodarczyk, Anna J. Szczepańska, Marek Olakowski, Sławomir Mrowiec, and Łukasz J. Krzych

Abstract

Prudent intraoperative fluid replacement therapy, inotropes, and vasoactive drugs should be guided by adequate hemodynamic monitoring. The study aimed to evaluate the single-centre practice on intraoperative fluid therapy in abdominal surgery (AS). The evaluation, based on a review of medical files, included 235 patients (103 men), aged 60 ± 15 years who underwent AS between September and November 2017. Fluid therapy was analyzed in terms of quality and quantity. There were 124 high-risk patients according to the American Society of Anaesthesiologists Classification (ASA Class 3+) and 89 high-risk procedures performed. The median duration of procedures was 175 (IQR 106-284) min. Eleven patients died post-operatively. The median fluids volume was 10.4 mL/kg/h of anaesthesia, including 9.1 mL/kg/h of crystalloids and 2.7 mL/kg/h of synthetic colloids. Patients undergoing longer than the median procedures received significantly fewer fluids than those who underwent shorter procedures. The volume of fluids in the longer procedures depended on the procedural risk classification and was significantly greater in high-risk patients undergoing high-risk surgery. Patients who died received significantly more fluids than survivors. In all patients, a non-invasive blood pressure monitoring was used and only six patients had therapy guided by metabolic equilibrium. The fluid therapy used was liberal but complied with the recommendations regarding the type of fluid and risk-adjusted dosing. Hemodynamic monitoring was suboptimal and requires modifications. In conclusion, the optimization of intraoperative fluid therapy requires a balanced and standardized approach consistent with treatment procedures.

Keywords

Abdominal surgery · Fluid replacement therapy \cdot Hemodynamic monitoring \cdot Intraoperative condition · Surgical risk

S. Czajka (🖂), A. J. Szczepańska, and Ł. J. Krzych Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, School of Medicine in Katowice, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

e-mail: szymon_czajka@wp.pl

K. Marczenko, M. Olakowski, and S. Mrowiec Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, School of Medicine in Katowice, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

M. Włodarczyk

Students' Scientific Society, Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, School of Medicine in Katowice, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

1 Introduction

More than 300 million surgical procedures are performed worldwide every year, and the number is constantly growing due to increasing clinical needs, ageing population, and the development of surgical techniques (WHO 2020; Rose et al. 2015). Patients undergoing major surgery are at high risk of increased postoperative morbidity and mortality. The practice regarding fluid balance is crucial for the safe and effective intraoperative management of patients. The definition of the optimal intravenous fluid dose is still undetermined. The physician's approach to intraoperative fluid therapy is customarily described as liberal or restrictive. However, the insurance of hemodynamic stability requires constant control and verification of patient's needs, which is defined as personalized or goal-directed therapy.

Recent research has highlighted probable harmful effects of excessive administration of intravenous fluids, particularly in the elderly, patients with high comorbidity burden, and those undergoing extensive surgery (Raghunathan et al. 2015; Lobo and Awad 2014; Prowle et al. 2014; Varadhan and Lobo 2010; Walsh and Walsh 2005). The Enhanced Recovery Partnership and National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommend the fluid quality and quantity adjustment to the patient and procedure-related conditions. The goal-directed therapy aims at providing an oxygen carrier and adequate regional flow to optimize tissue perfusion. Cardiac output measurement during this therapy seems particularly relevant in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery (Saugel and Reuter 2018; Montenij et al. 2014). However, the mini-fluid challenge is often indicated as administering fluids just to increase rather than optimize stroke volume may lead to adverse complications. Excess fluid, particularly in abdominal surgery (AS), may accumulate in the lungs causing hypoxia, in the digestive tract causing nausea, delay the return of bowel motility, or decrease the stability of intestinal anastomoses (Wright et al. 2014; Kulemann et al. 2013; Marjanovic et al. 2009). Rational fluid therapy requires continuous monitoring. According to NICE and Enhanced-Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) recommendations, anaesthetists should be agile in using cardiac output measuring technologies in the intraoperative period (NICE 2013; Mythen et al. 2012; Tote and Grounds 2006). Nonetheless, the organizational and economic issues may hamper the compliance of intraoperative hemodynamic monitoring with the standards required by guidelines (Vincent et al. 2015; Cannesson et al. 2011). Fluid overloading remains prevalent in surgical patients, even in hospitals where the ERAS program has been introduced (Boersema et al. 2014; Warrillow et al. 2010). The UK authorities have recommended that all hospitals should have an intraoperative fluid protocol (NICE 2013). The first step in setting up a centre-specific protocol is to assess the current practice, including requirements, drawbacks, and possibilities. Therefore, in this study, we set out to evaluate the singlecentre practice on intraoperative fluid therapy in patients undergoing AS, verify the methods used to guide therapy, and assess the possible influence of fluid regimen on treatment outcomes.

2 Methods

This study was based on the evaluation of medical files of 235 patients (103 men, 44%), aged 60 ± 15 years who underwent AS between September and November 2017. Reoperations were excluded. The variables assessed consisted of sex, age, body mass index (BMI), and type and duration of anaesthesia. The global procedural risk was assessed using the Surgical Mortality Probability Model (S-MPM) (Glance et al. 2012). This model has been developed for non-cardiac patients and includes the patient risk according to the American Society of Anaesthesiologists (ASA) physical status (ASAPS) classification system, procedural risk according to the European Society of Cardiology/European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESC/ESA) guidelines, and the emergency of a procedure. The S-MPM predicts the risk of early death in three classes: Class I – expected mortality <0.5%, Class II – expected mortality 1.5–4%, and Class III – expected mortality >10%. Patient confidentiality was ensured as the database was fully anonymized. The guidelines for reporting observational studies defined in the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement were applied in the study (von Elm et al. 2008).

Data on intraoperative fluid administration were evaluated concerning the quality (balanced crystalloids, saline, or colloids) and quantity (mL/kg/h of anaesthesia), including the fluids used as drug solvents. Systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial blood pressure (BP) and heart rate (HR) were evaluated at 5-min intervals before the induction, during the procedure, and postoperatively. The modified Aldrete score was used to assess post-anaesthesia care and the safety of patient discharge from the operating theatre. The prevalence of in-hospital death was part of the early prognostication.

Continuous data were expressed as medians and interquartile ranges (IQR). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to verify data distribution. Categorical data were expressed as counts and percentages. Inter-group differences between continuous variables were assessed using the Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis test. A Chi² test was used to assess differences between categorical variables. Correlations were assessed using the Spearman rank correlation coefficients. A p-value <0.05 defined the statistical significance of differences. The analysis was performed using a commercial MedCalc Statistical package v18.1 (Ostend, Belgium).

3 Results

One hundred and forty-nine (63.4%) patients were assigned to Class I according to the S-MPM scale, 67 (28.5%) to Class II, and 19 (8.1%) to Class III. The high-risk category included 124 (52.8%) patients, according to their functional status (i.e., ASA-PS Class 3+ or 3E) and 89 (38.0%) procedures (i.e., those with

>5% procedural risk, according to ESC/ESA). Detailed characteristics of the study group and procedure-related parameters are depicted in Table 1. The median duration of anaesthesia was 175 (IQR 106–284) min. Two hundred and four patients (87.0%) scored on the Aldrete scale \geq 9 points on discharge from the operating theatre. Eleven patients (4.7%) patients died during the initial hospitalization. The mortality rates in consecutive S-MPM classes were: 0.7%, 9%, and 21.1%, respectively. Detailed characteristics of performed procedures are depicted in Table 2.

The median fluid volume, irrespective of anaesthesia duration, was 10.4 (IQR 7.4-14.8) mL/kg/h. It was 9.1 (IQR 6.4-13.1) mL/kg/h for crystalloids [incl. 8.5 (IQR 5.6-11.0) mL/kg/h for balanced crystalloids and 0.9 (IQR 0.6-1.6) mL/kg/h for physiological saline], and 2.7 (IQR 1.7-3.8) mL/kg/h for synthetic colloids. In the shorter procedures of <175 min of anaesthesia duration, the median fluid volume was 11.5 (IQR 8.4–19.7) mL/kg/h. It was 11.0 (IQR 7.7-17.9) mL/kg/h for crystalloids [incl. 10.0 (IQR 6.6-16.0) mL/kg/h for balanced crystalloids and 1.0 (IQR 0.0-1.7) mL/kg/ h for physiological saline]. In the longer procedures of >175 min of anaesthesia, the median fluid volume was significantly lower, amounting to 9.4 (IQR 7.0-12.6) mL/kg/h (Fig. 1), which was 7.6 (IQR 5.9-10.5) mL/kg/h for crystalloids [incl. 7.0 (IQR 5.0-9.2) mL/kg/h for balanced crystalloids and 0.6 (IQR 0.3-1.0) mL/kg/h for physiological saline] and 0.9 (IQR 0.0-2.3) mL/kg/h for synthetic colloids.

Although a total dose of administered fluids did not differ between the risk categories according to S-MPM, the patients who survived received significantly less fluid replacement than those who died [median fluid volume – 10.2 (IQR) 7.0-10.2) and 17.1 (IQR 14.0–21.4) mL/kg/h, respectively; p = 0.001]. This difference in fluid replacement between survivors and non-survivors concerned both crystalloids and colloids (Fig. 2). In the longer procedures, the fluid volume was higher in S-MPM Class II and Class III than in Class I (p = 0.01) (Fig. 3). Patients who died received more fluids only in case of longer procedures (p = 0.004).

A greater than 100 mL intraoperative bleeding was reported in 75 patients. The median volume of lost blood in these subjects reached 500 (IQR

		n (%)
Variable		Median (IQR)
Sex	Male	103 (44.0%)
	Female	132 (56.0%)
Age (years)	Median (IQR)	60 (46–67)
	<60	115 (48.9%)
	≥60	120 (51.1%)
BMI (kg/m ²)	Median (IQR)	26 (22–29)
	Underweight (<18.5)	15 (6.4%)
	Normal (18.5–25.0)	87 (37.0%)
	Overweight (≥ 25)	133 (56.6%)
ASA-PS	Class I	25 (10.6%)
	Class II	98 (41.7%)
	Class III	91 (38.7%)
	Class IV	20 (8.5%)
	Class V	1 (0.5%)
	Class VI	0 (0.0%)
	Emergency surgery – E	34 (14.5%)
Patient-risk category (ASA-PS)	Low risk (class 1–2)	111 (47.2%)
	High risk (class 3–5 or E)	124 (52.8%)
Procedural-risk category (ESC/ESA)	Low	53 (22.5%)
	Moderate	93 (39.5%)
	High	89 (38.0%)
S-MPM	Class I	149 (63.4%)
	Class II	67 (28.5%)
	Class III	19 (8.1%)
Time of anaesthesia (min)	Median (IQR)	175 (108–283)
	Shorter (<175 min.)	114 (48.5%)
	Longer (≥175 min.)	121 (51.5%)
Type of anaesthesia	General anaesthesia	227 (96.6%)
	TIVA	3 (1.3%)
	Regional anaesthesia	3 (1.3%)
	Local anaesthesia	2 (0.8%)
Hospitalization length (days)	Median (IQR)	6 (2–10)
	Shorter (< 6 days)	108 (46.0%)
	Longer (≥ 6 days)	127 (54.0%)
Mortality		11 (4.7%)

Table 1 Patients' characteristics

BMI body mass index, *ASA-PS* American Society of Anaesthetists (ASA) physical status classification, *ESC/ESA* European Society of Cardiology/European Society of Anaesthesiology, *IQR* interquartile range, *S-MPM* Surgical Mortality Probability Model, *TIVA* Total intravenous anaesthesia

225–675) mL. A volume of lost blood was associated with the administered volumes of red blood cells concentrate (RBCC) (r = 0.63; p < 0.001), fresh frozen plasma (FFP) (r = 0.45; p < 0.001), and colloids (r = 0.50; p < 0.001). RBCC was transfused in 16 and FFP in 11 patients. Patients with higher intraoperative blood loss were more likely to belong to

ASA-PS Class 3+ (p < 0.01). There was an inverse association between BMI and the total fluid dose (r = -0.40; p < 0.01). The volume of fluids was independent of the sex or age of patients.

Blood pressure was monitored non-invasively in 229 (97%) and invasively in 6 (3%) patients, with fluid therapy guided by the arterial-blood gas

Type of surgery	n (%)	Anatomical area	n (%)
Distal pancreatectomy	24 (10.2%)	Pancreas	61 (26.0%)
Pancreatoduodenectomy	21 (8.9%)	_	
Total pancreatectomy	4 (1.7%)	_	
Pancreatic cyst surgery	12 (5.1%)	_	
Palliative biliary/gastric bypass surgery	8 (3.4%)	Stomach	19 (8.1%)
Subtotal/total gastrectomy	11 (4.7%)		
Oesophagectomy	9 (3.8%)	Oesophagus	9 (3.8%)
Cholecystectomy	33 (14.0%)	Gallbladder/biliary tract	33 (14.0%)
Appendectomy	9 (3.8%)	Appendix	9 (3.8%)
Small intestine resection	5 (2.1%)	Incision, excision, and anastomosis of	39 (16.6%)
Restoration of gastrointestinal	9 (3.8%)	intestine	
continuity			
Hemicolectomy	10 (4.3%)		
Sigmoidectomy	15 (6.4%)		
Proctectomy	8 (3.4%)	Rectum, rectosigmoid, and perirectal tissue	13 (5.5%)
Perianal abscess	5 (2.1%)		
Pancreas/biliary biopsy	4 (1.7%)	Open biopsy	6 (2.6%)
Lymph node biopsy	2 (0.9%)	_	
Hernia repair surgery	31 (13.2%)	Hernia repair	31 (13.2%)
Pelvic tumour surgery	2 (0.9%)	Other abdominal areas	15 (6.4%)
Intraperitoneal abscess/eventration	10 (4.3%)	_	
Splenectomy	3 (1.3%)		
Total	235 (100%)		235 (100%)

Table 2 Distribution of patients by surgical procedures. Open surgery was performed in 178 (75.7%) of cases and laparoscopic surgery in 57 (24.3%) of cases

Fig. 1 Total fluid replacement by the length of anaesthesia during abdominal surgery. Circles denote outlier observations and squares denote extreme observations; *Me* median, *IQR* interquartile range



Anesthesia duration (min)


Fig. 2 Total crystalloid (**a**) and colloid (**b**) fluid replacements in patients who survived or died during the hospital stay. Circles denote outlier observations and

squares denote extreme observations; *Me* median, *IQR* interquartile range



Fig. 3 Total fluid replacement in abdominal surgery lasting for more than 175 min by the Surgical Mortality Probability Model (S-MPM) class. Circles denote outlier

observations and squares denote extreme observations; *Me* median, *IQR* interquartile range

content (2% S-MPM Class I, 1.5% Class II, and 10.5% Class III patients). In 100 patients (42.6%), central venous pressure was directly measured. Central venous access was established more frequently in high-risk patients undergoing

high-risk procedures (p < 0.01) and in procedures lasting \geq 175 min (p < 0.01). The central venous catheter was placed in 32.2%, 59.7%, and 63.7% of patients in S-MPM Class I, II, and III, respectively (p < 0.01).

4 Discussion

The main goal of the study was to evaluate intraoperative fluid therapy and its monitoring in a tertiary hospital. We revealed that although fluid therapy was rather liberal, it was adjusted to the risk and duration of a procedure. The monitoring was mainly based on a non-invasive assessment of mean blood pressure. It is worthwhile to note that patients who died in the hospital received more fluids, whereas the S-MPM class-scale was unreliable in predicting the volume of fluids administered. Nonetheless, the observational nature of the study made it impossible to draw cause-effect conclusions.

Intraoperative haemodynamic optimization using fluid therapy has been long since discussed by international clinical bodies. The first issue to focus on is the selection of fluid. It has been documented that the fluids of choice are crystalloids, especially those balanced or buffered (Feldheiser et al. 2016). The physiological saline should be used with caution as its irrational use is associated with an increased risk of hypernatremia, hyperchloremia, metabolic acidosis, and acute kidney injury (Myles et al. 2017; Lobo and Awad 2014). In the present study, we followed the recommendations to this end and used physiological saline mainly as a drug solvent. The use of synthetic colloids is still debatable and their role in intraoperative medicine remains to be verified by the PHOENICS (Prospective, randomized, controlled, double-blind, multi-centre, multinational study on the safety and efficacy of a 6% Hydroxyethyl starch sOlution versus an Electrolyte solutioN In patients undergoing eleCtive abdominal Surgery) study scheduled to be completed in July 2020 (Wittenstein et al. 2018).

Balanced intraoperative fluid therapy is essential as both fluid overload and underload could adversely affect treatment outcomes (Bellamy 2006). Recently, a combination of patient-tailored therapy with precise hemodynamic management protocols (PPPHM) has been postulated (Saugel and Vincent 2019). The development of surgical techniques has significantly reduced bleeding and fluid loss by evaporation from the abdominal cavity during surgery (Miller and Myles 2019). The implementation of the enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocols, which aims at the preoperative correction of fluid deficits, judicious fluid withdrawal before anaesthesia, and the maintenance of fluid balance close to zero, prescribes a restrictive approach to intraoperative fluid therapy, although the matter is somehow contentious. The large multi-centre RELIEF study has demonstrated a relationship between restrictive fluid therapy and a greater incidence of acute kidney injury (Myles et al. 2018). Likewise, Brandstrup (2018)has suggested that a moderately liberal fluid therapy protocol is safer than a restrictive one. Thus, it is recommended to maintain an overall positive fluid balance of 1 L to 2 L, which corresponds to a crystalloid fluid volume of 10 mL/kg/h to 12 mL/kg/h during extensive surgical procedures (Miller and Myles 2019). Our present results are consistent with this recommendation, especially as the delivery of fluids was risk-adjusted during long procedures.

Both NICE and ERAS guidelines emphasize the importance of proper intraoperative hemodynamic monitoring (i.e., cardiac output measurement) to ensure adequate tissue perfusion (Feldheiser et al. 2016; NICE 2013; Mythen et al. 2012). The selection of monitoring techniques in the surgical setting, especially in the context of body fluid maintenance, is debatable (Xu et al. 2018; Sun et al. 2017; Rollins and Lobo 2016). The OPTIMISE and FEDORA studies have shown a significant reduction in the risk of complications and shortened hospitalizations resulting from the implementation of targeted therapy (Calvo-Vecino et al. 2018; Pearse et al. 2014). The choice of a monitoring technique is determined by the patient's condition, estimated global perioperative risk, and organizational and economic possibilities. Referring to the physician's preferences, a study encompassing 368 European and American anaesthesiologists has demonstrated that 34% of them monitor cardiac output during anaesthesia and more than 80% of those who do use the central venous pressure measurement (Cannesson et al. 2011). Somehow in line with those data, the EuSOS study found that only 1 in 10 patients in Europe undergoing major abdominal surgery is monitored for cardiac output (Ahmad et al. 2015). Our present observation was that 100 (42.6%)patients had a central venous catheter placed to monitor venous pressure and another 6 (2.7%)had an arterial catheter placed to monitor realtime BP and blood lactate level. However, it looks that many more patients required such monitoring as almost one half were classified as ASA-PS Class 3 or higher and 38% of surgeries were high-risk procedures. Noticeably, broadened haemodynamic monitoring has been found both clinically beneficial and cost-effective. are Additional expenditures it requires compensated by limiting the costs of treatment of complications and reducing hospitalization length (Ebm et al. 2014). The in-hospital mortality rate in our study reached 4.7%, which appears consistent with the multi-centre cohort data on postoperative mortality in Europe (Pearse et al. 2012).

The present study has some limitations. First, our observations are from a single-centre, and only the patients were included who had abdominal surgery in the preceding 3 months. On the other side, homogeneity of the examined group enhanced the reliability of results obtained and allowed for standardization of intraoperative procedures performed. Second, there was a relatively small intraoperative blood loss in our patients making surgical bleeding of secondary importance in determining fluid therapy. Nevertheless, we considered transfused blood products in the volume calculation, including them among colloidal solutions. Third, the evaluation of fluid therapy did not cover pre- and post-operative conditions. Reliable monitoring and correction of fluid balance in the whole intraoperative period (i.e., from admission to discharge from the hospital) were made difficult by shared responsibilities in the process by anaesthetists, surgeons, and the patient's family caregivers. Fourth, haemodynamic monitoring in the operating theatre is pricey, which eventually takes a toll on the implementation of international recommendations to this end in less well-to-do societies.

In conclusion, we herein reviewed the principles of fluid replacement therapy in patients undergoing a spectrum of abdominal surgeries in a tertiary hospital in Poland. The therapy was liberal but complied with the international recommendations concerning the type of fluid. It consisted of balanced crystalloids and was adjusted to the intraoperative risk. Haemodynamic monitoring was suboptimal. Fluid replacement therapy requires optimization and a standardized approach consistent with treatment requirements.

Acknowledgements We thank Drs. Katarzyna Ziębińska and Barbara Posmyk for help in data collection.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval This review article is based on a backstage evaluation of anonymous medical files. Therefore, it is non-interventional and does not contain any studies with direct human participation.

References

- Ahmad T, Beilstein CM, Aldecoa C, Moreno RP, Molnár Z, Novak-Jankovic V, Hofer CK, Sander M, Rhodes A, Pearse RM (2015) Variation in hemodynamic monitoring for major surgery in European nations: secondary analysis of the EuSOS dataset. Perioper Med (Lond) 4:8
- Bellamy MC (2006) Wet, dry or something else? Br J Anaesth 97(6):755–757
- Boersema GSA, van der Laan L, Wijsman JH (2014) A close look at postoperative fluid management and electrolyte disorders after gastrointestinal surgery in a teaching hospital where patients are treated according to the ERAS protocol. Surg Today 44(11):2052–2057
- Brandstrup B (2018) Finding the right balance. N Engl J Med 378(24):2335–2336
- Calvo-Vecino JM, Ripollés-Melchor J, Mythen MG, Casans-Francés R, Balik A, Artacho JP, Martínez-Hurtado E, Serrano Romero A, Fernández Pérez C, Asuero de Lis S, FEDORA Trial Investigators Group (2018) Effect of goal-directed hemodynamic therapy on postoperative complications in low-moderate risk surgical patients: a multicenter randomised controlled trial (FEDORA trial). Br J Anaesth 120(4):P734–P744
- Cannesson M, Pestel G, Ricks C, Hoeft A, Perel A (2011) Hemodynamic monitoring and management in patients undergoing high risk surgery: a survey among North American and European anesthesiologists. Crit Care 15(4):R197

- Ebm C, Cecconi M, Sutton L, Rhodes A (2014) A costeffectiveness analysis of postoperative goal-directed therapy for high-risk surgical patients. Crit Care Med 42(5):1194–1203
- Feldheiser A, Aziz O, Baldini G, Cox BPBW, Fearon KCH, Feldman LS, Gan TJ, Kennedy RH, Ljungqvist O, Lobo D, Miller T, Radtke FF, Ruiz Garces T, Schricker T, Scott MJ, Thacker JK, Ytrebø LM, Carli F (2016) Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) for gastrointestinal surgery, part 2: consensus statement for anaesthesia practice. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 60(3):289–334
- Glance LG, Lustik SJ, Hannan EL, Osler TM, Mukamel DB, Qian F, Dick AW (2012) The surgical mortality probability model: derivation and validation of a simple risk prediction rule for noncardiac surgery. Ann Surg 255(4):696–702
- Kulemann B, Timme S, Seifert G, Holzner PA, Glatz T, Sick O, Chikhladze S, Bronsert P, Hoeppner J, Werner M, Hopt UT, Marjanovic G (2013) Intraoperative crystalloid overload leads to substantial inflammatory infiltration of intestinal anastomoses – a histomorphological analysis. Surgery 154(3):596–603
- Lobo DN, Awad S (2014) Should chloride-rich crystalloids remain the mainstay of fluid resuscitation to prevent 'pre-renal' acute kidney injury?: con. Kidney Int 86(6):1096–1105
- Marjanovic G, Villain C, Juettner E, zur Hausen A, Hoeppner J, Hopt UT, Drognitz O, Obermaier R (2009) Impact of different crystalloid volume regimes on intestinal anastomotic stability. Ann Surg 249 (2):181–185
- Miller TE, Myles PS (2019) Perioperative fluid therapy for major surgery. Anesthesiology 130(5):825–832
- Montenij L, de Waal E, Frank M, van Beest P, de Wit A, Kruitwagen C, Buhre W, Scheeren T (2014) Influence of early goal-directed therapy using arterial waveform analysis on major complications after high-risk abdominal surgery: study protocol for a multicenter randomized controlled superiority trial. Trials 15:360
- Myles PS, Andrews S, Nicholson J, Lobo DN, Mythen M (2017) Contemporary approaches to perioperative IV fluid therapy. World J Surg 41(10):2457–2463
- Myles PS, Bellomo R, Corcoran T, Forbes A, Peyton P, Story D, Christophi C, Leslie K, McGuinness S, Parke R, Serpell J, Chan MTV, Painter T, McCluskey S, Minto G, Wallace S, Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists Clinical Trials Network and the Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society Clinical Trials Group (2018) Restrictive versus liberal fluid therapy for major abdominal surgery. N Engl J Med 378(24):2263–2274
- Mythen MG, Swart M, Acheson N, Crawford R, Jones K, Kuper M, McGrath JS, Horgan A (2012) Perioperative fluid management: consensus statement from the enhanced recovery partnership. Perioper Med (Lond) 1:2
- NICE (2013) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Intravenous fluid therapy in adults in hospital.

Clinical guideline (CG174). https://www.nice.org.uk/ CG174. Accessed on 20 June 2019

- Pearse RM, Moreno RP, Bauer P, Pelosi P, Metnitz P, Spies C, Vallet B, Vincent JL, Hoeft A, Rhodes A, European Surgical Outcomes Study (EuSOS) group for the Trials groups of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine and the European Society of Anaesthesiology (2012) Mortality after surgery in Europe: a 7-day cohort study. Lancet 380(9847):1059–1065
- Pearse RM, Harrison DA, MacDonald N, Gillies MA, Blunt M, Ackland G, Grocott MP, Ahern A, Griggs K, Scott R, Hinds C, Rowan K, OPTIMISE Study Group (2014) Effect of a perioperative, cardiac output–guided hemodynamic therapy algorithm on outcomes following major gastrointestinal surgery. JAMA 311(21):2181–2190
- Prowle JR, Kirwan CJ, Bellomo R (2014) Fluid management for the prevention and attenuation of acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol 10(1):37–47
- Raghunathan K, Nailer P, Konoske R (2015) What is the ideal crystalloid? Curr Opin Crit Care 21(4):309–314
- Rollins KE, Lobo DN (2016) Intraoperative goal-directed fluid therapy in elective major abdominal surgery. Ann Surg 263(3):465–476
- Rose J, Weiser TG, Hider P, Wilson L, Gruen R, Bickler SW (2015) Estimated need for surgery worldwide based on prevalence of diseases: implications for public health planning of surgical services. Lancet Glob Health 3(Suppl 2):S13–S20
- Saugel B, Reuter DA (2018) Perioperative goal-directed therapy using invasive uncalibrated pulse contour analysis. Front Med (Lausanne) 5:12
- Saugel B, Vincent JL (2019) Protocolised personalised peri-operative hemodynamic management. Eur J Anaesthesiol 36(8):551–554
- Sun Y, Chai F, Pan C, Romeiser JL, Gan TJ (2017) Effect of perioperative goal-directed hemodynamic therapy on postoperative recovery following major abdominal surgery – a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Crit Care 21(1):141
- Tote SP, Grounds RM (2006) Performing perioperative optimization of the high-risk surgical patient. Br J Anaesth 97(1):4–11
- Varadhan KK, Lobo DN (2010) A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of intravenous fluid therapy in major elective open abdominal surgery: getting the balance right. Proc Nutr Soc 69(4):488–498
- Vincent JL, Pelosi P, Pearse R, Payen D, Perel A, Hoeft A, Romagnoli S, Ranieri VM, Ichai C, Forget P, Della Rocca G, Rhodes A (2015) Perioperative cardiovascular monitoring of high-risk patients: a consensus of 12. Crit Care 19(1):224
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative (2008) The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. J Clin Epidemiol 61(4):344–349

- Walsh SR, Walsh CJ (2005) Intravenous fluid-associated morbidity in postoperative patients. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 87(2):126–130
- Warrillow SJ, Weinberg L, Parker F, Calzavacca P, Licari E, Aly A, Bagshaw S, Christophi C, Bellomo R (2010) Perioperative fluid prescription, complications and outcomes in major elective open gastrointestinal surgery. Anaesth Intensive Care 38 (2):259–265
- WHO Total number of inpatient surgical procedures per year. https://gateway.euro.who.int/en/indicators/hfa_ 539-6031-total-number-of-inpatient-surgicalprocedures-per-year/. Accessed on 10 May 2020
- Wittenstein J, Pelosi P, de Abreu MG (2018) The European medicines agency and the authorization for hydroxyethyl starch containing solutions – killing the cow to get rid of ticks? Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim 46 (3):168–169
- Wright GP, Koehler TJ, Davis AT, Chung MH (2014) The drowning whipple: perioperative fluid balance and outcomes following pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Surg Oncol 110(4):407–411
- Xu C, Peng J, Liu S, Huang Y, Guo X, Xiao H, Qi D (2018) Goal-directed fluid therapy versus conventional fluid therapy in colorectal surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Surg 56:264–273



Manual Pressure Release and Low-Grade Electrical Peripheral Receptor Stimulation in Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Giovanni Barassi, Mieczyslaw Pokorski, Celeste Di Matteo, Marco Supplizi, Loris Prosperi, Vito Guglielmi, Alì Younes, Franco Della Rovere, and Angelo Di Iorio

Abstract

Chronic nonspecific low back pain is a frequent clinical condition affecting the general population and influencing disability level and quality of life. We performed a single-blinded, randomized, and controlled study to compare the effectiveness of manual pressure release (MPR) and electrical neuromodulation (ENM) treatments in the management of chronic low back pain. There were 20 patients with chronic low back pain randomly assigned to 6 treatment sessions with either technique. Both groups were treated for 2 days a week for 3 weeks. Myofascial trigger points (MTrPs) were identified and skin conductance, pressure-pain threshold, postural changes,

G. Barassi (⊠), C. Di Matteo, M. Supplizi, L. Prosperi, V. Guglielmi, A. Younes, and F. Della Rovere

Center for Physiotherapy, Rehabilitation and Reeducation (Ce.Fi.R.R.), Center of Sports Medicine, "G. d'Annnunzio" University, Chieti, Italy

M. Pokorski

e-mail: coordftgb@unich.it

Faculty of Health Sciences, The Jan Dlugosz University, Czestochowa, Poland

A. Di Iorio

and the Oswestry Disability Index were assessed before and after each treatment session, along with the protocol-end data compared against the baseline data in each group. We found an outstanding and about equal deactivation of MTrPs from pre- to posttreatment in both groups, reducing disability in patients with chronic low back pain. The study highlights the ENM as a reliable tool for the evaluation of MTrPs, given a high agreement with the MPR. The effect on the neuromuscular condition of treating the "key trigger points" found in this study advances the knowledge of medical rehabilitation.

Keywords

Electrical neuromodulation · Low back pain · Manual pressure release therapy · Myofascial trigger points · Rehabilitation · Skin receptor stimulation

1 Introduction

The pain between the costal margins and the folds of the lower gluteus muscle is defined as chronic nonspecific low back pain (LBP) when it is unrelated to clinical conditions such as osteoarthritis

Department of Medicine and Science of Aging; Center of Sports Medicine, "G. d'Annunzio" University, Chieti, Italy

of the facet joints, degenerative disc diseases, spinal stenosis, or musculoskeletal disorders (Iglesias-González et al. 2013). The prevalence of low back pain in the general population is roughly estimated at 10–60% depending on patient selection criteria (Cecchi et al. 2006). A highly variable prevalence may stem from turbid and still unsettled criteria defining the diagnosis of chronic low back pain (Cedraschi et al. 1999). The pain adversely affects the quality of life decreasing the functional status and limiting working agility, which causes a substantial economic burden (Di Iorio et al. 2007).

It has been proposed that myofascial trigger points (MTrPs), described as palpable hyperirritable nodules in a skeletal muscle or fascia (connective tissue), are involved in chronic low back pain pathways. These nodules are a source of pain (active) upon muscle action or when stimulated electrically or manually by compression (latent) 2015). Somatic impairment (Shah et al. accompanying chronic low back pain is characterized by myofascial and proprioceptive dysfunction present in peripheral dermatomes, with pain pointing to pathology in related nerve roots involving the central sensitization mechanism (Bellomo et al. 2016; Schäfer et al. 2009). Besides the use of palpation in the pain area, there are no accepted criteria to identify MTrPs. Recently, electrical neuromodulation, performed through an electro-neuro feedback device, an instrument characterized by biphasic sinusoidal signal, has been proposed as a treatment method concerning for dysfunction of MTrPs (Barassi et al. 2019; Bellomo et al. 2016).

Neural. immunologic, and endocrine properties of the skin create an integrated relay that modulates peripheral sensory and autonomous nervous systems, actuating the central sensitization mechanism. In pathological conditions, like chronic low back pain, the relay may alter the galvanic skin response (Jayanthi et al. 2015). The electrical neuromodulation converts the galvanic cutaneous variations in electrical signals, which represents a reliable index of the relationship between the neural system and biological structures such as muscles, joints, or viscera.

Postural abnormalities are frequently reported in association with chronic low back pain, despite the consensual lack of a definition of what is normal posture (Bassani et al. 2019; Pokorski et al. 2018). Such abnormalities come to light in static and dynamic postural analyses. For example, a Tanzanian case-control study has reported an anteversion of the pelvic angle and a postural thoracic kyphosis in subjects affected by low back pain when compared to control painless subjects (Tatsumi et al. 2019). Other studies have reported that spinopelvic motions might be altered during low back pain due to disturbed cerebral motor control of postural adjustment outpacing the arm movements (Sung et al. 2020; McDowell et al. 2018).

Based on the aforementioned considerations, the objectives of the present study were to evaluate the diagnostic concordance between the manual pressure-release (MPR) and instrumental electroneuromodulatory (ENM) treatments of dysfunctional somatic areas represented by key MTrPs and compare the effectiveness of these two rehabilitative intervention techniques in chronic low back pain treatment. The consideration was directed to postural assessment, ENM impedance, and pain and disability levels.

2 Methods

2.1 Patients and Study Design

This study was a single-center, single-blinded, randomized, 3-week, and two parallel arm clinical trial. It was conducted at the Center for Physiotherapy, Rehabilitation and Re-Education of the Center of Sports Medicine of the "G. d'Annnunzio" University in Chieti, Italy. There were 20 patients enrolled in the study (11 males and 9 females) diagnosed with chronic low back pain. The mean age of patients was 51.6 ± 5.0 years. They were randomly assigned to two intervention groups treated with MPR and ENM. The diagnosis was based on the presence of pain of light-to-moderate intensity between the costal margins and the inferior gluteal folds, continuously lasting for more than 1 month and variably present for at least 3 years before the enrollment. The sorting of chronic low back pain patients was based on the description provided in the work of Bardin et al. (2017). Exclusion criteria consisted of the presence of low back pain clearly associated with a diagnosis of radicular syndrome or lumbar disk herniation, a history of corticosteroid treatment, immunologic disorders, previous spinal surgery, spine trauma or fracture, bladder and bowel dysfunctions, weakness or loss of sensation in lower extremities, and a history of mental health disorders that could limit adherence to the study procedures. MTrPs were assessed pre-post treatment at each session while the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), computerized postural evaluation, and digital pressure algometry were performed at baseline before the first session and after the final session of the study.

2.2 Myofascial Trigger Points (MTrPs)

MTrPs detection and intervention were performed according to criteria described by Travell and Simons (1983). MTrPs were identified as palpable tense nodules or hyperirritable points in the taut band of a skeletal muscle. They were considered active when caused referred pain perceived at a location other than the site of the stimulus or inactive or latent when caused a focal muscle twitch or tenderness and stiffness on compression. The MTrPs assessment was conducted by two independent rehabilitators, each using both MPR and ENM treatments, in a blinded fashion after a 30-min patient's rest. The evaluation sequence between MPR and ENF was randomly determined to avoid a potential carryover effect. MPR and ENM interventions were used for peripheral stimulation of "key trigger points" identified as the points of the highest grade of dysfunctionality according to the greater first reaction value found by ENM and a greater change perceived by MPR in local tension associated with a reduction of motion range and pain. There were two sessions of treatment a week, each lasting for 30 min, for a total of 3 weeks, performed by the same rehabilitators. The clinical protocol was the same in both MPR and ENM groups.

2.3 Assessment of Low Back Pain

Disability Scale Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) was used to evaluate the low back pain disability. The score ranges from 0 to 100. The higher the score the greater is disability, with a score of 0–20 reflecting minimal disability.

Posture Postural balance was evaluated using a human motion capture system equipped with an RGB-IR (red, green, and blue-infra red) camera capable of capturing frames in 3D and Sa.B.B. Kinect® software (Microsoft Co, Redmond, Washington DC). The system provides both visual and functional information, using sensors capable of identifying 20 reference points of the patient's body in 20 s. The data are acquired in the upright position while the patient observes a reference point in front of him. The software works with a frequency of 30 frames per second and every single analysis has a total duration of 5 s, with an average acquisition of 150 frames. It creates a 3D avatar, called "visual skeleton", which is graphically represented in frontal and sagittal projections and quantifies the structural misalignment of the back-lumbar spine (Barassi et al. 2016).

Pressure-Pain Algometry The referred pressurepain threshold in MTrPs was evaluated on the lumbar dermatomes of the paraspinal, quadratus lumborum, and piriformis muscles using a digital pressure algometer (F-Meter; Storz Medical AG, Tägerwilen, Switzerland). The device was pointed locally in the region of interest, with step increases in the pressure of 200 g applied by the operator until the pain was evoked; the point marking the pressure-pain threshold.

2.4 Manual Pressure Release (MPR): Examination and Intervention

MTrPs were detected by palpation of muscle bellies, searching for tense nodules or hyperirritable points with a local or referred pain pathway. Patients were asked to relax in the supine position for 5 min, and then the following muscle points assessed: pectoralis major were bilaterally (C5-T1), rectus abdominis (T5-L1), rectus femoris (L2-L4), adductor magnus (L2-L5), tibialis anterior (L4-S1), adductor halluces (L4), quadratus plantae (L5), and abductor quinti digiti (S1). Subsequently, the position was changed to prone and the other muscle points were assessed: splenius cervicis, upper and lower trapezius (C2-C4), paraspinal longissimus dorsi (T10-L5), quadratus lumborum (T12-L3), gluteus (L5-S2), gastrocnemius, soleus, and hamstrings (L4-S1). After the MTrPs were detected, a gentle and sustained local pressure was applied on them with a finger, usually for no more than 30 s, up to the moment of muscle relaxation.

2.5 Electrical Neuromodulation (ENM): Examination and Intervention

The two-electrode ENM device (ENF-Studio Physio; Fast Therapies S.r.l.; Carpenedolo, Italy) applied low-electrical biphasic, sinusoidal, damped impulses, similar in morphology to the ECG, delivered by two surface electrodes. Skin impedance was recorded avoiding the interference of feedback peripheral and central adaptative processes. The first reaction value was computed for every MTrPs and a map of detections was done. The first reaction is a dimensionless parameter expressing an increased electrical conductivity of the skin. In a trial experiment performed in the MPR group, therapeutic effects of ENM could be divided into three separable phases: (1) severe pain relief lasting for about 3 min, capable of desensitizing the nociceptors of the dysfunctional area and reducing pain perception; (2) muscle

decontracting lasting for about 5 min, producing relaxation of muscle fibers; and (3) superficial draining lasting for 3 min, causing the outflow of extracellular imbibition in the MTrPs.

All measurements were done in duplicate and the average was taken as a final result.

2.6 Statistical Elaboration

Concordance Between Manual Pressure Release (MPR) and Electrical Neuromodulation (ENM) Treatments The concordance between the two methods was assessed using Kendall's tau coefficient and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI). Moreover, considering the manual examination as a reference, a logistic model was used to graph receiver operating curve (ROC) curves, with adjustments for session and intervention.

Clinical Trial Analysis Data were expressed as mean \pm SD, and as counts and frequencies. The linear mixed model was used to analyze variations in the values of the muscle first reaction, ODI, pressure-pain algometry, and postural misalignment in the pre-post session in either intervention group. The model enhances the precision of repeated measurement analysis by using all combined information that also includes missing data (Singer 1998). Statistical tests were two-sided, and a p-value <0.05 defined the significance of differences. The analysis was conducted using a commercial SAS v9.4 statistical package (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

3 Results

3.1 Concordance Between Manual Pressure Release (MPR) and Electrical Neuromodulation (ENM) Treatments

Out of the 4080 dermatome evaluations (6 sessions for 20 patients for 34 areas related to 34 muscles assessed), a close agreement was

found between MPR and ENM interventions concerning the identification of two most dysfunctional (key) MTrPs that required treatment. These sites were identified in different investigated muscles in each patient; Kendall's tau was 0.70 (95%CI: 0.65-0.75; p < 0.001) and did not change appreciably when weighted by the number of sessions. For the MPR, used as a gold standard, the area under the ROC curve amounted to 0.85, with the adjustments for treatment and session. In detail, a complete agreement between the two methods was achieved in 3824 (93.7%) muscle assessments while the remaining 256 (6.3%) were non-concordant assessments.

3.2 Clinical Trials

The pre-post treatment data on the first reaction value in 17 muscle dermatomes obtained from the MPR and ENM evaluations are reported in Table 1. We mostly found insignificant differences between the two intervention groups concerning

Table 1 Myofascial trigger points (MTrPs) in muscle dermatomes assessed as the first reaction value during the ENM evaluation in patients (n = 20) with nonspecific low back pain at baseline (pre) and after (post) the last treatment session of the manual pressure release (MPR) and electrical neuromodulation (ENM) interventions

	MPR		ENM				
Muscle dermatomes	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	p-value ¹	p-value ²	p-value ³
Pectoralis major (C5-T1)	5.98 ± 0.41	2.36 ± 0.50	3.31 ± 0.50	3.47 ± 0.55	0.110	<0.001	0.260
Rectus abdominis (T5-L1)	5.45 ± 0.57	2.52 ± 0.58	3.90 ± 0.60	3.26 ± 0.59	0.380	0.050	0.480
Rectus femoris (L2-L4)	3.01 ± 0.36	1.43 ± 0.35	2.78 ± 0.38	2.72 ± 0.37	0.006	0.020	0.005
Adductor magnus (L2-L5)	3.31 ± 0.35	1.95 ± 0.36	1.89 ± 0.38	1.97 ± 0.38	0.990	0.040	0.040
Tibialis anterior (L4-S1)	3.18 ± 0.35	1.53 ± 0.35	2.90 ± 0.37	1.98 ± 0.36	0.310	0.240	<0.001
Adductor allucis (L4)	7.68 ± 0.78	2.33 ± 0.80	4.86 ± 0.80	6.58 ± 0.85	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.980
Abductor quinti digiti (S1)	3.87 ± 0.75	1.75 ± 0.74	6.15 ± 0.75	6.74 ± 0.79	<0.001	0.050	0.007
Quadratus lumborum (T12-L3)	5.01 ± 0.98	2.17 ± 0.98	8.64 ± 1.04	6.29 ± 1.03	0.003	0.800	0.030
Splenius cervicis (C2-C4)	13.18 ± 1.08	3.30 ± 1.84	12.12 ± 1.15	5.03 ± 1.14	0.250	0.200	0.110
Upper trapezius (C2-C4)	6.97 ± 0.80	2.61 ± 0.79	9.74 ± 0.85	5.14 ± 0.84	0.030	0.880	0.190
Lower trapezius (C2-C4)	4.00 ± 0.63	2.10 ± 0.61	7.98 ± 0.66	3.69 ± 0.67	0.080	0.070	0.280
Paraspinal/ longissimus dorsi (T10-L5)	6.80 ± 0.79	2.52 ± 0.80	8.22 ± 0.84	3.65 ± 0.82	0.330	0.870	0.980
Gluteus (15-S2)	5.70 ± 0.76	1.83 ± 0.76	7.67 ± 0.80	3.62 ± 0.80	0.100	0.870	0.060
Hamstrings (L4-S1)	4.18 ± 0.64	2.03 ± 0.63	5.94 ± 0.67	2.62 ± 0.68	0.480	0.320	0.005
Gastrocnemius (L4-S1)	7.40 ± 0.74	1.57 ± 0.75	2.27 ± 0.79	1.72 ± 0.79	0.040	<0.001	0.350
Soleus (L4-S1)	3.62 ± 0.38	1.63 ± 0.38	3.21 ± 0.40	1.67 ± 0.39	0.940	0.540	0.030
Quadratus plantae (L5)	12.52 ± 0.94	3.10 ± 0.94	8.81 ± 0.99	3.54 ± 0.99	0.740	0.030	0.400

Data are means \pm SD

p-value¹—comparison between the MPR and ENM intervention groups

p-value²—interaction between pre-post effects in each single session and intervention group

p-value³—interaction between pre-post (baseline vs. after 6 treatment sessions) and intervention group

	MPR		ENM				
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	p-value ¹	p-value ²	p-value ³
ODI score	27.6 ± 2.9	8.6 ± 2.9	20.3 ± 3.0	9.7 ± 3.0	0.700	0.007	0.120

Table 2 Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) at baseline (pre) and after the last treatment session (post) of the manual pressure release (MPR) and electrical neuromodulation (ENM) interventions

Data are means ±SD

p-value¹—comparison between the MPR and ENM intervention groups

p-value²—comparison between the pre-post treatment time in either group

p-value³—interaction between treatment time (baseline vs. after 6 treatment sessions) and intervention group

Table 3 Pressure-pain threshold assessed with a digital pressure algometer at baseline (pre) and after the last treatment session (post) of manual pressure release (MPR) and electrical neuromodulation (ENM) interventions. Each unit of pressure-pain threshold corresponds to a weight of 200 g

	MPR $(1 = 200 \text{ g})$		ENM $(1 = 20)$	0 g)			
Muscle dermatomes	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	p-value1	p-value ²	p-value ³
Paraspinal right	15.3 ± 2.9	24.8 ± 2.9	16.8 ± 2.90	26.6 ± 2.9	0.640	0.020	0.960
Paraspinal left	15.0 ± 3.3	25.6 ± 3.3	16.4 ± 3.2	26.7 ± 3.3	0.810	0.030	0.960
Quadratus lumborum right	13.4 ± 2.7	24.4 ± 2.7	12.4 ± 2.7	16.3 ± 2.7	0.050	0.230	0.130
Quadratus lumborum left	14.8 ± 3.6	27.7 ± 3.5	12.1 ± 3.5	18.9 ± 3.5	0.050	0.090	0.270
Piriformis right	13.4 ± 3.4	19.0 ± 3.5	14.9 ± 3.4	28.6 ± 3.5	0.030	0.001	0.160
Piriformis left	12.6 ± 3.0	21.6 ± 3.1	17.0 ± 3.0	29.6 ± 3.1	0.050	0.003	0.520

p-value¹—comparison between the MPR and ENM intervention groups

p-value²—comparison between the pre-post treatment time in either group

p-value³—interaction between treatment time (baseline vs. after 6 treatment sessions) and intervention group

the general treatment efficacy for the following muscles: tibialis anterior, splenius cervicis, upper trapezius, lower trapezius, paraspinal/longissimus dorsi, gluteus, and the soleus. However, there were significant interactions between the intervention groups and the pre-post treatment effects in each single session in dermatomes of the following muscles: pectoralis major (<0.001), rectus abdominis (p 0.050), rectus femoris = (p = 0.020), adductor magnus (p = 0.040), adductor allucis (p < 0.001), abductor quinti digiti (p = 0.050), gastrocnemius (p < 0.001), and the quadratus plantae (p = 0.030). In all these dermatomes, the MPR resulted in a greater increase in the pre-post pressure-pain threshold than the ENM did. Besides, there was a significant interaction between the intervention groups and the pre-post changes taking the six treatment sessions together in the following dermatomes: rectus femoris (p = 0.005), adductor magnus (p = 0.040), tibialis anterior (p < 0.001), abductor quinti digiti (p = 0.007), quadratus lumborum (p = 0.030), hamstrings (p = 0.005), and the soleus (p = 0.030).

Table 2 compares the ODI score in patients subjected to MPR and ENM interventions at baseline and after the study ending session. Overall, the patients showed minimal-to-moderate disability at baseline, with inappreciable differences between the intervention groups. A significant score reduction was demonstrated after the last session in both groups (p = 0.007).

The level of pain was assessed at baseline and after the sixth ending session in both intervention groups, using a pressure algometer. Data were obtained bilaterally on three muscles: paraspinal, quadratus lumborum, and piriformis. There was a significant increase in the minimum pressure (strength) needed to induce pain, bilaterally, for the dermatomes referable to the paraspinal and piriformis muscles, regardless of the intervention type, with inappreciable differences for the interaction between the time of treatment (pre-post) and the intervention group (Table 3).

Finally, there were no significant differences between the two treatments concerning the postural asymmetry measured at bis-acromial, bis-iliac, and patellar levels and expressed as the

	MPR (°)		ENM (°)				
Joint level	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	p-value ¹	p-value ²	p-value ³
Bis-acromial line	1.5 ± 0.3	0.8 ± 0.3	1.3 ± 0.3	1.0 ± 0.3	0.760	0.440	0.550
Bis-iliac line	1.4 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.3	0.7 ± 0.3	0.130	0.330	0.500
Patellar line	5.9 ± 2.5	5.1 ± 2.5	7.4 ± 2.4	4.8 ± 2.4	0.930	0.410	0.680

Table 4 Postural changes assessed with a human motion capture system at baseline (pre) and after the last treatment session (post) of the manual pressure release (MPR) and electrical neuromodulation (ENM) interventions

p-value¹—comparison between the MPR and ENM intervention groups

p-value²—comparison between the pre-post treatment time in either group

p-value³—interaction between treatment time (baseline vs. after 6 treatment sessions) and intervention group

inclination angle of the line passing through the center of each joint at the level referring to the ideal horizontal line (Table 4).

4 Discussion

This study highlights the ENM as a reliable tool for the evaluation of MTrPs in patients with chronic low back pain, given a high agreement with the manual evaluation. Additionally, the ENM showed a broader modulating effect in the myofascial syndrome in some dermatomes (L2-S1), whereas the effects resembled those of a traditional manual approach in dermatomes of the pectoralis, rectus femoris, and gastrocnemius muscles. Further, both treatments reduced the ODI score and enhanced the pressure (strength) threshold for pain induction in an equal manner. The postural examination carried out at study onset and end showed a tendency for a reduction in the frontal plane degree of inclination of shoulders, pelvis, and knees, which speaks for improvement in the general postural structure. This change was somewhat more pronounced in patients treated with ENM than those with MPR, although the differences were not statistically significant. Stimulation of skin receptors by ENM treatment alone suffices to obtain the neurovegetative results like those seen during MPR stimulation. This is attributable to the remodeling of intersegmental circuits at the level of the dorsal horns through a series of impulses that are guided as afferent signals reaching the spinal cord (Barassi et al. 2018). This series of events could lead to fluidization and decongestion of incoming neural information. Congestion of

such information may affect the neuronal motor output, which finds their somatic expression in myofascial dysfunction and nociceptive perturbation in the skin.

The main limitation of this study was a small sample of patients with chronic low back pain. Complex study design duplicate and measurements of indices performed in each session made it difficult to enlarge the population of patients. Another limitation was a single-blinded procedure, but the execution of physiotherapy made it impossible to blind therapists. To counter the possible investigators' bias, the identity of the two rehabilitative treatments was blinded for the statistical elaboration. The disability of chronic low back pain was assessed based on the ODI score alone. This index is subject to concerns related to the cross-cultural validity, the one-dimensional nature of the scale, and a poor ability to distinguish patients with low (floor effect) and high (ceiling effect) levels of disability (Lee et al. 2017). Patients enrolled in this study showed a low degree of disability, in both groups alike. In this context, the possibility of a random error appears small (Brodke et al. 2017; Lu et al. 2013).

In conclusion, the findings of this study demonstrate the effectiveness of both manual pressure release and electrical neuromodulation treatment in the management of chronic nonspecific low back pain. Both rehabilitative techniques reduce patients' disability. The study highlights the electrical neuromodulation, by far little recognized, as a reliable alternative for the evaluation of myofascial trigger points, given a high agreement with the results of manual evaluation. Notably, in accord with other research (Tozzi 2015a; Tozzi 2015b), it appears that treating just the two most dysfunctional sites in the main muscles, identified as the "key trigger points" by either electrical neuromodulation or manual pressure release technique, leads to functional neuromuscular improvement. The influence on the neuromuscular condition of treating the "key trigger points" brought to light in this study creates new physiotherapeutic schemes that advance medical rehabilitation and warrant further research using alternative study designs.

Acknowledgments This study was designed and conducted at the Center for Physiotherapy, Rehabilitation and Reeducation (Ce.Fi.R.R.), a branch of the Center for Sports Medicine of the "G. d'Annnunzio" University of Chieti-Pescara in Italy. This work received no extramural grants or funding.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were under the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Informed Consent Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

References

- Barassi G, Bellomo RG, Carmignano S, Di Felice PA, Giannuzzo G, Leggieri M, D'Ettole S, Saggini R (2016) Flexible software for the elimination of the markers used in the analysis of human posture through kinect sensor. Arch Physiother Glob Res 20(1):43–52
- Barassi G, Bellomo RG, Di Giulio C, Giannuzzo G, Irace G, Barbato C, Saggini R (2018) Effects of manual somatic stimulation on the autonomic nervous system and posture. Adv Exp Med Biol 1070:97–109
- Barassi G, Bellomo RG, Porreca A, Giannuzzo G, Giannandrea N, Pezzi L, Crudeli M, Visciano C, Saggini R (2019) The use of adaptive neurostimulation for rebalancing posture and muscular tone in a soccer team. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 59 (10):1676–1683
- Bardin LD, King P, Maher CG (2017) Diagnostic triage for low back pain: a practical approach for primary care. Med J Aust 206(6):268–273

- Bassani T, Casaroli G, Galbusera F (2019) Dependence of lumbar loads on spinopelvic sagittal alignment: an evaluation based on musculoskeletal modeling. PLoS One 14(3):e0207997
- Bellomo RG, Barassi G, Di Felice PA, Giannuzzo G, Pecoraro I, Saggini R (2016) Evaluative and therapeutic applications of electroneurofeedback: pilot study. Arch Physiother Glob Res 20(1):29–34
- Brodke DS, Goz V, Lawrence BD, Spiker WR, Neese A, Hung M (2017) Oswestry disability index: a psychometric analysis with 1,610 patients. Spine J 17 (3):321–327
- Cecchi F, Debolini P, Lova RM, Macchi C, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, Lauretani F, Benvenuti E, Hicks G, Ferrucci L (2006) Epidemiology of back pain in a representative cohort of italian persons 65 years of age and older: the InCHIANTI study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 31 (10):1149–1155
- Cedraschi C, Robert J, Goerg D, Perrin E, Fischer W, Vischer TL (1999) Is chronic non-specific low back pain chronic? Definitions of a problem and problems of a definition. Br J Gen Pract 49(442):358–362
- Di Iorio A, Abate M, Guralnik JM, Bandinelli S, Cecchi F, Cherubini A, Corsonello A, Foschini N, Guglielmi M, Lauretani F, Volpato S, Abate G, Ferrucci L (2007) From chronic low back pain to disability, a multifactorial mediated pathway: the InCHIANTI study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 32(26):E809–E815
- Iglesias-González JJ, Muñoz-García MT, Rodrigues-de-Sousa DP, Alburquerque-Sendín F, Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C (2013) Myofascial trigger points, pain, disability, and sleep quality in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain. Pain Med 14 (12):1964–1970
- Jayanthi AN, Nivedha R, Vani C (2015) Galvanic skin response measurement and analysis. Int J Appl Eng Res 10(16):12447–12452
- Lee CP, Fu TS, Liu CY, Hung CI (2017) Psychometric evaluation of the Oswestry disability index in patients with chronic low back pain: factor and Mokken analyses. Health Qual Life Outcomes 15(1):1–7
- Lu YM, Wu YY, Hsieh CL, Lin CL, Hwang SL, Cheng KI, Lue YJ (2013) Measurement precision of the disability for back pain scale-by applying Rasch analysis. Health Qual Life Outcomes 11(1):119
- McDowell C, Smyk M, Sung PS (2018) Compensatory strategy between trunk-hip kinematics and reaction time following slip perturbation between subjects with and without chronic low back pain. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 43:68–74
- Pokorski M, Barassi G, Bellomo RG, Prosperi L, Crudeli M, Saggini R (2018) Bioprogressive paradigm in physiotherapeutic and antiaging strategies: a review. Adv Exp Med Biol 1116:1–9
- Schäfer A, Hall T, Briffa K (2009) Classification of low back-related leg pain – a proposed patho-mechanismbased approach. Man Ther 14(2):222–230
- Shah JP, Thaker N, Heimur J, Aredo JV, Sikdar S, Gerber L (2015) Myofascial trigger points then and now: a

historical and scientific perspective. PM R 7 (7):746–761

- Singer JD (1998) Using SAS PROC MIXED to fit multilevel models, hierarchical models, and individual growth models. J Educ Behav Stat 23(4):323–355
- Sung PS, Schalk BM, Latuszek N, Hosmer E (2020) Compensatory spinopelvic motions with and without a handheld task following a perturbation in standing between subjects with and without chronic low back pain. Gait Posture 76:7–13
- Tatsumi M, Mkoba EM, Suzuki Y, Kajiwara Y, Zeidan H, Harada K, Harada K, Bitoh T, Nishida Y, Nakai K, Shimoura K, Aoyama T (2019) Risk factors of low

back pain and the relationship with sagittal vertebral alignment in Tanzania. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 20 (1):1–5

- Tozzi P (2015a) A unifying neuro-fasciagenic model of somatic dysfunction – underlying mechanisms and treatment–part I. J Bodyw Mov Ther 19(2):310–326
- Tozzi P (2015b) A unifying neuro-fasciagenic model of somatic dysfunction – underlying mechanisms and treatment-part II. J Bodyw Mov Ther 19 (3):526–543
- Travell JG, Simons DG (1983) Myofascial pain and dysfunction: the trigger point manual, vol 2. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2021) 12: 83–90 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_572 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 30 August 2020



Human Inhalation Study with Zinc Oxide: Analysis of Zinc Levels and Biomarkers in Exhaled Breath Condensate

Ch. Monsé, O. Hagemeyer, V. van Kampen, M. Raulf, T. Weiss, E. Menne, B. Jettkant, B. Kendzia, R. Merget, T. Brüning, and J. Bünger

Abstract

Workers in the zinc processing, for example, welding or hot-dip galvanizing, are exposed to aerosols consisting of particles and gases, including zinc oxide (ZnO), which can affect human health. In this study, we addressed the effects of short-term controlled exposure to nano-sized ZnO on the airway inflammatory markers in healthy volunteers. To this end, we determined the influence of ZnO inhalation on the content of zinc and biomarkers (leukotriene B_4 (LTB₄), peptide leukotrienes (LTC₄/ D_4/E_4), 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}, pH, and prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂)) in exhaled breath condensate (EBC). Sixteen non-smoking subjects (8 females, 8 men) were exposed to filtered air (sham) or ZnO nanoparticles (0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 mg/m³) for 4 h. EBC samples were collected according to specific study design. We found that the peptide leukotrienes were below the limit of quantification (LOQ) in all the EBC samples. ZnO exposure showed no detectable effect on any other parameters investigated when comparing the two groups. The content of Zn in EBC was unaffected by ZnO inhalation at any concentration used. Therefore, we conclude that the evaluation of Zn and biomarker content in EBC would not be a suitable way to assess the exposure to inhaled ZnO.

Keywords

Biomarkers · Exhaled breath condensate · Inhalation study · Nanoparticles · Zinc oxide

1 Introduction

Zinc and zinc compounds, like ZnO, occur in many industrial processes. Especially, galvanizing and welding workers are exposed to nano-sized ZnO particles. Inhalation of ZnO particles is known to cause systemic inflammatory responses named "metal fume fever" or "zinc fever" (Nemery 1990). Generally, there is a latency of a few hours until the onset of symptoms that resolve spontaneously in 48 h. The experimental inhalation studies investigating zinc-containing welding fumes have shown that inflammatory effects occur at ZnO the

Ch. Monsé (🖂), O. Hagemeyer, V. van Kampen,

M. Raulf, T. Weiss, E. Menne, B. Jettkant, B. Kendzia, R. Merget, T. Brüning, and J. Bünger

Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine of the German Social Accident Insurance, Institute of the Ruhr University Bochum (IPA), Bochum, Germany e-mail: monse@ipa-dguv.de

concentrations below 2.0 mg/m³ (Brand et al. 2014; Hartmann et al. 2014). However, exposure to inhaled ZnO at 0.5 mg/m³ for 2 h at rest results in no apparent effects (Beckett et al. 2005). Recently, we have reported flu-like symptoms, fever, and a concentration-dependent increase of inflammatory markers in blood after exposure to inhaled ZnO nanoparticles at or above 1 mg/m³ (Monsé et al. 2018). In a further study in the same subjects, using the induced sputum, we detected reversible airway inflammation at a concentration of 0.5 mg/m³ and higher, with no Zn concentration dependency (Monsé et al. 2019).

Exhaled breath condensate (EBC) offers a non-invasive matrix for assessing airway biomarkers and oxidative stress (Riddervold et al. 2012; Zanconato et al. 2004; Vaughan et al. 2003; Formanek et al. 2002; Shahid et al. 2002; Hunt et al. 2000; Jobsis et al. 1998). EBC, a fluid formed by cooling exhaled air, contains no cellular components. Thus, the evaluation is based on the metabolic products released by cells from the lungs or substances originating from the biochemical processes in the airway mucosa (Hoffmeyer et al. 2009). As EBC reflects the epithelial lining fluid, inhaled particles can also be analyzed. There is evidence that EBC sampling is suitable to assess pneumotoxic substances, like metals, providing a measure of exposure assessment (Hoffmeyer et al. 2011; Mutti and Corradi 2006). However, there is a paucity of human studies on the usefulness of EBC in the assessment of neutrophilic inflammation caused by acute inhalation of toxic substances. Hussain et al. (2012) have found an increase of nitrite in EBC in a diesel engine emission study. An increase in 8-isoprostane in the EBC has been found during exposure to ambient fine and ultrafine particles (Mills et al. 2008). Barregard et al. (2006) have found an increase in malondialdehyde, and Riddervold et al. (2012) have found a decrease in pH in the wood smoke studies. In contrast, Stockfelt et al. (2013) have failed to detect any changes in the EBC indices in another wood smoke study. Likewise, Hartmann et al. 2014 and Brand et al. 2013a, b have failed to detect any changes in the soluble EBC biomarkers in a study with welding fumes. The

measurement of Zn in EBC after inhalation of Zn particle containing atmosphere has not yet been performed. Therefore, this study aimed to define the effects on the content of EBC inflammatory markers of short-term exposure to nano-sized ZnO. The overriding goal was to settle the issue of whether the EBC could be suitable for the estimation of the level of exposure to inhaled ZnO and its plausibly proinflammatory airway effects in humans.

2 Methods

2.1 Study Design and Participants

The detailed methods and experimental set-up including a graphical timeline have been recently described (Monsé et al. 2018). Briefly, potential volunteers were tested for their suitability to participate in the study during a baseline examination that included a questionnaire, medical examination, EBC, lung function test, exercise testing, and a collection of blood and induced sputum samples. To classify the volunteers as atopic or non-atopic, the serum was tested for specific IgE antibodies (sIgE) to ubiquitous allergens (sx1) using the ImmunoCAP 250 system (Phadiatop, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Uppsala, Sweden). A specific IgE concentration against sx1 of \geq 0.35 kU/L was considered positive for atopy.

Participants had to be able to produce sputum according to the preset criteria (eosinophils <1%), epithelial cells <95%, and neutrophils being not dominant) to assess airway inflammation, to exclude asthmatics, and to ensure that the material originated from the lower airways. They should be not sensitized to ubiquitous allergens (sx1 negative). However, because healthy and non-smoking subjects can produce relatively poor amounts of induced sputum, we had to examine more than 60 subjects to single out 16 suitable ones. Out of these 16, 7 were sx1 positive (median 3.64 kU/L (range: 0.96-16.2 kU/L)) and were sensitized to seasonal (pollen) but not to perennial allergens. Thus, the study was performed out of the pollen season.

Table 1 Characteristics ofthe study population

Characteristics	All (n = 16)	Male $(n = 8)$	Female $(n = 8)$
Age (years)	26 (19-42)	28 (19-42)	24 (23–32)
Height (cm)	178 (155–191)	182 (176–191)	164 (155–182)
Weight (kg)	72 (51–104)	83 (61–104)	59 (51–91)
BMI (kg/m ²)	24 (19–29)	25 (20-29)	23 (19–27)
Total IgE (kU/L)	31 (2-329)	79 (2–208)	28 (20-329)
sIgE to sx1 (kU/L)	0.2 (0.1–16.2)	0.6 (0.1-4.1)	0.2 (0.1–16.2)
sIgE to sx1 \geq 0.35 kU/L (n)	7	4	3

Data are medians (min-max). BMI body mass index, sx1 an indicator of sensitization to environmental allergens

The recruitment of these volunteers was realized by advertising at universities and student residences. The subjects had no previous exposure to airborne zinc compounds. Standard baseline laboratory parameters were within normal ranges. Table 1 shows the subjects' characteristics. All the subjects were exposed for 4 h to ZnO particles with different concentrations $(\text{sham}, 0.5, 1.0, \text{ and } 2.0 \text{ mg/m}^3 \text{ ZnO})$ in the exposure unit at the IPA Institute in Bochum, Germany (Monsé et al. 2012). They were examined during the 4-h exposure time at rest and periods of moderate physical exercise on a cycle ergometer set to 15 L/(min x m^2) corresponding to an individual workload of 30-96 W. Each 30-min rest was followed by a 30-min exercise, four times. Exposures were randomized and double-blinded, except for the exposure to $2.0 \text{ mg/m}^3 \text{ZnO}$, which was not blinded according to Institute Ethics Committee's requirement. Between each exposure with a different ZnO concentration, at least 2 weeks elapsed to minimize the carry-over effects. Examinations, including a sampling of EBC, were performed before, directly after, and approximately 24 h after each exposure. A final examination of each subject was performed about 2 weeks after the last exposure.

2.2 ZnO Particles

The synthesis of ZnO particles was based on the pyrolysis of atomized aqueous zinc formate solutions with a hydrogen-oxygen flame (Monsé

et al. 2014). The investigation of homogeneity of the ZnO atmosphere was performed according to Pillar et al. (2016). Sham exposure (0 mg/m³ ZnO) was performed using a flame generator operating with purified water without zinc salt (Monsé et al. 2014). This procedure ensured that the same concentration range of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) was present at all exposure levels which were generated as trace gases by the pyrolysis process (160–180 ppb each). Other measured trace gases are not expected to confound medical parameters in human exposure studies. The air exchange rate was set at 12 *per* hour (360 m³/h) at a room temperature of 23.5 °C \pm 0.3 °C and relative humidity of 47.0% \pm 1.7%.

The size of primary particles was 10 nm as determined under a scanning electron microscope (JSM-7500F, JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Depending on the ZnO concentration, particles formed aggregates and agglomerates ranging from 48 nm (0.5 mg/m³ ZnO) to 86 nm (2.0 mg/ m^3 ZnO) as determined using a scanning mobility particle sizer (SMPS 3080, TSI Inc., Shoreview MN, equipped with a long differential mobility analyzer and a butanol condensation particle counter - model 3776, TSI Inc.). The particle size was comparable to that used in an emission study of galvanized materials with different welding techniques (Reisgen et al. 2012). An elementary analysis of the ZnO particles yielded a purity of 99.7% (Mikroanalytisches Labor Pascher, Remagen, Germany). The specific surface area was 20.2 m²/g as determined using a BET device (Gemini VII 2390a, Micromeritics GmbH, Aachen, Germany).

2.3 Exhaled Breath Condensate (EBC)

Samples were collected at the baseline examination, then before exposure, directly after exposure, 24 h post-exposure, and at the final examination. The EBC was obtained using a Turbo DECCS device (Medivac, Parma, Italy) under standardized conditions (Hoffmeyer et al. 2015). By cooling the exhaled air for 15 min, a liquid phase was obtained. The non-volatile components of the exhaled air were collected by cooling at -5 °C. EBC pH was determined before and after argon fumigation with a glass electrode (Mettler Toledo, Giessen, Germany). For the detection of 8-iso-PGF_{2α}, leukotriene B_4 (LTB₄), peptide leukotriene (LTC₄/D₄/E₄), and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in the supernatant specific sandwich aliquots, enzyme immunoassays kits were used (Assay Designs, Ann Arbor, CA). Details of the method and respective cross-reactivities have been previously reported (Hoffmeyer et al. 2009). The lower quantification limits were 6.1 pg/mL for 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}, 11.7 pg/mL for LTB₄, 78.1 pg/mL for LTC₄/D₄/E₄, and 7.8 pg/mL for PGE₂.

2.4 Analysis of Zinc in EBC

Biomonitoring was performed by determination of the Zn level in EBC. The EBC was collected in polyethylene vials. Before using the vials were intensively rinsed with 1 M nitric acid to avoid exogenous contamination. The aliquots were stored at 6 °C, provided that the analysis was carried out on the day of sampling. Otherwise, the sample was stored at -19 °C. Before analysis, the test material was homogenized and acidified with 20 µl of 65% nitric acid per 1 mL sample volume. The quantitative analysis was carried out using graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry (GF-AAS, ZEEnit 700, Analytik Jena, Germany) at 1800 °C with a wavelength of 213.9 nm. The injection volume was 20 μ L. The calibration was carried out with a 0.3% nitric acid standard (aqueous) containing Zn in a range of 5.0 and 40.0 μ g/L. Interfering influences of the biological matrix were largely eliminated using Zeeman background compensation. For each sample series, 0.3% nitric acid was used as a reagent blank instead of EBC. The limit of quantification (LOQ) was 1.0 μ g/L Zn. Recovery rates were between 90% and 110% at a Zn concentration of 20 μ g/L.

2.5 Data Analysis

Descriptive analysis was performed for each variable stratified by exposure (sham, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 mg/m³ ZnO) and time of measurement (before, directly after, and 24 h after exposure). Characteristics of subjects were expressed as medians, 25–75% quantiles, and min-max values. Graphical representations were illustrated with boxplots using GraphPad Prism v5.04 software (San Diego, CA). The effects were compared between the data sampled before, directly after, and 24 h after exposure. Additionally, the effects after sham exposure were compared to those after ZnO exposures. Group comparisons were done using a paired *t*-test for normal or log-normal distributed variables.

3 Results

In all the EBC samples, the concentrations of the peptide leukotrienes (LTC₄/D₄/E₄) were below the LOQ. The content of Zn in EBC was unaffected by ZnO inhalation at any concentration as it remained within the fluctuation range of measurements. ZnO exposures showed no detectable effect on the EBC indices LTB₄ (7% < LOQ), 8-iso-PGF_{2α} (15% < LOQ), pH, and PGE₂ (63% < LOQ) in the inter-group comparisons (Fig. 1; Table 2).

4 Discussion

Experimental inhalation studies in humans with nanoparticles which use multiple concentration



Fig. 1 Total levels of Zn, LTB_4 , 8-iso-PGF_{2 α}, and pH according to ZnO concentration and time points. Outliers are defined as values above the median + 1.5 x interquartile range or values below the median - 1.5 x interquartile range

	ZnO (mg/m ³)	Before exposure	Directly after exposure	24 h after exposure
Zn (µg/L)	0	16.9 (11.1–39.9)	14.2 (7.9–42.3)	12.7 (8.2–39.1)
	0.5	20.9 (12.1-44.7)	21.0 (9.8–48.9)	15.4 (8.7–24.1)
	1	13.1 (4.1–27.2)	19.6 (5.3–36.7)	18.9 (10.5–26.7)
	2	17.9 (5.0–39.9)	25.5 (17.4–43.7)	13.4 (7.7–67.9)
LTB ₄ (pg/mL)	0	1325 (930–1700)	1400 (780–1800)	1300 (500–1600)
	0.5	1300 (550–1600)	1400 (900–1800)	1400 (980–1900)
	1	1275 (750–1800)	1350 (1100–1750)	1300 (700-2000)
	2	1375 (800–1800)	1300 (800–1500)	1275 (700–1750)
8-iso PGF _{2α} (pg/mL)	0	14.8 (<6.1–55.6)	17.1 (<6.1–116.6)	15.4 (<6.1–91.8)
	0.5	40.1 (<6.1-73.3)	27.2 (<6.1-60.0)	25.0 (7.1-63.2)
	1	45.7 (<6.1-68.6)	35.1 (<6.1-138.6)	24.7 (<6.1-74.9)
	2	32.8 (<6.1-54.8)	32.92 (<6.1-83.6)	47.12 (9.1–69.8)
pH	0	6.5 (5.9–6.9)	6.1 (4.5–7.0)	6.4 (5.4–7.0)
	0.5	6.2 (4.9–6.7)	6.5 (4.6–7.3)	6.2 (4.6–6.9)
	1	6.4 (5.8–7.0)	6.2 (4.5–6.6)	6.2 (5.2–6.6)
	2	6.3 (5.5–7.1)	6.2 (4.7–6.7)	6.2 (4.8–7.0)
PGE ₂ (pg/mL)	0	<7.8 (<7.8–13.4)	<7.8 (<7.8–13.2)	<7.8 (<7.8–12.4)
	0.5	8.2 (<7.8-24.8)	8.0 (<7.8–13.1)	8.3 (<7.8-20.8)
	1	<7.8 (<7.8–15.1)	<7.8 (<7.8–21.9)	<7.8 (<7.8–9.2)
	2	<7.8 (<7.8–24.1)	<7.8 (<7.8–26.0)	<7.8 (<7.8–19.8)

Table 2 Effects of zinc oxide (ZnO) exposure assessed in the exhaled breath condensate (EBC) (n = 16)

Data are medians (min-max)

steps to describe a concentration-response relationship are sparse. The present study is, to our knowledge, the first inhalation study that examined, with a high degree of methodological quality, several indices in induced sputum and EBC in a multi-concentration design of 0, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 mg/m³ ZnO. However, we could not detect significant concentration-dependent effects on the EBC indices of exposure to ZnO inhalation up to 2.0 mg/m³.

There are no comparable studies on the effects of ZnO particles on EBC parameters. However, previous studies demonstrate a concentration-dependent response in systemic ZnO effects. A key result of a study by Monsé et al. (2018) has been an increase in acute phase proteins (C-reactive protein (CRP) and serum amyloid A (SAA)) and neutrophil count in the blood, followed by an increase in body temperature and the occurrence of flu-like symptoms at and above 1 mg/m³ ZnO. A further result is a demonstration of an inflammatory airway response in induced sputum, although not concentration-dependent at 0.5 mg/m³ ZnO and higher. That study also demonstrates that FeNO and lung function

parameters are not affected by ZnO exposures. In another study, some effects of exposure to nano-sized ZnO particles have been noticed in induced sputum concerning the levels of neutrophils, interleukin-8, interleukin-6, matrix metalloproteinase-9, and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase-1 (Monsé et al. 2019). All systemic and local effects were reversible about 2 weeks after the last ZnO exposure.

Experimental inhalation studies are complex, cumbersome, and cost-intensive. Therefore, such studies usually include 10-20 participants (Miller et al. 2017; Mills et al. 2006; Kuschner et al. 1997). The small number of participants is a problem if no effects are observed, because according to the power analysis, much higher numbers of test persons are required for indices with a high variance to avoid significant errors, particularly concerning local endpoints. Discouragingly high variances of the indices investigated in the present study made it irrational to employ the multivariate models for the statistical elaboration as such models might be unreliable due to a small number of participants. Therefore, we consider the number of 16 subjects in this study a limitation, but studies with a much higher number of subjects cannot be conducted with reasonable effort. The fact that no dose-dependent effects were observed reinforces the interpretation that this part of the study is indeed a negative outcome. Another limitation of EBC analysis for airway inflammation markers is a large dilution of a sample, resulting in low concentrations of constituents (Dodig and Čepelak 2013). The LTC₄/D₄/E₄ and PGE₂ biomarkers were below the LOQ, a clear limitation of EBC analysis in this study. A few effects that could be measured were unaffected by ZnO exposures. While some other studies have shown alterations in EBC indices after inhalation exposure to hazardous substances other than zinc, the studies by Brand et al. (2013a, b) and Hartmann et al. (2014), akin to the present study, have shown the results remaining below the EBC-relevant effect values.

In summary, no significant changes in soluble inflammatory markers were detected in EBC in response to inhalation exposure to successive concentrations of 0, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 mg/m³ ZnO. The total level of Zn in EBC remained unaffected either. Thus, we may reasonably conclude that the determination of the EBC indices investigated in this study offers no advantage for assessing the effect of zinc exposure up to 2.0 mg/m³.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to our volunteers for their participation. Our thanks go to Gerda Borowitzki, Anja Deckert, Maria Düser, Susanne Freundt, Jennifer Gili, Evelyn Heinze, Ursula Meurer, Melanie Ulbrich, and Susann Widmer of IPA for their excellent technical assistance.

Conflicts of Interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were following the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Ruhr University Bochum in Germany.

Informed Consent Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

References

- Barregard L, Sällsten G, Gustafson P, Andersson L, Johansson L, Basu S, Stigendal L (2006) Experimental exposure to wood-smoke particles in healthy humans: effects on markers of inflammation, coagulation, and lipid peroxidation. Inhal Toxicol 18:845–853
- Beckett WS, Chalupa DF, Puly-Brown A, Speers DM, Stewart JC, Frampton MW, Utell MJ, Huang LS, Cox C, Zareba W, Oberdörster G (2005) Comparing inhaled ultrafine versus fine zinc oxide particles in healthy humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:1129–1135
- Brand P, Bischof K, Siry L, Bertram J, Schettgen T, Reisgen U, Kraus T, Gube M (2013a) Exposure of healthy subjects with emissions from a gas metal arc welding process: part 3 – biological effect markers and lung function. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 86:39–45
- Brand P, Havlicek P, Steiners M, Holzinger K, Reisgen U, Kraus T, Gube M (2013b) Exposure of healthy subjects with emissions from a gas metal arc welding process: part 1 – exposure technique and external exposure. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 86:25–30
- Brand P, Bauer M, Gube M, Lenz K, Reisgen U, Spiegel-Ciobanu V E, Kraus T (2014) Relationship between welding fume concentration and systemic inflammation after controlled exposure of human subjects with welding fumes from metal inert gas brazing of zinccoated materials. J Occup Environ Med 56:1–5
- Dodig S, Čepelak I (2013) Exhaled breath condensate from an analytical point of view. Biochem Med 23:281–295
- Formanek W, Inci D, Lauener RP, Wildhaber JH, Frey U, Hall GL (2002) Elevated nitrite in breath condensates of children with respiratory disease. Eur Respir J 19:487–491
- Hartmann L, Bauer M, Bertram J, Gube M, Lenz K, Reisgen U, Schettgen T, Kraus T, Brand P (2014) Assessment of the biological effects of welding fumes emitted from metal inert gas welding processes of aluminium and zinc-plated materials in humans. Int J Hyg Environ Health 217:160–168
- Hoffmeyer F, Raulf-Heimsoth M, Brüning T (2009) Exhaled breath condensate and airway inflammation. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 9:16–22
- Hoffmeyer F, Weiß T, Lehnert M, Beate B, Berresheim H, Henry J, Raulf-Heimsoth M, Broding HC, Bünger J, Harth V, Brüning T (2011) Increased metal concentrations in exhaled breath condensate of industrial welders. J Environ Monit 13:212–218
- Hoffmeyer F, van Kampen V, Deckert A, Neumann HD, Buxtrup M, Willer E, Felten C, Brüning T, Raulf M, Bünger J (2015) Evaluation of airway inflammation in compost workers exposed to bioaerosols using exhaled breath condensate and fractional exhaled nitric oxide. Adv Exp Med Biol 858:57–67

- Hunt JF, Fang K, Malik R, Snyder A, Malhotra N, Platts-Mills TA, Gaston B (2000) Endogenous airway acidification. Implications for asthma pathophysiology. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:694–699
- Hussain S, Laumbach R, Coleman J, Youssef H, Kelly-McNeil K, Ohman-Strickland P, Zhang J, Kipen H (2012) Controlled exposure to diesel exhaust causes increased nitrite in exhaled breath condensate among subjects with asthma. J Occup Environ Med 54:1186–1191
- Jobsis Q, Raatgeep HC, Schellekens SL, Hop WC, Hermans PW, de Jongste JC (1998) Hydrogen peroxide in exhaled air of healthy children: reference values. Eur Respir J 12:483–485
- Kuschner WG, Wong H, D'Alessandro A, Quinlan P, Blanc PD (1997) Human pulmonary responses to experimental inhalation of high concentration fine and ultrafine magnesium oxide particles. Environ Health Perspect 105:1234–1237
- Miller MR, Raftis JB, Langrish JP, McLean SG, Samutrtai P, Connell SP, Wilson S, Vesey AT, Fokkens PHB, Boere AJF, Krystek P, Campbell CJ, Hadoke PWF, Donaldson K, Cassee FR, Newby DE, Duffin R, Mills NK (2017) Inhaled nanoparticles accumulate at sites of vascular disease. ACS Nano 11:4542–4552
- Mills NL, Amin N, Robinson SD, Anand A, Davies J, Patel D, de la Fuente JM, Cassee FR, Boon NA, Macnee W, Millar AM, Donaldson K, Newby DE (2006) Do inhaled carbon nanoparticles translocate directly into the circulation in humans? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173:426–431
- Mills NL, Robinson SD, Fokkens PHB, Leseman DLAC, Miller MR, Anderson D, Freney EJ, Heal MR, Donovan RJ, Blomberg A, Sandström T, MacNee W, Boon NA, Donaldson K, Newby DE, Cassee FR (2008) Exposure to concentrated ambient particles does not affect vascular function in patients with coronary heart disease. Environ Health Perspect 116:709–715
- Monsé C, Sucker K, van Thriel C, Broding HC, Jettkant B, Berresheim H, Wiethege T, Käfferlein H, Merget R, Bünger J, Brüning T (2012) Considerations for the design and technical setup of a human whole-body exposure chamber. Inhal Toxicol 24:99–108
- Monsé C, Monz C, Dahmann D, Asbach C, Stahlmecke B, Lichtenstein N, Buchwald K-E, Merget R, Bünger J, Brüning T (2014) Development and evaluate on of a nanoparticle generator for human inhalation studies with airborne zinc oxide. Aerosol Sci Technol 48:418–426

- Monsé C, Hagemeyer O, Raulf M, Jettkant B, van Kampen V, Kendzia B, Gering V, Kappert G, Weiss T, Ulrich N, Marek E-M, Bünger J, Brüning T, Merget R (2018) Concentration-dependent systemic response after inhalation of nano-sized zinc oxide particles in human volunteers. Part Fibre Toxicol 15:8
- Monsé C, Raulf M, Hagemeyer O, van Kampen V, Kendzia B, Gering V, Marek E-M, Jettkant B, Bünger J, Merget R, Brüning T (2019) Airway inflammation after inhalation of nano-sized zinc oxide particles in human volunteers. BMC Pulm Med 19:266
- Mutti A, Corradi M (2006) Recent developments in human biomonitoring: non-invasive assessment of target tissue dose and effects of pneumotoxic metals. Med Lav 97:199–206
- Nemery B (1990) Metal toxicity and the respiratory tract. Eur Respir J 3:202–219
- Pillar F, Kahl A, Brüning T, Monsé C (2016) Validierungsuntersuchungen eines Berechnungsmodells zur Ausbreitung von Gefahrstoffen. Gefahrst Reinhalt L 76:19–25
- Reisgen U, Olschok S, Lenz K, Spiegel-Ciobanu VE (2012) Ermittlung von Schweißrauchdaten und Partikelkenngrößen bei verzinkten Werkstoffen. Schweissen und Schneiden 64:788–796
- Riddervold IS, Bønløkke JH, Olin AC, Grønborg TK, Schlünssen V, Skogstrand K, Hougaard D, Massling A, Sigsgaard T (2012) Effects of wood smoke particles from wood-burning stoves on the respiratory health of atopic humans. Part Fibre Toxicol 9:12
- Shahid SK, Kharitonov SA, Wilson NM, Bush A, Barnes PJ (2002) Increased interleukin-4 and decreased interferon-gamma in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:1290–1293
- Stockfelt L, Sällsten G, Almerud P, Basu S, Barregard L (2013) Short-term chamber exposure to low doses of two kinds of wood smoke does not induce systemic inflammation, coagulation or oxidative stress in healthy humans. Inhal Toxicol 25:417–425
- Vaughan J, Ngamtrakulpanit L, Pajewski TN, Turner R, Nguyen TA, Smith A, Urban P, Hom S, Gaston B, Hunt J (2003) Exhaled breath condensate pH is a robust and reproducible assay of airway acidity. Eur Respir J 22:889–894
- Zanconato S, Carraro S, Corradi M, Alinovi R, Pasquale MF, Piacentini G, Zacchello F, Baraldi E (2004) Leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of children with stable and unstable asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113:257–263

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2021) 12: 91–101 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_590 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 10 October 2020



Cognitive Function After Lung Transplantation

Urte Sommerwerck, Daniel Jokisch, Gerhard Weinreich, Michael Neurath, Celina Heinze, Vasiliki Bessa, Clemens Aigner, Markus Kamler, Christian Taube, Kurt Rasche, Wolfram Windisch, and Martha Jokisch

Abstract

Cognitive functioning after transplantation, which could influence medication compliance and independence, has not been well studied. This study investigated cognitive impairment after lung transplantation. Patients undergoing bilateral transplant between March 2013 and October 2015 underwent comprehensive neuropsychological assessment at 60.1 ± 44.1 months post-transplantation: verbal memory (Auditory-Verbal Learning Test, digit span forward), visual memory (Corsi Block-Tapping Test forward, Benton Visual Retention Test), concentration/

Department of Pneumology, Bergisches Lungenzentrum Wuppertal, Helios University Hospital of Wuppertal, University of Witten-Herdecke, Wuppertal, Germany e-mail: usommerwerck@severinskloesterchen.de

D. Jokisch (2) and M. Jokisch

speed of processing/attention (D2 Test of Attention, Trail Making Test (TMT) A, Grooved Pegboard), and executive functioning (TMT B, Stroop Color-Word Test, semantic and phonematic verbal fluency, digit span backward, Corsi Block-Tapping Test backward). Mean scores were compared with a normative dataset using a one-sample *t*-test. A cognitive domain was judged impaired if the score on two or more domain-specific tests was greater than one standard deviation below the normative dataset age range mean. Of 124 lung transplant recipients $(51\% \text{ male}, 54.3 \pm 9.0 \text{ years}), 70\% \text{ showed}$ cognitive impairment in one or more domains. Executive function was most often impaired (78% of recipients not within the age range)

K. Rasche

Urte Sommerwerck and Daniel Jokisch contributed equally to this work.

U. Sommerwerck (🖂)

Department of Pneumology, Krankenhaus der Augustinerinnen Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Department of Neurology, University Hospital of Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany e-mail: daniel.jokisch@uk-essen.de

G. Weinreich, M. Neurath, C. Heinze, V. Bessa, and C. Taube

Ruhrlandklinik, West German Lung Transplantation Centre, University Hospital of Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

C. Aigner

Department of Thoracic Surgery, West German Lung Transplantation Center, University Hospital Essen, University Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

M. Kamler

Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, West German Heart Center, University Hospital Essen, University Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

Department of Pneumology, Bergisches Lungenzentrum Wuppertal, Helios University Hospital of Wuppertal, University of Witten-Herdecke, Wuppertal, Germany

W. Windisch

Department of Pneumology, Cologne Merheim Hospital, Kliniken der Stadt Köln g GmbH, University of Witten-Herdecke, Witten, Germany

followed by verbal memory impairment (72% not within the age range). Cognitive function reductions were largely independent of age, gender, education, immunosuppressive medications, and time since transplantation. The findings show that cognitive impairment is common after lung transplantation and should be subject to rehabilitation and psychological resilience strategies.

Keywords

Cognition · Executive functions · Lung transplantation · Cognitive impairment · Memory · Neuropsychological assessment

1 Introduction

For patients with end-stage lung disease, lung transplantation is an established intervention that improves the quality of life and mortality (Orens and Garrity Jr 2009; Arcasoy and Kotloff 1999). The International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation registered 60,107 adult lung transplantations from January 1995 to June 2016, representing 75% of the worldwide thoracic transplant activity (Chambers et al. 2017). Not surprisingly, advanced lung disease is associated with diminished resilience and reduced quality of life in patients awaiting lung transplantation. These patients often show cognitive impairment (Yohannes et al. 2017), possibly due to hypoxia and hypercapnia associated with advanced lung disease (Parekh et al. 2005). There is evidence of a further decline in cognitive functioning after lung transplantation in some recipients (Smith et al. 2014), while other studies do not show striking differences in cognitive impairment before and after transplantation or show a slight improvement in some recipients (Cohen et al. 2014; Hoffman et al. 2012).

Studies examining cognitive functioning after lung transplantation are scarce and often do not differentiate between cognitive domains. Most studies examine neuropsychological deficits in end-stage lung disease patients before transplantation (Yohannes et al. 2017). It seems important to precisely quantify posttransplantation cognitive impairment because it has implications regarding medication compliance and overall independence. Furthermore, it is important to know what to expect posttransplant and to implement strategies to compensate and rehabilitate cognitive deficits, but strategies may differ depending on the affected cognitive domain(s).

This study used a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment to assess cognitive functioning in four domains (verbal memory, visual memory, concentration/speed of processing/ attention, and executive functioning) in lung transplant recipients compared with a normative dataset and examined the distribution of impaired domains.

2 Methods

2.1 Study Design and Patients

total of 124 patients А (mean age 54.3 \pm 9.1 years; 51% men), who underwent bilateral lung transplantation between March 2013 and October 2015, were included in the study. The most common indication for transplantation was the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, more than one-third of patients had chronic kidney disease, and a minority had anxiety or depression (Table 1). The interval between lung transplantation and neuropsychological assessment ranged in individual patients from 1 to 264 months (mean 60.1 \pm 44.1 months).

2.2 Neuropsychological Assessments

Verbal memory was tested using a German version of the Auditory-Verbal Learning Test (Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest) consisting of the immediate word span, total acquisition, immediate retroactive interference, delayed recall, and recognition (Helmstaedter et al. 2001) and the digit span forward of the

54.3 ± 9.1
63 (51)
12.4 ± 2.3
48 (39)
29 (23)
13 (10)
13 (10)
3 (3)
1 (1)
17 (14)
64 (51)
36 (29)
21 (17)
2 (2)
1 (1)
20 (16)
48 (39)
77 (62)
60.1 ± 44.1
58 (21-90)
17 (14)
5.0 ± 3.5
9 (7)
3.0 ± 3.0
4 (3)

Table 1 Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the study patients (n = 124)

Data are expressed as means \pm SD unless otherwise specified; *BMI* body mass index, *COPD* chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ^aothers include hypersensitivity pneumonitis (n = 5), bronchiectasis (n = 3), Langerhans histiocytosis (n = 3), lymphangioleiomyomatosis (n = 2), progressive systemic scleroderma (n = 1), lupus erythematosus (n = 1), sarcoidosis (n = 1), toxic bronchiolitis (n = 1); ^bHospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (range: 0–21 points, normal range: 0–7 points, 11 points or higher indicates a likely mood disorder)

Wechsler Memory Scale to assess verbal shortterm memory (Härting et al. 2000). Short-term visual memory was tested using the Corsi Block-Tapping Test of the Wechsler Memory Scale (Härting et al. 2000), and visual learning was assessed using the Benton Visual Retention Test (Benton Sivan and Spreed 2009).

The neuropsychological attention and concentration ability were assessed from the processing speed and accuracy measured with the D2 Test of Attention (Brickenkamp 2002). The Grooved Pegboard Test was used to measure psychometric speed and coordination (Klove 1963). The Trail Making Test (TMT) A (Reitan 1955) was used to assess the speed of processing. TMT B was used to assess cognitive flexibility and attention. The scores of TMT tests were referenced to the normative data reported by Tombaugh (2004). The executive functions of mental control and inhibition were assessed using the Stroop Color-Word Test (Bäumler 1985). The manual for this test does not provide the median values for the normative dataset, providing T-values of performance instead. Thus, we transformed the median values into T-values and compared these with the corresponding normative T-values. To assess executive divergent thinking, we used two verbal fluency tests. First, participants were asked to come up with as many words as possible starting with the letter "S" and then to name as many first names as possible, both with a 2-min time limit. The digit span backward and the Corsi Block-Tapping Test of the Wechsler Memory Scale were used to assess verbal and visual working memory, respectively (Härting et al. 2000).

2.3 Assessment of Covariates

Education was classified by the International Standard Classification of Education as total years of formal education, combining school and vocational training (UNESCO 1997). Immunosuppressive medication concerned agents that may have differential impacts on cognitive function. Some existing data suggest that intake of calcineurin inhibitors (e.g., cyclosporine or tacrolimus) is associated with reduced cognitive function, although results are not consistent (Kahl et al. 2017; Scherwath et al. 2013; Martínez-Sanchis et al. 2011; Griva et al. 2004; Padovan et al. 1998). Conversely, sirolimus is reported to have protective effects on cognition and synaptic plasticity in rodents (Fu et al. 2017; Lin et al. 2017). Thus, sirolimus was the reference agent in our analyses. Coexisting conditions were determined from medical records. Obesity was defined as a body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m². The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale was used to assess anxiety and depression symptoms. The participant answers seven items of either type of symptoms, where a score of 8-10 out of the possible 21 is indicative of a disorder (Snaith and Zigmond 1986).

A cognitive test was rated as impaired performance if the score was >1SD below the age norm of the normative dataset. A cognitive domain was rated as impaired when two or more domains scored >1SD below the mean of the age-group.

2.4 Statistical Analysis

Age groups for the comparison of neuropsychological tests were based on the age range in the normative datasets for the corresponding test. The mean scores of tests for lung transplant recipients were compared with the normative dataset using a one-sample *t*-test with the mean of the normative dataset as the critical value. After Bonferroni correction, a p-value ≤ 0.0011 was considered statistically significant. The mean between-group differences with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were reported. Lung transplant recipients who performed 1SD below the age norm of the normative dataset for each neuropsychological test and in two or more tests for each cognitive domain were identified and the number and pattern of impaired domains determined. Binary logistic regression models (impaired vs. non-impaired) were constructed for each cognitive domain to examine the association of age (linear, per year), sex (male as reference), education (linear, per year), immunosuppressive medication (intake of cyclosporine/tacrolimus vs. sirolimus as reference), and time after transplantation (linear, per year) with cognitive performance, reported as odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI. Both unadjusted and adjusted models for statistically significant unadjusted results were presented. Covariates for the adjustment were age, sex, education, immunosuppressive medication, and/or time after lung transplantation depending on the model. All analyses were conducted using PASW Statistics v24 (SPSS Inc.; Chicago, 2016).

3 Results

3.1 Verbal Memory

Significant differences between lung transplant recipients aged \geq 55 years and the normative dataset were only seen for immediate retroactive interference, delayed recall, and recognition minus false-positive answers (all p < 0.001) (Table 2). Overall, 35 (28%) recipients showed verbal memory performance within the normal age range; 89 (72%) performed >1SD below the age norm in at least 1 verbal memory test, and 52 (42%) showed impaired performance in 2 or more verbal memory tests. The probability of having verbal memory impairment was independent of age (OR 1.02 (95% CI 0.98–1.06) *per*

		Lung transplant patients $(n = 124)$		Comparison with normative dataset ^b				
	Age ^a	n	Mean ± SD	Mean difference ^c	95% CI	p-value	Performance > 1SD below age norm, n (%)	
Verbal memory				1		-		
Immediate word	≤49	36	6.53 ± 1.98	-0.22	-0.89, 0.45	0.510	16 (13)	
span ^d	≥50	88	5.80 ± 1.67	0.21	-0.15, 0.56	0.250		
Total acquisition ^e	≤49	36	50.81 ± 8.86	-1.58	-4.58, 1.41	0.290	21 (17)	
	\geq 50	88	46.17 ± 9.26	-1.52	-3.48, 0.44	0.130		
Immediate	≤49	36	2.00 ± 1.99	0.56	-0.11, 1.23	0.100	37 (30)	
retroactive interference ^f	≥50	87	2.66 ± 1.92	0.94	0.53, 1.34	<0.001		
Delayed recall ^g	≤ 49	35	10.74 ± 2.80	0.47	-0.16, 1.10	0.160	30 (24)	
	\geq 50	88	9.92 ± 3.10	-1.47	-2.13, -0.82	<0.001		
Recognition ^h	≤ 49	35	11.09 ± 6.19	-2.71	-4.84, -0.59	0.014	21 (17)	
	\geq 50	87	12.44 ± 4.40	-0.83	-1.77, 0.10	0.080		
Recognition minus	≤49	35	10.11 ± 5.98	-2.65	-4.70, -0.59	0.013	39 (31)	
false-positive answers ⁱ	≥50	87	10.26 ± 4.90	-2.06	-3.10, -1.01	<0.001		
Verbal short-term	\leq 54	57	7.44 ± 2.08	-0.49	-1.04, 0.06	0.080	27 (22)	
memory ^J	≥55	67	7.00 ± 2.22	-0.19	-0.73, 0.36	0.500		
Visual memory	-							
Visual short-term	≤54	57	8.18 ± 1.30	0.25	-0.10, 0.59	0.080	35 (28)	
memory ^k	≥55	67	7.22 ± 1.52	-0.68	-1.05, -0.31	0.001		
Visual learning ¹	≤39	7	7.86 ± 1.57	-0.11	-1.57, 1.34	0.860	24 (19)	
	40–49	27	5.96 ± 1.85	-0.31	-1.04, 0.42	0.400		
	50–59	39	6.18 ± 2.10	-0.34	-1.02, 0.34	0.320		
	≥ 60	47	6.28 ± 1.74	0.52	0.01, 1.03	0.048		

Table 2 Verbal and visual memories in lung transplant patients compared with the normative dataset

CI, confidence interval; SD, standard deviation

^aAge (years) group was selected based on the age range in the normative dataset

^bNormative data were derived from the manual of the corresponding test (for references see methods section)

^cComparisons were performed with a one-sample *t*-test, with the mean of the normative dataset as a critical value (after Bonferonni correction the p-values must be ≤ 0.0011 to define statistical significance)

^dAuditory-Verbal Learning Test, recall of words in the trail I of list A (range: 2–10, higher scores indicate better performance)

^eAuditory-Verbal Learning Test, the total number of recalled words in the five-trial presentation (range: 10–68, higher scores indicate better performance)

^fAuditory-Verbal Learning Test, words recalled in trial V minus words recalled after the interference of list B (range: minus 2-10, higher scores indicate lower performance); data unavailable for one participant

^gAuditory-Verbal Learning Test, delayed recall of list A (range: 2–15, higher scores indicate better performance); data unavailable for one participant

^hAuditory-Verbal Learning Test, recognition of list A (range: 0–15, higher scores indicate better performance); data unavailable for two participants

¹Auditory-Verbal Learning Test, recognition of list A minus false-positive recognition of words that were not the words in list A (range: minus 1-15, higher scores indicate better performance), data unavailable for two participants

^jWechsler Memory Scale, digit span forward (range: 2–12, higher scores indicate better performance)

^kCorsi Block-Tapping Test of the Wechsler Memory Scale, forward span (range: 4–13, higher scores indicate better performance)

¹Benton Visual Retention Test, number of correct drawings (range: 0–9, higher scores indicate better performance), data not available for four participants

1-year increase), sex (OR 1.23 (0.60–2.52) for females vs. males), time after lung transplantation (OR 0.89 (0.80–1.00) *per* 1-year increase), and immunosuppressive medication (OR 1.18 (0.45–3.09) for cyclosporine/tacrolimus vs. sirolimus). The risk of verbal memory impairment was significantly increased in patients with higher education levels (adjusted OR 1.24 (1.01–1.53)) per 1-year increase.

3.2 Visual Memory

The only significant difference between lung transplant recipients and the normative dataset was for visual short-term memory in patients aged \geq 55 years (p < 0.001) (Table 2). Fifty-one transplant recipients (41%) performed >1SD below the age norm in at least one visual memory test, while eight showed impaired performance in two or more visual memory tests. The probability of having visual memory impairment was independent of age (OR 0.99 (0.96-1.03) per 1-year increase), sex (OR 0.68 (0.33-1.39) for females vs. males), and education (OR 0.99 (0.83-1.19) per 1-year increase). The intake of cyclosporine/tacrolimus was less likely to be associated with visual memory impairment (OR 0.32 (0.06-1.62) vs. sirolimus)). The adjusted OR for impairment in the visual memory domain was significantly associated with time since transplantation (OR 1.31 (1.07-1.60) per 1-year increase).

3.3 Concentration, Speed of Processing, and Attention

Lung transplant recipients performed significantly worse than the normative dataset only in the concentration task (Table 3). Seventy-four recipients (60%) performed >1SD below the age norm in at least one concentration, speed of processing, and attention test, and 35 (28%) showed impaired performance in two or more of these tests. The probability of having impaired concentration, speed of processing, and attention was independent of age (OR 1.04 (0.99–1.09), *per* 1-year increase), sex (OR 0.64 (0.29–1.41) for females vs. males), education (OR 1.07 (0.88–1.30) *per* 1-year increase), and immunosuppressive medication (OR 0.57 (0.21–1.53) for cyclosporine/tacrolimus vs. sirolimus). The risk of impairment in this domain increased significantly as the duration after lung transplantation increased in the unadjusted analysis (OR 1.12 (1.00–1.24) *per* 1-year increase), but not after adjustment for age, sex, education, and duration after lung transplantation (OR 1.08 (0.96–1.21)).

3.4 Executive Functioning

Older lung transplantation recipients showed significantly worse performances in cognitive flexibility, verbal fluency, and visual working memory (Table 4). Only did 27 (22%) recipients show executive functioning within the normal age range; 97 (78%) performed >1SD below the age norm in at least 1 test, and 61 (49%) showed impaired performance in two or more executive functioning tests. The likelihood of having impaired executive functioning was higher in older recipients in both the unadjusted (OR 1.05 (1.01-1.10) per 1-year increase) and adjusted (OR 1.05 (1.01-1.10) per 1-year increase) analysis and with a longer duration after lung transplantation in the unadjusted (OR 1.12 (1.01-1.24) per 1-year increase) but not the adjusted analysis (OR 1.10 (0.99-1.23) per 1-year increase). Education (OR 0.97 (0.81-1.16) per 1-year increase), sex (OR 1.29 (0.64-2.63) for females vs. males), and immunosuppressive medication (OR 1.02 (0.40-2.60) for cyclosporine/ tacrolimus vs. sirolimus) had no significant influence on the likelihood of having impaired executive function.

3.5 Overall Cognitive Impairment

No impairment in any domain was seen in almost one-third of patients (Table 5). Just over one-third showed impairment in one domain, with verbal memory and executive functioning most often

		Lung transplant							
		patier	nts (n = 124)	Comparison	with normative	dataset ^b			
							Performance > 1 SD		
				Mean			below age norm, n		
	Age ^a	n	Mean \pm SD	difference ^c	95% CI	p-value	(%)		
Concentration ^d	≤39	8	155.75 ± 15.30	-27.05	-39.84,	0.002	55 (44)		
					-14.26				
	≥40	111	117.75 ± 37.52	-39.75	-46.81,	<0.001			
					-32.70				
Speed of	≤44	22	25.59 ± 8.02	-0.88	-4.43, 2.67	0.61	22 (18)		
processing/	45–59	54	32.94 ± 10.87	0.34	-2.62, 3.31	0.82			
attention ^e	≥60	48	37.04 ± 10.39	1.45	-1.57, 4.47	0.34			
General slowing ^f	\leq 39	8	62.88 ± 10.11	-0.31	-8.75, 8.14	0.93	20 (16)		
(dominant hand)	40–49	27	66.48 ± 12.83	2.98	-2.09, 8.06	0.24			
	50-59	40	71.83 ± 15.04	3.75	-1.09, 8.54	0.13			
	≥ 60	48	81.40 ± 21.39	-1.30	-7.52, 4.91	0.68			
General slowing ^g	\leq 39	8	64.38 ± 5.90	-3.86	-8.76, 1.08	0.11	27 (22)		
(non-dominant	40–49	26	73.23 ± 13.03	4.18	-1.10, 9.46	0.12			
hand)	50–59	40	81.38 ± 23.62	6.68	-0.88, 14.23	0.08			
	≥ 60	48	88.75 ± 21.47	0.80	-5.43, 7.03	0.80			

Table 3 Concentration, speed of processing, and attention in lung transplant patients compared with the normative dataset

CI confidence interval, SD standard deviation

^aAge (years) group was selected based on the age range in the normative dataset

^bNormative data derived from the manual of the corresponding test (for references see methods section)

^cComparisons calculated using a one-sample *t*-test with the mean of the normative dataset as a critical value (after Bonferonni correction the p-values must be ≤ 0.0011 to define statistical significance)

^dD2 Test of Attention, number of correct detected "ds" with two marks minus the number of false-positive detections (range: 9–212, higher scores indicate better performance), data unavailable for five participants

^eTrail Making Test A, time in seconds (range: 14–64, higher scores indicate lower performance)

^fGrooved Pegboard, time in seconds needed to complete the task with the dominant hand (range: 47–146, higher scores indicate lower performance), data unavailable for one participant

^gGrooved Pegboard, time in seconds needed to complete the task with the non-dominant hand (range: 56–200, higher scores indicate lower performance), data unavailable for two participants

affected. When two domains were impaired, all recipients had impairment in executive functioning. With impairment of three domains, lung transplant recipients most often showed impairment in concentration/speed of processing/attention, followed by verbal memory and executive functioning.

4 Discussion

This observational cohort study found that most lung transplant recipients have cognitive impairment in at least one domain. The domain most likely to be affected was executive functioning, with less than one-quarter of recipients performing within their age range on these tests. Verbal memory was the next affected domain and was age-appropriate in only 28% of lung transplant recipients. These findings are consistent with some of the scarce studies showing cognitive impairment after lung transplantation. However, there are only two studies that have examined performance in different cognitive domains after lung transplantation. Hoffman et al. (2012) have used verbal memory and executive functioning tests akin to those used in the present study. Of the 49 patients who completed assessments, the proportion of patients who scored >1SD below normative data was 35% in the digit span (vs. 22% in our cohort), 20% in the TMT A (vs. 18%), 12% in TMT B (vs. 47%), 31% in

		Lung transplant						
		patie	ents (n = 124)	Comparison	with normative			
							Performance > 1 SD	
Executive				Mean			below age norm, n	
functioning	Age ^a	n	Mean \pm SD	difference ^c	95% CI	p-value	(%)	
Cognitive	≤44	22	67.82 ± 35.78	13.25	-2.61, 29.11	0.100	58 (47)	
flexibility ^d	45–59	54	97.85 ± 46.56	29.07	16.36, 41.78	<0.001		
	≥ 60	48	121.60 ± 62.93	42.48	24.21, 60.76	<0.001		
Inhibition ^e	\leq 39	8	56.13 ± 5.36	-0.58	-5.05, 3.90	0.770	23 (19)	
	40–59	65	51.22 ± 7.93	-1.38	-3.35, 0.58	0.160		
	≥ 60	46	49.48 ± 6.94	-3.32	-5.38, -1.26	0.002		
Verbal fluency	≤ 50	38	18.76 ± 5.26	-2.12	-3.85, -0.39	0.018	34 (27)	
(phonematic category) ^f	≥51	80	18.69 ± 7.0	-1.26	-2.82, 0.30	0.110		
Verbal fluency	≤ 50	39	34.41 ± 12.8	-1.05	-5.20, 3.10	0.270	39 (31)	
(semantic category) ^g	≥51	80	32.29 ± 8.55	-4.40	-6.31, -2.50	0.001		
Verbal working	\leq 54	57	6.40 ± 1.82	-0.50	-0.98, -0.01	0.044	34 (27)	
memory ^h	≥55	67	5.72 ± 2.22	-0.55	-1.10, -0.01	0.045		
Visual working	≤54	57	7.56 ± 1.70	-0.67	-1.12, -0.22	0.004	34 (27)	
memory ¹	≥55	67	6.46 ± 1.71	-0.74	-1.15, -0.32	0.001		

 Table 4
 Executive functioning in lung transplant patients compared with the normative dataset

CI, confidence interval; SD, standard deviation

^aAge (years) group was selected based on the age range in the normative dataset

^bNormative data derived from the manual of the corresponding test (for references, see methods section)

^cComparisons calculated using a one-sample t-test with the mean of the normative dataset as a critical value (after Bonferonni correction the p-values must be ≤ 0.0011 to define statistical significance)

^dTrail Making Test B, time in seconds, (range: 35–300, higher scores indicate lower performance)

^eStroop Color Word Test, the median time needed to complete the three interference sheets was transformed into T-values and compared with the T-values of the normative dataset (range of T values: 30–69, higher scores indicate better performance), data unavailable for five participants

⁷Verbal fluency: phonematic category "S" (range: 0–39, higher scores indicate better performance), data unavailable for five participants

^gVerbal fluency: semantic category "first names" (range: 0–71, higher scores indicate better performance), data unavailable for five participants

^hWechsler Memory Scale, digit span backward (range: 2–11, higher scores indicate better performance)

ⁱCorsi Block-Tapping Test of the Wechsler Memory Scale, backward span (range: 3–11, higher scores indicate better performance)

verbal fluency (vs. 32%), and 22% in the Stroop Test (vs. 19%). Smith et al. (2014) have used a composite measure including the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status, the Montreal Cognitive Assessment Battery, and the TMT A and B. They found neurocognitive performance to initially worsen among non-cystic fibrosis lung transplant recipients and then improve over time, with 57% of recipients showing cognitive impairment 3 months after transplantation. These findings cannot be directly compared with ours because of the different measures used. Akin to the present findings, both previous studies show impairment primarily in executive functioning and verbal memory. However, in contrast to the present study, previous trials did not examine visual memory and included only a few attention tests.

It is possible that executive functioning and verbal memory are the most impaired posttransplant cognitive function domains because all recipients had end-stage lung disease before transplantation. End-stage lung disease decreases blood oxygen levels (hypoxia) and increases blood carbon dioxide levels (hypercapnia) (Parekh et al. 2005; Neubauer 2001; Stuss et al.

Number of impaired domains ^a	n (%)	Affected domain ^b	% Patients
0	37 (30)		
1	42 (34)	Verbal memory	45
		Visual memory	0
		Concentration, speed of processing, attention	14
		Executive functioning	41
2	26 (21)	Verbal memory	58
		Visual memory	4
		Concentration, speed of processing, attention	38
		Executive functioning	100
3	14 (11)	Verbal memory	93
		Visual memory	14
		Concentration, speed of processing, attention	100
		Executive functioning	93
4	5 (4)	Verbal memory	100
		Visual memory	100
		Concentration, speed of processing, attention	100
		Executive functioning	100

 Table 5
 Number of impaired and affected cognitive function domains in lung transplant recipients

Data are presented as number (%) or % patients unless otherwise indicated

^aImpaired domain was defined as cognitive performance in at least two domain-specific neuropsychological tests of >1SD below the age mean

^bAffected domains were those with at least two neuropsychological test results >1SD below the age mean

1997). Executive functions and verbal memory are associated with distinct neural correlates located in the prefrontal cortices and the left hippocampus, respectively (Henke 2010), the areas particularly vulnerable to hypoxia (Gale and Hopkins 2004). The present findings also are consistent with studies in patients with obstructive sleep apnea, which is characterized by repetitive episodes of partial or complete upper airway obstruction associated with various degrees of hypoxia and hypercapnia and is associated with pronounced impairment in executive functioning and long-term memory (Bucks et al. 2013; Beebe et al. 2003). Neurodegenerative processes caused by hypoxia and hypercapnia might be reversible only to a minimal extent (Zlokovic 2011). Thus, cognitive deficits persist after transplantation and may slightly improve over time, due likely to increased quality of life or reduced depression and anxiety after transplantation (Thabut and Mal 2017).

The present findings have implications for post-transplant management of transplant recipients. Cognitive impairment may compromise the recipient's ability to comply with complex post-transplant medical requirements, particularly concerning the immunosuppressive medications increases, which increases the risk of graft loss and death. It could be helpful to assess recipients before and after transplantation to implement individualized strategies to compensate for and rehabilitate cognitive impairment. The strategies differ depending on the affected cognitive domain, highlighting the importance of a comprehensive cognitive function assessment across a range of domains.

Mechanisms underlying cognitive decline after organ transplantation remain unclear (Cohen et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2014; Diamond and Mikkelsen 2004). They might include perioperative factors (e.g., allograft ischemic time, primary graft dysmechanical ventilation, function, time on intraoperative hypoxia, micro-emboli, length of intensive care unit stay), and postoperative factors (e.g., delirium, physical function after transplantation, acute rejection, and immunosuppressive medication). Due to the cross-sectional design of the present study, we cannot draw firm conclusions about cognitive decline compared with pre-transplant cognitive status.

This study has some limitations. Cognitive function was assessed after lung transplantation only. Therefore, the extent of pre-transplant cognitive impairment, if any, was unclear, making it difficult to elucidate post-transplant changes in cognitive function. Further, the cognitive function of lung transplant recipients was compared with normative data for the neuropsychological tests used. It would have been better to use data from and education-matched non-transplant agecontrols, which might help clarify the degree of cognitive impairment specifically attributable to transplantation, or to compare lung transplant recipients with matched controls who underwent transplantation of a different organ with comparable surgery duration and postoperative hospitalization. That would have also allowed controlling for cardiovascular risk factors. However, the classification of cognitive impairment is usually based on normative data. We were unable to compare cognitive function with information about perioperative or postoperative risk factors and could not determine whether cognitive impairment depended on such factors. However, regression analysis showed no relation of cognitive impairment to the time lapse in most instances. A key advantage of our study was a large cohort of lung transplant recipients that were prospectively evaluated using a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment. The sample will be followed longitudinally to examine further changes in cognition after transplantation.

We conclude that cognitive impairment is common among lung transplant recipients. It is suggested that cognitive function should be assessed across a range of domains to help develop personalized rehabilitation and psychological resilience strategies after lung transplantation.

Acknowledgments Urte Sommerwerck and Daniel Jokisch contributed equally to this work. English language editing assistance was kindly provided by Nicola Ryan, an independent medical writer. This study did not receive any funding from external sources.

Conflicts of Interest The authors of this manuscript have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants complied with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the institutional review board of the University Duisburg-Essen in Germany.

Informed Consent All patients gave written informed consent to participate in the study.

References

- Arcasoy SM, Kotloff RM (1999) Lung transplantation. N Engl J Med 340(14):1081–1091
- Bäumler G (1985) Farb-Wort-Interferenztest nach J.R. Stroop. Hogrefe, Göttingen
- Beebe DW, Groesz L, Wells C, Nichols A, McGee K (2003) The neuropsychological effects of obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis of norm-referenced and case-controlled data. Sleep 26(3):298–307
- Benton Sivan A, Spreed O (2009) Der Benton-Test. Huber, Göttingen
- Brickenkamp R (2002) Test D2 Aufmerksamkeits-Belastungs-Test. Hogrefe Verlag, Göttingen
- Bucks RS, Olaithe M, Eastwood P (2013) Neurocognitive function in obstructive sleep apnoea: a meta-review. Respirology 18(1):61–70
- Chambers DC, Yusen RD, Cherikh WS, Goldfarb SB, Kucheryavaya AY, Khusch K, Levvey BJ, Lund LH, Meiser B, Rossano JW, Stehlik J, International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (2017) The registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-fourth adult lung and heart-lung transplantation Report-2017; focus theme: allograft ischemic time. J Heart Lung Transplant 36 (10):1047–1059
- Cohen DG, Christie JD, Anderson BJ, Diamond JM, Judy RP, Shah RJ, Cantu E, Bellamy SL, Blumenthal NP, Demissie E, Hopkins RO, Mikkelsen ME (2014) Cognitive function, mental health, and health-related quality of life after lung transplantation. Ann Am Thorac Soc 11(4):522–530
- Diamond JM, Mikkelsen ME (2004) From research to clinical practice. Cognitive trajectory after lung transplantation. Ann Am Thorac Soc 11(10):1604–1605
- Fu J, Wang H, Gao J, Yu M, Wang R, Yang Z, Zhang T (2017) Rapamycin effectively impedes melamineinduced impairments of cognition and synaptic plasticity in Wistar rats. Mol Neurobiol 54(2):819–832
- Gale SD, Hopkins RO (2004) Effects of hypoxia on the brain: neuroimaging and neuropsychological findings following carbon monoxide poisoning and obstructive sleep apnea. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 10(1):60–71
- Griva K, Hansraj S, Thompson D, Jayasena D, Davenport A, Harrison M, Newman SP (2004) Neuropsychological performance after kidney

transplantation: a comparison between transplant types and in relation to dialysis and normative data. Nephrol Dial Transplant 19(7):1866–1874

- Härting C, Markowitsch HJ, Neufeld H, Calabrese P, Deisinger K, Kelller J (2000) WMS-R Wechsler Gedächtnistest – Revidierte Fassung. Hans Huber, Bern
- Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S (2001) Verbaler Lernund Merkfähigkeitstest. Beltz Test GmbH, Göttingen
- Henke K (2010) A model for memory systems based on processing modes rather than consciousness. Nat Rev Neurosci 11(7):523–532
- Hoffman BM, Blumenthal JA, Carney RC, O'Hayer CVF, Freedland K, Smith PJ, Babyak MA, Davis RD, Mathew JP, Martinu T, Palmer S (2012) Changes in neurocognitive functioning following lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 12(9):2519–2525
- Kahl AL, Kirchhof J, Füting A, Hütter BO, Wilde B, Witzke O, Benson S, Hadamitzky M, Schedlowski M (2017) Acute administration of cyclosporine A does not impair attention or memory performance in healthy men. Behav Pharmacol 28(4):255–261
- Klove H (1963) Clinical neuropsychology. Med Clin North Am 47:1647–1658
- Lin AL, Jahrling JB, Zhang W, DeRosa N, Bakshi V, Romero P, Galvan V, Richardson A (2017) Rapamycin rescues vascular, metabolic and learning deficits in apolipoprotein E4 transgenic mice with pre-symptomatic Alzheimer's disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 37(1):217–226
- Martínez-Sanchis S, Bernal MC, Montagud JV, Candela G, Crespo J, Sancho A, Pallardó LM (2011) Effects of immunosuppressive drugs on the cognitive functioning of renal transplant recipients: a pilot study. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 33(9):1016–1024
- Neubauer JA (2001) Invited review: physiological and pathophysiological responses to intermittent hypoxia. J Appl Physiol (1985) 90(4):1593–1599
- Orens JB, Garrity ER Jr (2009) General overview of lung transplantation and review of organ allocation. Proc Am Thorac Soc 6(1):13–19
- Padovan CS, Yousry TA, Schleuning M, Holler E, Kolb HJ, Straube A (1998) Neurological and neuroradiological findings in long-term survivors of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Ann Neurol 43(5):627–633

- Parekh PI, Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, LaCaille R, Rowe S, Dancel L, Carney RM, Davis RD, Palmer S, INSPIRE Investigators (2005) Gas exchange and exercise capacity affect neurocognitive performance in patients with lung disease. Psychosom Med 67 (3):425–432
- Reitan RM (1955) The relation of the trail making test to organic brain damage. J Consult Psychol 19 (5):393–394
- Scherwath A, Schirmer L, Kruse M, Ernst G, Eder M, Dinkel A, Kunze S, Balck F, Bornhäuser M, Ehninger G, Dolan K, Gramatzki M, Kolb HJ, Heußner P, Wilhelm H, Beelen DW, Schulz-Kindermann F, Zander AR, Koch U, Mehnert A (2013) Cognitive functioning in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients and its medical correlates: a prospective multicenter study. Psychooncology 22 (7):1509–1516
- Smith PJ, Rivelli S, Waters A, Reynolds J, Hoyle A, Flowers M, Davis RD, Palmer SM, Mathew J, Durheim M, Blumenthal JA (2014) Neurocognitive changes after lung transplantation. Ann Am Thorac Soc 11(10):1520–1527
- Snaith RP, Zigmond AS (1986) The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 292(6516):344
- Stuss DT, Peterkin I, Guzman DA, Guzman C, Troyer AK (1997) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: effects of hypoxia on neurological and neuropsychological measures. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 19(4):515–524
- Thabut G, Mal H (2017) Outcomes after lung transplantation. J Thorac Dis 9(8):2684–2691
- Tombaugh TN (2004) Trail making test a and B: normative data stratified by age and education. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 19(2):203–214
- UNESCO (1997) International standard classification of education (ISCED)
- Yohannes AM, Chen W, Moga AM, Leroi I, Connolly MJ (2017) Cognitive impairment in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. J Am Med Dir Assoc 18(5):451 e1–e11
- Zlokovic BV (2011) Neurovascular pathways to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 12(12):723–738